

University of Dundee

DOCTOR OF MEDICINE

The roles of genetics and glycaemic control in the development of LVH and Heart Failure in Type 2 Diabetes

Parry, Helen

Award date: 2015

Awarding institution: University of Dundee

Link to publication

General rights Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

MD title

The roles of genetics and

glycaemic control in the

development of LVH and Heart

Failure in Type 2 Diabetes

February 2015

Helen Parry

For the degree of MD

University of Dundee

Table of Contents

List of	Tables	8
List of	Figures	10
List of	Abbreviations	12
Acknow	wledgments	16
Declar	ation of the Candidate	17
Declar	ation of the Supervisors	17
Work	contributed by the candidate	18
Summa	ary	20
Chapte	er 1: Introduction	22
1.1 Cu	rrent trends in T2DM	22
1.2 Ca	rdiovascular Disease in T2DM	22
1.2.1	Coronary artery disease (CAD) in T2DM	23
1.2.2	Heart Failure (HF) in T2DM	24
1.3	Diabetes and HF and "Diabetic Cardiomyopathy"	24
1.3.1	Epidemiology	24
1.3.2	Types of HF in DM: systolic HF versus Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction (H	FPEF)
		25
1.3.3	Aetiology of HF and LVH in T2DM	26
1.3.4	Glycaemic control and the development of LVH and HF	29
1.4	Is there a genetic component to LVH, HF and diabetic cardiomyopathy?	36

1.4.1	Genetic basis of LVH	37
1.4.2	Genetic basis of HF	39
1.5	Genetic basis of glycaemic control	41
Chapte	er 2: Research questions, Hypothesis and Objectives	43
2.1	Research Questions	43
2.2	Hypotheses	43
2.3	Objectives	44
Chapte	er 3: Methods	45
3.1 Data collection: DARTS and Go-DARTS		45
3.2 The Tayside Echocardiography Database 49		
3.3 Re	cord Linkage	50
3.4 Heart failure phenotype		50
3.4.1 Identification of individuals with HF using echocardiographic data		51
3.4.2 Identification of HF cases through SMR01 data		52
3.4.3 10	3.4.3 Identification of incident HF cases	
3.4.4 10	3.4.4 Identification of non-HF control subjects 5	
3.5 Ph	3.5 Phenotype definition LVH and case-control identification 5-	
3.5.1 L	3.5.1 LVH case definition	
3.5.2 lo	3.5.2 Identification of control subjects	

3.6 Calculation of weighted mean HbA1C	55
3.7 Analysis of the relevance of anti-hyperglycaemic medications	56
3.7.1 Analysis of anti-hyperglycaemic medications: nested case-control studies	57
3.7.2 Analysis of anti-hyperglycaemic medications: HF longitudinal cohort study	57
3.8 Analysis of the role of CAD in the development of HF and LVH	58
3.9 Identification of covariates through Students' t test and Chi-squared test of association	58
3.10 Identification of independent covariates through logistic regression analysis	59
3.10.1 Conditional logistic regression analysis: glycaemic control and HF	59
3.10.2 Conditional logistic regression analysis: glycaemic control and LVH	60
3.11 Longitudinal cohort study	60
3.11.1 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with res	pect to
HF	60
3.11.2 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with res	pect to
LVH	62
3.12 Genotyping procedures for HF and LVH studies	63
3.12.1 High Density Array Genotyping Data	64
3.12.2 DNA preparation and genotyping	64
3.12.3 Sample Quality Control	64
3.12.4 Affymetrix 6.0 SNP genotyping array	64
3.13 Manipulation of the genetic data including imputation	65
3.13.1 Imputation	65

3.13.2 Genetic associations and outcome: LVH	65
3.13.3 Meta-analysis	66
3.13.4 Calculation genotypic scores	67
3.13.5 Replicated SNPs associated with LVH: effect on outcome	67
3.13.6 Glycaemic control SNPs: Genetic associations and outcome	68
Chapter 4: Results	69
4.1: LVH in T2DM	69
4.1.1 Frequencies of LVH cases and non-LVH controls	69
4.1.2 Clinical characteristics: LVH cases and non-LVH cases	70
4.1.3 Independent risk factors for LVH development in T2DM: nested case-control study	72
4.1.4 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with respect	t to
LVH	73
4.1.5 Role of CAD in the relationship between glycaemic control and incident LVH	
76	
4.1.6 Role of anti-hyperglycaemic agents in the relationship between glycaemic control and LVH	ł
development	78
4.1.7 Genotypic association: previously characterised SNPs associated with LVH in our cohort	80
4.1.7.1 LVH-cases and non-LVH controls with available genotypic data	80
4.1.7.2 Previously characterised SNPs associated with LVH	85
4.1.7.3 Genotypic score calculation and association with LVH	86

4.2: HF in T2DM	89
4.2.1 Frequencies of HF-cases and non-HF cases	89
4.2.2 Clinical characteristics: HF cases and non-HF controls nested case-control study	90
4.2.3 Independent risk factors for HF development in T2DM: nested case-control study	92
4.2.4 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with respec	t to
HF	93
4.2.5 Role of CAD in the relationship between glycaemic control and incident HF	95
4.2.6 Role of anti-hyperglycaemic agents in the relationship between glycaemic control and inc	ident
HF	97
4.2.7 HbA1c variability and incident HF	99
4.2.8 HF development and glycaemic control SNPs	99
Chapter 5: Discussion	102
	102
5.1 Rate of HF development in the Go-DARTS cohort	102
5.2 Prevalence of LVH in the Go-DARTS cohort	102
5.3 Glycaemic control and the development of HF and LVH in T2DM	102
5.3.1 Overly strict glycaemic control and the development of both LVH and HF	103
5.3.2 Chronic hyperglycaemia promotes HF and LVH development	108
5.4 Other factors associated with LVH and HF development	109
5.5 Glycaemic control and CAD	111
5.6 LVH and mortality and morbidity	112
5.7 Genetic component to LVH in T2DM	113

5.7.1 Considerations in investigating the genetic aspect of LVH in T2DM	113
5.7.2 The role of GWAS and importance of replication	115
5.7.3 The genetics of HF development and glycaemic control are inter-twined	116
5.7.4 Rs560887	116
5.7.5 Rs10885122	118
5.7.6 Rs7944584	119
5.8 Study limitations	121
Chapter 6: Conclusions	123
Publications	124
References	124

List of Tables

Table 1.1 Cause-specific mortality in the Verona study	23
Table 4.1.1: Clinical characteristics of LVH cases and non-LVH controls, nested case-control stud	ly71
Table 4.1.2: Independent predictors of LVH in T2DM according to logistic regression modelling	73
Table 4.1.3: Risk of LVH development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control	75
Table 4.1.4: Risk of LVH development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, exclud	ding
CAD from the covariates	77
Table 4.1.5: Risk of LVH development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, taking	5
baseline anti-hyperglycaemic medications into account	79
Table 4.1.6: Frequency distribution of prescribed therapy at study enrolment and LVH cases	
according to glycaemic control represented by weighted mean HbA1C range	80
Table 4.1.7: Comparison of baseline characteristics in LVH cases versus non-LVH controls accord	ding
to multiple logistic regression analysis	81
Table 4.1.7: Comparison between previously published SNP results and results obtained in this	study
	87
Table 4.1.8: Association between gene scoring based on previously published SNPs and LVH	89
Table 4.2.1: Clinical characteristics of HF cases and non-HF controls, nested case-control study	91
Table 4.2.2: Independent predictors of HF in T2DM according to logistic regression modelling	93
Table 4.2.3: Risk of heart failure development associated with varying levels of glycaemic contro	ol95
Table 4.2.4: Risk of HF development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, excludi	ng
CAD from the covariates	96

Table 4.2.5: Risk of HF development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, taking	
baseline anti-hyperglycaemic medications into account	98
Table 4.2.6: Frequency distribution of prescribed therapy at study enrolment and HF cases accor	rding
to glycaemic control represented by weighted mean HbA1C range	99
Table 4.2.7 Association between HF development and SNPs linked to glycaemic control by Dupu	is et
al	100
Table 4.2.8 Association between development of HF and SNPs associated with glycaemic control	l by
Soranzo <i>et al</i>	101

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: The interplay of aetiological factors in the development of HF in T2DM	26
Figure 1.2: Pathophysiology of diabetic cardiomyopathy	28
Figure 3.1: Showing data-linkage procedure	50
Figure 4.1.1: Identification of LVH-cases and non-LVH cases for the nested case-control study	70
Figure 4.1.2: Relationship between weighted mean glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1C) and the	
development of LVH in type 2 diabetes, including age, duration of diabetes, gender, history of	
coronary artery disease, body mass index, creatinine, systolic and diastolic blood pressure as	
covariates	74
Figure 4.1.3: Flow chart summarising numbers of LVH cases and non-LVH controls taking into	
account the availability of genotypic data	82
Figure 4.1.4.1 – Kaplan-Meier plot illustrating difference in years to death in LVH cases versus no	on-
LVH controls	84
Figure 4.1.4.2- Kaplan-Meier plot illustrating difference in years to death or hospitalization due t	to
cardiovascular disease in LVH cases versus non-LVH controls	84
Figure 4.1.5.1 – Kaplan-Meier showing difference in years to death or hospitalization due to	
cardiovascular disease in carriers of the 'T' variant of rs17132261 (T_1) versus non-carriers (T_0)) 88
Figure 4.1.5.2– Kaplan – Meier showing how difference in years to death or hospitalization due t	Ö
cardiovascular disease varies between carriers of the 'G' variant of rs2292462 (G_1), homozygot	tes
for the 'G' variant (G_2) and non-carriers (G_0)	88
Figure 4.2.1 shows the identification of HF-cases and non-HF cases for the nested case-control s	tudy
and prospective cohort study	90

Figure 4.2.2: Relationship between weighted mean glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1C) and the development of heart failure in type 2 diabetes, including age, duration of diabetes, gender, history of coronary artery disease, body mass index, creatinine, systolic and diastolic blood pressure as covariates 94

Abbreviations

A	Adenine
ACCORD	Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study Group
ADVANCE	Action in Diabetes and Vascular Disease
AGEs	Advanced Glycation End-products
ARIC	Atherosclerosis Risk In Communities
ASE	American Society of Echocardiography
BMI	Body Mass Index
BNF	British National Formulary
BP	Blood Pressure
BSE	British Society of Echocardiography
С	Cytosine
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
CAN	Cardiac Autonomic Neuropathy
CI	Confidence Interval
CHARGE	Cohorts for Heart and Aging Research in Genome Epidemiology
СНІ	Community Healthy Index
2D	Two-dimensional
DCCT	Diabetes Control and Complications Trial
DARTS	Diabetes Audit and Research in Tayside, Scotland

DCM	Dilated Cardiomyopathy
EA	Effect Allele
EAF	Effect Allele Frequency
ECG	Electrocardiogram
EDIC	Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications
eGFR	estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate
G	Guanine
Go-DARTS	Genetics of Diabetes Audit and Research in Tayside, Scotlanc
GRO	General Registrar's Office
HbA1c	Glycosylated Haemoglobin
HbA1C_MEAN	Intra-individual mean of HbA1c value
HbA1C_SD	Standard Deviation intra-individual HbA1c values
НСМ	Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy
HIC	Health Informatics Centre
HF	Heart Failure
НММ	Hidden Markov Model
IBD	Identical by Descent
ICD	International Classification of Disease
IVS	Interventricular Septum
LV	Left Ventricle

LVH	Left Ventricular Hypertrophy
LVIDD	Left Ventricular Internal Diameter in Diastole
LVPW	Left Ventricular Posterior Wall
MAF	Minor Allele Frequency
MAGIC	Meta-Analyses of Glucose- and Insulin-related traits Consortium
MEMO	Medicine and Medicines Monitoring Unit
M_HbA1C	Weighted Mean HbA1C
NA	Not Applicable
NHS	National Health Service
OR	Odds Ratio
PSD	Practitioner Service Division
P-value	Probability value
PVD	Peripheral Vascular Disease
RCTs	Randomised Controlled Trials
Ref	Reference
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RWT	Relative Wall Thickness
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure
SCI-DC	Scottish Care Information-Diabetes Collaboration
SE	Standard Error

SERCA	Sarcoendoplasmic Reticulum Ca ²⁺ ATPase
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
SMR	Scottish Morbidity Record
SD	Standard Deviation
т	Thymine
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
TZDs	Thiazolidinediones
UK GPRD	United Kingdom General Practice Research Database
UKPDS	UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group
VADT	Veterans Affairs Diabetes Trial
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
WTCCC 2	Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2
WTTCCC	Wellcome Trust Type 2 diabetes Case Control Consortium
Yrs	Years

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank all the patients who participated in the Go-DARTS study, this MD would have been impossible without them. Secondly, I would like to thank my supervisors Prof Chim Lang and Prof Colin Palmer who have given me a clear idea of how I would like to supervise junior colleagues in the future. Thirdly, I would like to thank my colleagues Dr Louise Donnelly, Dr Natalie van Zuydam, Dr Alex Doney, Dr Harshal Deskmuckh, Mr Daniel Levin and Dr Dougie Elder for their invaluable advice on statistical analysis, genetics and data handling, their patience is unsurpassed. I would also like to thank all those working in the Division of Cardiovascular and Diabetes Medicine

who helped and supported me in so many ways during my MD. Special thanks go to Prof Alan Struthers, Prof Andrew Morris, Dr Alan Robertson, Dr Will Anderson, Dr Andrew Goudie, Dr Arvind Manoharan, Dr Fiona Shearer, Tricia Burns, Lynn Rutherford, Caroline Glenn, Kara Robertson and Isobel Ovens.

On a personal note, I would like to thank all of my family and friends who supported me through both the enjoyable and challenging times, you are valued and appreciated more than you know. Lastly, I would like to thank my God for reminding me that 'nothing is impossible for those who believe'.

Declaration by Candidate

I declare that I am the author of this thesis. All references have been consulted. The thesis is my own work and has not been previously submitted for a higher degree.

Helen Parry

Declaration of the Supervisor

I certify that Helen Parry has completed the equivalent of six terms of research and has fulfilled the conditions of the University of Dundee so that she is qualified to submit this theis in application for the degree of MD.

Professor Chim Lang

Professor Colin Palmer

Work contributed by the candidate

All data from the Go-DARTS study and the Tayside echocardiography database were cleaned by the candidate. The Tayside echocardiography database was established and validated by Dr Douglas Elder. Cleaning and imputation of the genetic typing data from Go-DARTS was performed prior to this analysis. Data linkage between all Go-DARTS files and the Tayside echocardiography database was performed by the candidate. Identification and extraction of heart failure cases, non-heart failure controls, left ventricular hypertrophy cases and non-left ventricular hypertrophy controls was performed by the candidate.

The SAS programming for calculation of weighted mean HbA1C was written by Dr Louise Donnelly and the SAS programming for the analysis looking at the importance of intra-individual HbA1C variation was written by Dr Harshal Deskmukth. Analyses using SNPTEST were jointly performed by the candidate and Dr Natalie van Zuydam. All other analyses including extraction of values for covariates, genotypic risk scores and meta-analyses were performed by the candidate.

Summary

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in diabetes. Not everyone with diabetes develops either LVH or HF, proposed factors influencing this include glycaemic control and genetic factors. No studies to date have looked at the genetics of LVH and HF specifically in T2DM.

This thesis investigates the importance of glycaemic control and genetic factors in HF and LVH in T2DM. Data from patients with T2DM in the Go-DARTS study were used to identify individuals with HF, non-HF controls, individuals with LVH and non-LVH controls. Weighted mean HbA1C was calculated for each of them. Logistic regression analysis and proportional hazard regression analysis were performed to investigate whether glycaemic control was independently related to LVH and HF. Genetic typing for published loci associated with glycaemic control was performed and included in the proportional hazard regression analysis. Genotyping for published SNPs associated with LVH was also performed and included survival analysis looking at LVH.

Proportional hazard regression analysis showed weighted mean HbA1C >=8% was associated with LVH (HbA1C >=8 to 9% HR 1.25, Cl 1.04-1.50, HbA1C >=9 to 10% HR 1.64, Cl 1.29-2.09, HbA1C>=10% HR 1.80, Cl 1.32-2.44, all p-values <0.05) and also demonstrated weighted mean HbA1C <6% was associated with LVH in T2DM (HR 1.95, Cl 1.57-2.43, p-value <0.05). Two out of 9 published SNPs were associated with LVH in our cohort with T2DM: rs17132261 and rs2292462 (p-value <0.05). Proportional hazard regression analysis showed HbA1C >=8% was associated with HF development and HbA1C<6% was also associated with HF development in T2DM (HbA1C<6% HR 2.2, Cl 1.7-2.9, >=8 to 9% HR 1.6, Cl 1.2-2.0, >=9 to 10% HR 2.5, Cl 1.8-3.4 and weighted mean HbA1C>=10% HR 4.82, Cl 3.6-7.0, all p-values <0.05). Conditional logistic regression analysis also showed 3 SNPs previously associated with fasting glucose were associated with HF development here (rs560887, rs7944584 and rs10885122).

These results suggest glycaemic variation and genetic factors are important factors in HF and LVH in

T2DM.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Current trends in T2DM

Diabetes is a global concern. It is both common and associated with high levels of morbidity and mortality. Over 300 million people worldwide suffer from diabetes (1). Recent estimates showed the world prevalence of diabetes would increase from 6.4% in 2010 to 7.7% in 2030 among adults 20-79 years of age (2). In the UK, 3 818 545 individuals had diabetes in 2010-2011, of which 3419727 had type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (3). In Scotland alone, prevalence of diabetes has risen from 5.2% in 2003 to 9.4% in 2008 according to the Scottish Diabetes Survey (4).

The high prevalence of diabetes has led to high levels of mortality and morbidity. Estimates for 2010 indicated 6.8% of global mortality was attributable to diabetes. Diabetes accounted for 6% of adult deaths in Africa and 15.7% in North America, illustrating that although diabetes is a global issue, it is currently most prominent in the West (5). However, this may change in the future as developing countries become more westernised.

1.2 Cardiovascular Disease in T2DM

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with diabetes, making T2DM a great public health concern (6)(7)(8). Cardiovascular disease appears on more than two thirds of death certificates for diabetic patients aged 65 years and over (9). This is unsurprising since cardiovascular disease in diabetes promotes morbidity and mortality through heart failure and coronary artery disease.

Many studies have confirmed that cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of death in individuals with diabetes. In the Verona study, records from diabetes clinics, family physicians and prescribing data were used to identify individuals resident in Verona, Italy, who had type 2 diabetes in 1986. Their live status was ascertained 10 years later and cause-specific mortality rates were compared and cardiovascular disease was the leading cause of death as tabulated below (10). Similarly, Roper and colleagues performed a population cohort study, following over four thousand individuals with

diabetes over a five year period in the North East of England. Cardiovascular disease was also the leading cause of death in this population with deaths from ischaemic heart disease exceeding deaths from cerebrovascular disease (11). In the WHO Multinational Study of Vascular Disease in Diabetes (WHO MSVDD), cardiovascular disease accounted for 52% of all deaths in T2DM (12).

Cause of death	N (%)
Cardiovascular	974 (42)
Ischaemic heart disease	343 (15)
Stroke	235 (10)
Other CVD including HF	398 (17)
Neoplasia	517 (22)
Diabetes-related	324 (14)
GI disease	134 (6)
Other natural causes	250 (11)
External causes	48 (2)
Unknown causes	81 (3)
Total	2328

Table 1.1 Cause-specific mortality in the Verona study

Table adapted from Brun et al, 2000 (10)

1.2.1 Coronary artery disease (CAD) in T2DM

Both CAD and HF are common in T2DM; almost 25% of all diabetic individuals older than 35 years have some manifestation of CAD (9) and studies suggest 19-26% of diabetics also suffer from HF (13). Data from the Framingham study highlighted the association between T2DM and CAD many years ago (14,15). T2DM is now regarded as an independent risk factor for the development of CAD and associated with a more aggressive variation of the disease (9,16). One study suggested that diabetic patients without previous myocardial infarction have as high a risk of future myocardial infarction as non-diabetic patients with previous myocardial infarction, bearing testimony to the extent of increased risk of CAD (7).

1.2.2 Heart Failure (HF) in T2DM

HF is also common in T2DM as demonstrated in a retrospective study of around 8231 individuals with T2DM and 8845 individuals without T2DM of similar age and matched for gender. Cox regression analysis showed individuals with T2DM were much more likely to develop HF than the non-diabetic individuals and CAD was an important predictor of HF (17). Taking the data outlined above into account, it seems logical that T2DM increases the risk of HF development by increasing the likelihood of CAD. However, T2DM still increases the risk of HF development even when CAD, hypertension and obesity are accounted for, implying a direct effect on the myocardium (18,19). The term 'diabetic cardiomyopathy' is frequently used to describe myocardial disease in T2DM occurring independently of CAD and the vascular risk factors listed above (20).

1.3 Diabetes and HF and "Diabetic Cardiomyopathy"

1.3.1 Epidemiology

Diabetic cardiomyopathy specifically refers to the development of HF in diabetes in the absence of any other identifiable cause, such as CAD. However, the term "diabetic cardiomyopathy" is also often used in a more general sense to refer to myocardial pathology in diabetes. Myocardial pathology in diabetes may take multiple forms including HF and left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH). HF is common in T2DM; studies suggest 19-26% of patients with diabetes mellitus also suffer from HF (13,21). T2DM is a major risk factor for the development of HF. Some of the earliest evidence for this came from the Framingham study: HF development was 6-fold greater in diabetic males and 8fold greater in diabetic females than in their non-diabetic counterparts (22). NHANES and the Cardiovascular Health Study provided further evidence for T2DM as an independent risk factor for HF development (18,19). Around 0.3-0.5% of the general population have both HF and T2DM (23). Diabetes remains an independent predictor of LVH as well as HF, even when obesity and

hypertension are accounted for (24,25). Although supportive data is less plentiful than for the link between HF and diabetes, there is a general consensus between studies that diabetes is an independent risk factor for the development of LVH. One study quoted 26% of normotensive patients with diabetes have LVH on echocardiography in the context of CKD (26).

1.3.2 Types of HF in DM: systolic HF versus Heart Failure with Preserved Ejection Fraction (HFPEF) Investigation into HF in T2DM and has mostly focused on left ventricular systolic dysfunction (LVSD). However, HFPEF is becoming an increasingly recognised issue. Recent research has shown a significant association between T2DM and HFPEF and studies have shown almost half of patients with T2DM have diastolic dysfunction (27,28).

The association between T2DM and HFPEF appears to hinge on the prevalence of LVH in T2DM. An early study looking at cardiac dimensions and function in hypertensive patients with T2DM found that co-existent T2DM and hypertension were associated with increased LV mass and impaired E/A ratio, indicating diastolic dysfunction. This relationship was enhanced by the co-existence of urinary albumin, another marker of end-organ damage in diabetes (29). Another recent study looked at the impact of T2DM on cardiovascular geometry and diastolic dysfunction in chronic kidney disease. T2DM was associated with both increased wall thickness and increased relative wall thickness. Diastolic dysfunction, identified by lower E prime (30), was also significantly more common in T2DM, but this association lost statistical significance following correction for LV wall thickness (28).

Further work looking at the relationship between LVH in T2DM and diastolic dysfunction involved performing echocardiography in a group of patients with no cardiac symptoms and normal BNP levels. They found 51% of these individuals had LV diastolic dysfunction and LVH was significantly more common in these individuals with diastolic dysfunction (31).

The above evidence strongly suggests the association between T2DM and diastolic dysfunction is at least partly mediated through the increased prevalence of LVH in diabetics.

1.3.3 Aetiology of HF and LVH in T2DM

The aetiology of HF and LVH in T2DM is complex (Figure 1.1). Multiple studies have demonstrated a link between CAD and HF in T2DM (17,32,33) and it has long been recognised that myocardial ischaemia, particularly infarcted myocardium, leads to reduced cardiac pump function and HF development. However, as stated above, there is increased incidence of HF in T2DM even when CAD is taken into account (18,34).

Similarly, hypertension has been associated with the development of HF and LVH. Hypertension and obesity are both common in T2DM and both promote LVH (34–36), so it appears feasible that LVH in T2DM is caused by hypertension and obesity rather than a direct action on the myocardium. However, diabetes remains an independent predictor of LVH even when obesity and hypertension are accounted for (24,25). One study quoted 26% of normotensive patients with diabetes have raised left ventricular mass index on echocardiography (26). This indicates T2DM promotes HF and LVH independently of hypertension, obesity and CAD.



Figure 1.1: The interplay of aetiological factors in the development of HF in T2DM

T2DM appears to have a direct effect on the myocardium. T2DM is likely to act directly on the heart through a variety of mechanisms. Animal models suggest diabetes is associated with increased

production of reactive oxygen species leading to myocardial fibrosis and reduced contractility that can be ameliorated by antioxidants (37,38). Similarly, advanced glycation end products accumulate in the extracellular matrix resulting in myocardial stiffness and altered contractility (39,40). The myocardium additionally suffers from lipotoxicity as a result of fatty acid accumulation and cardiac myocyte degeneration and apoptosis reduce effective contractility (41). These aetiologies may promote the development of both HF and LVH.

Endothelial dysfunction appears to promote reduced coronary flow reserve in LVH as suggested by the reduced coronary artery vasodilator response to dipyridamole in LVH (42). This is supported by the improvement in microvascular dysfunction in patients with T2DM through endothelin A receptor blockade (43). Increased production of endothelial progenitor cells in LVH has been shown in animal models of pressure-overloaded LVH where pressure-overload led to up regulation of circulating progenitor cells, mirrored in the bone marrow and spleen (44). This leads to increased diffusion distance from capillaries to myocytes and contractile reserve is diminished (45), leading to ischaemia and ultimately to HF.

Other pathological processes directly affecting the myocardium relate to ion handling. Animal models have also shown reduced expression of the sarcoenodplastic reticulum Ca²⁺ATPase (SERCA) results in altered sodium and calcium handling, further altering contractility (46). Lastly, cardiac autonomic neuropathy (CAN) may be another contributory factor (47). CAN affects coronary blood flow and alters contractile function of the myocardium. Altered sympathetic tone has been associated with reduced vascular elasticity and increased peripheral resistance as described by Pappachan *et al* (48).

Indirect mechanisms also promote cardiac pathology in diabetes. Vascular pathology be important even in the absence of CAD on angiography. Reduced vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels reduce myocardial angiogenesis in T2DM as shown in the rat model of diabetes (49). Human studies looking at coronary flow reserve have also shown increased prevalence of microangiopathy

in T2DM (50). Microangiopathy was shown to promote HF in the absence of significant disease of the epicardial coronary arteries (51). LVH is also associated with reduced coronary flow reserve. Figure 1.2 summarizes the likely pathophysiological processes acting both directly on the myocardium and indirectly for the development of HF in DM.



Figure 1.2: Pathophysiology of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Adapted from MacDonald M R et al (23).

There is significant evidence that LVH itself promotes HF development: multiple studies have demonstrated progression from LVH to HF (52–54). One such study showed older people with

persistent or new ECG features of LVH have higher incidence of HF development and tend to develop HF more quickly than those without LVH on ECG (53). In a more recent study, baseline echocardiogram and ECG were performed in 922 hypertensive patients who were then followed-up for 4.8 years to evaluate the development of HF. The presence of LVH, according to both ECG and echocardiographic criteria, predicted hospitalisation for HF independently of other covariates including ischaemic heart disease (52).

Various pathophysiological mechanisms accounting for the progression from LVH to HF have been proposed. Maslov *et al* investigated the role of abnormal myocardial energetics. They point out magnitude of pressure overload, genetic, neuroendocrine and mechanical remodelling contribute to the progression of LVH to HF and that increase in energy demand underlies many of these contributing factors. In mouse hearts, energetics abnormalities occurred early in pressure-overload LVH. Early energetic changes predicted the extent of subsequent left ventricular remodelling; consistent with the hypothesis altered energy metabolism in LVH begets HF (55).

Subsequent work has looked at T-tubule remodelling in the progression of LVH to HF. T-tubules are responsible for rapid electrical excitation and co-ordinated muscle contraction through synchronous triggering of calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Animal models showed T-tubule remodelling began during compensated LVH prior to echocardiographically detectable systolic dysfunction and continued to progress along with decline in LV function. T-tubule remodelling may be an early event marking the transition from fully compensated LVH to decompensated HF (56). As previously mentioned, LVH is associated with reduced coronary flow reserve (42,57); which may provide another potential mechanism for LVH progression to HF.

1.3.4 Glycaemic control and the development of LVH and HF

If diabetes causes LVH and HF, how important is glycaemic control in this process? HbA1C is generally regarded as the most accurate measure of medium-term glycaemic control. Glucose within the blood stream adheres to haemoglobin within red blood cells, forming glycated

haemoglobin. The relative concentration of glycated haemoglobin is given by HbA1C measurements, which indicate glycaemic control over the preceding 2-3 months, reflecting the average life-span of red blood cells. However, the optimum target HbA1C in T2DM is still debated. The SIGN guidelines state 7.0% is a reasonable target in T2DM and a target of 6.5% may be appropriate at diagnosis. The NICE guidelines refer to a 'general' target of 6.5%. Diabetes UK suggest HbA1C should ideally be <7.5% within a year from diagnosis. Both SIGN and NICE guidelines, and Diabetes UK recommendations, state target HbA1C should be agreed on an individual basis, balancing the risks of microvascular and macrovascular disease associated with hyperglycaemia against the risks of hypoglycaemia and weight gain associated with strict glycaemic control.

The frequency with which HbA1C measurements are taken are also generally decided on an individual basis. Diabetes UK recommend patients with newly diagnosed diabetes are reviewed regularly until blood glucose is stabilised. Thereafter, HbA1C should be measured at least every 6 months, although in young adults with poor glycaemic control HbA1C should be monitored more closely.

In view of the above, most studies looking at how glycaemic control influences outcome in T2DM use HbA1C measures for assessing glycaemic control. However, there has been very little research looking at whether poor glycaemic control promotes LVH development. Medline search revealed 2 studies looking at glycaemic control and LVH. A cross-sectional study in which echocardiography was performed on 262 patients with T2DM who were normotensive and had normal urinary albumin levels. Forty-four per cent of these individuals met echocardiographic criteria for LVH. Logistic regression analysis showed glycaemic control, BMI and log-urinary albumin excretion were all associated with LVH in this population (58). A second study was performed looking at a cross-section of patients on maintenance haemodialysis. They found glycaemic control was generally poorer in patients on maintenance haemodialysis and glycaemic control was associated with cardiac

complications including LVH (59). While this was a useful starting point, these findings must be verified in larger studies.

In contrast, there is a large body of literature looking at whether glycaemic control effects the development of HF. Observational studies have provided a useful evidence base. Work using the Kaiser Permanente Diabetes Registry showed HbA1C>7% was associated with increased risk of HF development in T2DM, where analysis was performed using a single HbA1C measure and HF development was defined as hospital admission with HF (60).

These results were supported by the ARIC study, which also found HbA1C>7% was associated with increased risk of HF development. This was true both in individuals with CAD and in those without CAD, indicating glycaemic control influences HF development beyond its influence on CAD development. This analysis also used a single HbA1C measure and defined HF as either hospital admission with HF or the appearance of HF on the death certificate (61). Most recently, a study using the Swedish National Diabetes Registry showed HbA1C>6% was associated with increased risk of HF development. This analysis was performed using updated mean HbA1C, arguably more reflective of long term glycaemic control than a single measure, and HF was defined by hospital admission (62).

Four major randomized controlled trials (RCTs) have looked at how glycaemic control influences the development of HF in T2DM. They have yielded inconsistent results, conflicting both with one another and with results from the observational studies described above. The ACCORD study, enrolled 10 251 individuals with T2DM, poor glycaemic control and evidence of cardiovascular disease. They were randomized to intensive therapy with target HbA1C<6% or standard therapy with target HbA1C 7-7.9%. The study was terminated prematurely due to increased mortality in the intensive therapy group (HR 1.22, Cl 1.01-1.46). There was no significant difference in the rate of HF development between the two groups (63).

The ADVANCE and VADT trials also failed to demonstrate any benefit from improved glycaemic control. The ADVANCE study included 11140 patients with T2DM, either macrovascular or microvascular disease and at least one other vascular risk factor. These patients were randomized to intensive glycaemic control, aiming for HbA1C<6.5%, or standard therapy. Individuals in the intensive control group were commenced on gliclazide (30-120mg daily) and discontinued any other sulphonylurea. The gliclazide dose was titrated according to glycaemic control with the sequential addition of metformin, thiazolidinediones, acarbose and insulin. Individuals in the standard therapy group taking gliclazide prior to study enrolment were required to substitute it with another sulphonylurea. Although intensive glycaemic control significantly reduced the risk of the composite end-point (major microvascular or macrovascular event, HR 0.90, CI 0.82-0.98) there was no significant difference in mortality between the two treatment arms (HR 0.93, CI 0.83-1.06) and no significant difference in the risk of HF development (64).

The VADT study yielded similar results to the ADVANCE study. One thousand seven hundred and ninety-one patients with HbA1C>7.5% were enrolled and assigned to intensive versus standard care. All patients with BMI >27 were commenced on metformin and rosiglitazone and all patients with BMI <27 were commenced on glimepiride and rosiglitazone. Patients in the intensive therapy group were put on maximum doses at the beginning of the study and those in the standard therapy group were placed on half maximum doses. Median HbA1C 6.9% was achieved in the intensive therapy group and 8.4% in the standard therapy group. There was no significant difference between time to death (p=0.32) or first cardiovascular event (HR 0.88, Cl 0.74-1.05) between the 2 groups. The authors point out there were fewer events in both groups than predicted, which may have meant the study was under-powered to detect a small difference in risk (65). Both the ADVANCE and VADT trials were under-powered to detect a significant difference in the rates of HF development.

The UKPDS trial, although not strictly speaking an RCT, yielded more positive results. Newly diagnosed type 2 diabetics (n=3867) were randomized to intensive therapy, with either

sulphonylurea or insulin, or to conventional therapy. All-cause mortality was reduced by 6% in the intensive therapy group, although there was no significant difference in HF rates between the 2 groups (66).

Why did the RCT results largely conflict with the observational study results? There are many potential explanations. The observational studies looked at all individuals who developed HF after their diagnosis of T2DM. The ACCORD and VADT studies specifically enrolled individuals with poor glycaemic control (64,65). By definition, these patients had not responded to the first-line glucose lowering measures. Arguably, they were a self-selecting group who would require multiple high-dose second and third line therapeutic agents, increasing their risk of developing side effects.

Sulphonylureas, TZDs and insulin have all been implicated in HF in T2DM. A recent study showed increased all-cause mortality in patients treated with sulphonylureas relative to metformin. The difference between rates of HF development in first generation sulphonylureas (e.g. tolbutamide, tolazamide) compared to metformin was not statistically significant. However, second generation sulphonylureas (e.g. gliclazide, glibenclamide, glipizide) were associated with increased rates of HF development relative to metformin (67). Meta-analysis of available clinical trials data showed rosiglitazone was associated with increased risk of HF development and rosiglitazone and pioglitazone are both know to promote fluid retention (68,69). Trials investigating the consequences of insulin therapy have looked at differences in mortality rates and all cardiovascular events rather than specifically HF development. One observational study demonstrated a graded increase in the risk of mortality and cardiovascular events related to insulin-exposure (70). Another study found insulin use was associated with worse prognosis in HF (71). The UKPDS study showed a reduction in cardiovascular events with combination sulphonylurea/insulin therapy, but this was non-significant (66). The body of evidence suggests increased mortality with tight glycaemic control in ACCORD may be partly accounted for by adverse drug effects (63).

'Metabolic memory', the concept that the early glycaemic environment in diabetes is remembered by target organs, may also partly explain the conflicting results above. Evidence for this phenomenon initially came from the DCCT/EDIC studies where patients with type 1 diabetes were randomized to intensive or conventional glycaemic control strategies. The reduction in microvascular complications and cardiovascular events in the intensive therapy group resulted in termination of the trial after 6.5 years and all patients were placed on intensive therapy. Later follow-up showed the patients on conventional therapy had increased carotid intimal thickness (used as a proxy for macrovascular disease) relative to the intensive therapy group, despite practically equivalent HbA1Cs across the two groups (72–74).

Evidence from UKPDS also supported the concept of 'metabolic memory' in T2DM. Following study completion, all patients and clinicians were advised to lower blood glucose as much as possible. The difference between mean HbA1C in the intensive control group and the conventional group was lost by 1 year following study termination. Despite this, individuals initially receiving intensive therapy continued to have reduced rates of microvascular disease, all-cause mortality and myocardial infarction than those in the initial conventional therapy group (75). There molecular basis of 'metabolic memory' is largely unknown, although oxidative stress and accumulation of advanced glycation end products may be relevant (72). It is possible that an RCT looking at intensive versus standard glycaemic control in newly diagnosed diabetics only would yield different results to the RCTs detailed above, potentially demonstrating the benefit of early intensive glycaemic control.

HbA1C is arguably the most accurate reflection of medium-term glycaemic control. However, it does not reflect the intra-individual range of plasma glucose nor does it provide information regarding the number of hypoglycaemic events an individual has had. All the above RCTs showed increased rate of hypoglycaemic events in the intensive control groups, which may promote increased mortality and HF development. It is universally recognised that hypoglycaemic events are dangerous in the short term, leading to reduced consciousness, coma and death if untreated. However, episodes of

moderate hypoglycaemia may also have long term effects. Hypoglycaemic events are proinflammatory, pro-thrombotic and atherogenic (76). Wright *et al* compared 16 type 1 diabetics and 16 non-diabetics during euglycaemia and hypoglycaemia. Platelet activation occurred after hypoglycaemia in both diabetics and healthy controls. Hypoglycaemia also triggered inflammatory processes and CD40 levels were maximally elevated 24 hours following hypoglycaemia (77). Similarly, Gogitidze and colleagues found moderate hypoglycaemia led to increased PAI-1, VEGF, vascular adhesion molecules and markers of platelet aggregation in both healthy volunteers and type 1 diabetics (78).

Comparable studies in patients with T2DM have not yet taken place. However, it seems likely this pro-thrombotic, pro-inflammatory and pro-atherogenic state resulting from hypoglycaemia played a part in the adverse outcomes associated with intensive glycaemic control in the studies above. If the frequency of hypoglycaemic events had been accounted for in these analyses, would the outcomes have been different?

The evidence discussed above indicates both hyperglycaemia and hypoglycaemia are implicated in HF development in T2DM. In view of this, the question is posed: do widely fluctuating blood glucose levels also increase the risk of cardiovascular disease in T2DM? Studies to date have investigated the importance of both diurnal variation in blood glucose levels (glycaemic variation) and longerterm variation in HbA1c. Plentiful evidence has supported an association between HbA1c variation and both mortality and development of nephropathy in type 1 and type 2 diabetes (79–83).

Research investigating the association between variation in blood glucose and cardiovascular disease has yielded some conflicting results. Juarez *et al* performed a retrospective cohort analysis on patients with poor glycaemic control; defined as HbA1c>9% in individuals with at least annual HbA1c measures for a minimum of 3 years. Patients were classified as having 'good' glycaemic control (mean Hba1c<7%), 'poor' glycaemic control (mean HbA1C >9%), 'wide glycaemic variability' (patients with Hba1c fluctuating from greater than 9% to less than 7% to greater than 9%) and 'some

glycaemic variability' (those who did not fit into any of the above categories). Using a multivariate logistic regression model, they found 'wide glycaemic variability' was associated with CAD but not with HF (84).

Very few other studies have looked specifically at how variation in HbA1c influences the development of HF. Most research into the cardiovascular impact of wide variation in HbA1c has grouped coronary artery disease, stroke, HF and PVD together. In the FinnDiane study, 2 107 patients with type 1 diabetes had a median of 13 HbA1c measures over a median follow up period of 5.7 years. Mean and standard deviation were calculated from the HbA1c values. Higher mean HbA1c was associated with renal disease but not cardiovascular disease. However, greater intrapersonal standard deviation in HbA1c values was associated with both renal and cardiovascular disease where cardiovascular disease was defined as myocardial infarction, coronary artery procedure (by-pass surgery or angioplasty), stroke (ischemic or haemorrhagic), limb amputation due to ischemia, or a peripheral artery procedure according to medical records reviewed both at baseline and follow-up (85).

A prospective cohort study on a similar theme looked at 8439 Chinese patients with T2DM, calculating HbA1c mean and standard deviation for each individual during follow up. Cox regression analysis showed both HbA1c mean and standard deviation were independently associated with both the development of chronic kidney disease (defined as eGFR<60) and the development of cardiovascular disease (defined as CAD, HF, stroke or PVD (86). In view of the above, although HbA1c variability appears to promote cardiovascular disease, there is currently insufficient evidence for an association specifically between HbA1c variability and HF.

1.4 Is there a genetic component to LVH, HF and diabetic cardiomyopathy?
Although LVH and HF are very common in patients with T2DM, they are not universal. Not all patients with T2DM develop LVH, and those developing LVH do so to varying degrees (25). Early studies showed the prevalence of LVH was between 15 and 20% in the general population (87).

The ASE categorise the varying degrees of LVH as mild, moderate and severe for all methods of defining LVH, including 2D thickness, relative wall thickness, overall LV mass, LV mass indexed to BSA and LV mass indexed to height (88). As pointed out by Ruilope and colleagues, increase in LVM directly correlates with cardiovascular risk and regression of LVH is associated with reduction in cardiovascular risk (89). Alternatively, LVH may be categorised according to pattern of LVH and LV mass relative to cavity size as eccentric dilated, eccentric non-dilated, concentric dilated and concentric non-dilated (90). Concentric LVH refers to increased LVM in the context of increased LVM/end diastolic volume ratio. Eccentric LVH refers to raised LVM in the context of normal LVM/ end diastolic volume ratio. Both concentric and eccentric LVH are classed as dilated/non-dilated depending on the end diastolic volume.

Evidence of heritability of LVH

This heterogeneity is likely to have a partial genetic basis. LV mass heritability in non-diabetic subjects has been estimated through twin studies (91), studies in hypertensive siblings (92) and complex family studies (93,94). Maternally transmitted genetic susceptibility to LVH in T2DM has also been reported (95).

Glycaemic control appears to play a role in whether patients with T2DM develop HF, as stated above. However, it is unlikely to be the only determinant. Plentiful evidence suggests genetic factors have a role in HF development. The genetic basis of HF is a combination of the genetic variants associated with aetiological factors, including diabetes, and variants independently associated with heart failure. Estimates indicate around 30% of dilated cardiomyopathy appears to be familial (96,97). It is possible that genetic factors and glycaemic control not only work concomitantly to promote HF in T2DM, but may also be inter-twined.

1.4.1 Genetic basis of LVH

The genetic basis of LVH in both diabetics and non-diabetics has been investigated through candidate gene studies and genome wide association studies (GWAS). Candidate gene studies investigate whether variants within genes coding for proteins within the neuro-hormonal pathways involved in the pathophysiology of LVH predict LVH development.

The angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) gene has attracted most attention, but research has yielded conflicting results. Early studies focused on hypertensive cohorts. Fu and colleagues looked at the relationship between single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the bradykinin- receptor beta 2 gene and the insertion deletion ('I/D') variant of the ACE gene in 275 hypertensive patients and 441 controls. Neither SNP was associated with hypertension but both SNPs appeared to be involved in predicting LVH in patients who were already hypertensive (98). A separate study showed the ACE D/D genotype was associated also with increased risk of LVH post-myocardial infarction (99). However, one study focusing on patients with insulin resistance and diabetes did not found an association between LVH and the ACE I/D variant (100).

Research examining other candidate genes has also largely been limited to hypertensive patients rather than diabetics. Two projects looking at genetic variation in the G-protein beta-3 subunit have provided evidence the 825T allele partially predicts LVH development (101,102). Another study in hypertensive patients showed 2 SNPs within insulin-like growth factor 1 were associated with echocardiographically defined LVH (103). A large (n=1678) population based study in Augsberg, Germany, additionally provided relatively strong evidence variation in the ghrelin receptor gene predicted left ventricular dimensions independently of BMI and blood pressure (104).

Only 2 population based genome wide association studies (GWAS) have sought single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with LVH. Vasan *et al* compared cases of echocardiographically defined LVH with controls across 5 discovery cohorts (n=12 612) and 2 replication cohorts (n=4 094). They found multiple SNPs linked to left ventricular thickness, left ventricular mass and left

ventricular failure, but only replicated SNPs associated with increased left ventricular thickness and left ventricular systolic dysfunction (105). Shah *et al* performed a GWAS looking at 10 256 individuals from 3 population based cohorts, defining LVH based on ECG criteria. They discovered 12 single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with LVH, 3 of which were also significant in their replication cohort (n=11 777) (106).

These findings have not been reproduced in subsequent studies, although Shah and colleagues unsuccessfully tried to replicate their findings in the EchoGen consortium (106). No studies to date have identified genes predicting development of LVH specifically in patients with diabetes.

1.4.2 Genetic basis of HF

Evidence of heritability

Plentiful evidence supports a partial genetic basis for HF (107–111). The genetic basis of HF may be divided into genetic variants directly promoting HF and those associated with the causes of HF. There are many different causes of HF, most of which have a genetic component. Coronary artery disease (CAD), valvular disease, hypertension and diabetes are the most common aetiological factors. There is a wealth of evidence showing CAD has a partial genetic basis (112). This is unsurprising since the independent risk factors for ischaemic heart disease, including hypertension (113), hyperlipidaemia (114) and diabetes mellitus (115), all have genetic components. Aside from a small group of specific genetic syndromes, there is less evidence to support a genetic basis for valvular pathology, although fewer studies have examined this issue.

However, studies referenced above have demonstrated a genetic component to dilated cardiomyopathy, independent of its aetiological factors (107,110,116). Candidate genes within the sympathetic and rennin-angiotensin-aldosterone pathways have been investigated. Variants within the beta 1 and beta 2 adrenergic receptor genes have been associated with differences in sympathetic response and difference in beta blocker response in heart failure, but do not appear to

predict the development of heart failure (117–120). Similarly, another study showed a mutation in the angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) was associated with variation in response to ACE inhibitors but did not predict heart failure development (121,122).

Candidate genes encoding proteins that make up the molecular structure of the myocardium have also been investigated. Genes encoding sarcomeric proteins have received particular interest: hypertrophic cardiomyopathy is caused by an array of different mutations within the genes encoding sarcomere proteins (123). Kamisago *et al* expanded on these findings by investigating the role of these variants in DCM. They looked at 21 kindreds in which DCM appeared to be inherited in an autosomal dominant manner. They found a missense mutation in the cardiac β - myosin heavy chain gene and a deletion in cardiac troponin T gene were predictive of early onset ventricular dilatation and diminished contractile function, frequently leading to HF (124).

Subsequent work has extensively explored the effect of variants encoding proteins within the sarcomere. Another study showed three mutations previously associated with HCM were found in DCM patients with no evidence of a preceding hypertrophic phase, indicating phenotypic plasticity (125).

Variants altering Z-disc protein structure and calcium handling have also been associated with both DCM and HCM (126). As detailed in the review by Bos and colleagues, there are 6 genes with variants associated with HCM coding for Z-disc proteins but only one of these variants has a minor allele frequency of >1%. This variant lies within the muscle LIM protein, an essential regulator of myogenic differentiation (127). A large study involving sequencing this gene in 400 DCM patients, 200 HCM patients and 500 controls discovered 3 different missense mutations in 3 unrelated individuals with HCM but none in DCM (126).

Recent studies examining the significance of variants in Z-disc proteins in DCM have looked at Bcl associated athanogene 3 (BAG3), which is a co-chaperone protein with anti-apoptotic function that localizes at the Z disc in striated muscle (128). Variation in genes for Z disc proteins are unlikely to

account for a significant proportion of HCM cases. Further work is needed to assess the frequency and significance of these mutations at the population level.

Further studies have explored the relevance of genetic variants influencing calcium handling. Mutations in the phospholamban gene were associated with the development of heart failure (129). This is unsurprising since phospholamban regulates the sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase (130,131), thus controlling calcium handling and muscular contraction. However, phospholamban variants are only likely to account for approximately 0.4% of HF cases as these mutations are very rare.

Very few published GWAS have looked at HF development. Variants in the gene encoding BAG 3 were implicated in the development of DCM following 2 GWAS (111,132). Villard *et al* looked at a discovery cohort of 1179 DCM cases and 1108 control patients. Fourteen SNPs associated with HF were identified, 2 of which were replicated including rs2234962 within BAG3 on chromosome 10 as mentioned above. The second SNP, rs10927875, was found in HSPB7, which encodes a heat shock protein (111). Another SNP within HSPB7 was linked with HF in a previous association study in which a cardiovascular gene-centric 50 000 SNP array was used as a compromise between a candidate gene study and a GWAS (133). The heat-shock proteins are chaperones and have a protective function in cardiovascular disease. Plasma HSPB7 concentration has recently been shown to be elevated following acute MI in both murine and human models (134).

The CHARGE consortium also performed a GWAS meta-analysis looking at 2.5 million SNPs. They identified 2 SNPs associated with HF at the genome-wide significance level, although their relevance within cardiovascular disease is questionable. Rs1739843 does not lie within a specific gene and rs11172782 lies within LRIG3, part of a family of leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domain proteins, which has been associated with multiple tumours including astrocytoma, pituitary adenoma and bladder cancer and has also been linked to psoriasis (135–137).

No studies to date have looked at the genetic basis of HF specifically in T2DM, which is surprising given the frequency with which both HF and T2DM occur together.

1.5 Genetic basis of glycaemic control

Early research looked for genetic variants predisposing to T2DM as a binary trait, but more recent work has looked at the continuous traits associated with glucose homeostasis. Fasting glucose and HbA1C have been studied as indicators of glycaemic control, with focus on GWAS rather than candidate gene studies (138). The Meta-Analysis of Glucose and Insulin-related traits Consortium (MAGIC) was formed to conduct large-scale meta-analyses to identify genetic variants associated with continuous diabetes-related traits in non-diabetic individuals (139). The MAGIC investigators performed a 2 stage association study with 21 discovery cohorts in 46 186 individuals for 2.5million SNPs to identify SNPs associated with fasting glucose. Lead SNPs identified in the discovery cohort were followed up in a second cohort including 76 558 individuals. New SNPs associated with fasting glucose were found in or near ADCY5, MADD, ADRA2, CRY2, FADS1, GLIS 3, SLC2A2, PROX1 and C2CD4.2. Relationships between SNPs previously associated with fasting glucose in genes GCK, GCKR, G6PC2, MTNR1B, DGKB-TMEM195, TCF7L2 and SCL30A8 were also confirmed in this study (140).

The MAGIC investigators also performed a meta-analysis looking for SNPs associated with HbA1C as a marker of glycaemic control, since the estimated heritability of HbA1C is relatively high (47-59%, (141)). They discovered 6 new loci associated with HbA1C including SNPs within FN3K, HFE, TMPRSS6, ANK1, SPTA1 and ATP11A/TUBGCP3. They also confirmed the association between previously identified genetic variants and HbA1C, these SNPs lie within the HK1, MTNR1B, GCK and G6PC2/ABCB11 genes (142).

The studies performed by the MAGIC investigators provide robust evidence that glycaemic control has a partial genetic basis. However, the potential clinical application this yields is unclear. It is possible that knowledge of these SNPs may facilitate identification of individuals at highest risk of

developing T2DM and allow targeted preventative measure. However, no studies to date have looked at this hypothesis or ventured any others regarding the clinical application of these findings.

Chapter 2: Research questions, Hypothesis and Objectives

2.1 Research Questions

In view of the findings discussed in Chapter One, four research questions were posed.

Firstly, is glycaemic control important in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy? Is glycaemic control truly an independent risk factor for the development of LVH and HF rather than promoting diabetic cardiomyopathy indirectly through other pathological process such as CAD?

Secondly, is overly strict glycaemic control deleterious, as suggested by the ACCORD trial? More specifically, does overly strict glycaemic control promote the development of HF and LVH in T2DM? If so, what is the optimum range for glycaemic control with respect to HF and LVH development? Thirdly, does the intra-individual level of variation in glycaemic control influence the development of HF in T2DM? If so, does this occur independently of overall average blood glucose levels? Fourthly, is there a partial genetic basis for the two major phenotypes within diabetic

cardiomyopathy, i.e. LVH and HF? Does this relate to the role of glycaemic control?

2.2 Hypotheses:

- Both hyperglycaemia and hypoglycaemia may be associated with the development of LVH and HF in patients with T2DM
- Greater intra-individual variation in blood glucose levels may increase the risk of HF development in T2DM
- 3. There is a partial genetic basis to T2DM, LVH and HF
- 4. The genetics of these pathologies are inter-twined

2.3 Objectives

To test these hypotheses, the extensive bioresources of the University of Dundee with its wellestablished data linkage methods were used to address the following objectives:

- To assess how hyperglycaemia, hypoglycaemia and intra-individual blood glucose variation may be associated with heart failure development using longitudinal HbA1c measures to assess glycaemic control and hospital admission data, prescribing data and echocardiographic data to identify individuals with T2DM who developed LVH or/and HF during the study period
- To investigate whether single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with LVH in previous genome-wide association studies were associated with LVH in the population of Tayside, Scotland with T2DM
- 3. To test the whether single nucleotide polymorphisms previously associated with glycaemic control were also associated with the development of HF independently of glycaemic control

Chapter 3: Methods

The methods of data analysis employed in this thesis are based on linkage of established clinical data sets.

3.1 Data collection: DARTS and Go-DARTS

The Health Informatics Centre, working in partnership with the University of Dundee and NHS Tayside, holds and maintains clinical data collected from the Tayside region of Scotland, which has a population of approximately 400 000. These data are anonymised in accordance with the Standard Operating Procedures approved by the Caldicott guardians. All individuals resident in Scotland and registered with a medical practitioner are assigned a Community Health Index number (CHI number). This is a person-specific, unique identifier consisting of 10 digits where the first 6 digits are the patient's date of birth. Every person with a CHI number appears in the Community Health Master Patient Index, held by the Tayside Health Board. This file contains address, post code, general practitioner, death and date of death for all persons with a CHI number, enabling basic demographic analysis of the Tayside population.

All healthcare activity in the region for the past 2 decades has been recorded using the CHI number, allowing data linkage with a high degree of reproducibility and accuracy. This has facilitated the creation of sophisticated regional health informatics systems, such as the Diabetes Audit and Research in Tayside Scotland (DARTS) clinical information system (143).

DARTS was established to facilitate diabetes research within Tayside using electronic record linkage. It was a joint initiative of the Department of Medicine and Medicines Monitoring Unit (MEMO), University of Dundee, the diabetes department within NHS Tayside and 8 general practitioners within NHS Tayside. Individuals with diabetes were identified through electronic record linkage of clinical data, a technique validated manually by consulting hospital written records, biochemistry data and general practice records for all patients listed with 8 randomly selected general practices

(GPs) in Tayside. This technique was shown to be more sensitive than identifying patients with diabetes through using GP registries alone (144).

The datasets comprising the DARTS clinical informatics systems are continually assimilated from multiple resources including the Community Health Master Patient Index, Scottish Morbidity Records (SMR), data from the General Registrar's Office (GRO), laboratory assays, data collected from diabetes clinics and regional prescribing data. Details of each of these databases are given below.

The Scottish Morbidity Record

The Scottish Morbidity Records (SMR) contain data from ICD (International Classification of Disease) coding representing discharge documentation following all acute hospital admissions in Tayside and Fife. The database consists of one entry per admission that includes date of admission, one principal diagnostic field and five additional diagnostic fields. Admissions for hospital procedures are also included with one principal procedure field and eight additional procedural fields. The hospital admissions are classified according to the International Classification of Disease (ICD) 9th and 10th versions. Procedures were classified according to the Office of Population, Censuses and Surveys Classification of Surgical Operations and Procedures, 3rd and 4th revisions.

General Registrar's Office Database

Data from the General Registrar's Office (GRO) provides mortality data and contains the date and cause of death for all deaths occurring in Tayside from 1989. The cause of death is coded according to the ICD classification systems referred to above. The database includes a principal cause of death field and up to 10 additional contributory causes of death fields in order to capture all data recorded on the death certificates.

Laboratory data

Records of all results from laboratory tests performed within NHS Tayside since 1992 are held in the regional biochemistry, haematology and microbiology databases. The use of results from biochemistry assays to identify those with diabetes based on oral glucose tolerance test and random plasma glucose results was validated in DARTS. Biochemistry results were available from 1989 onwards (144). The biochemistry database contains HbA1C values for DARTS participants, taken in view of the guidelines and recommendations referred to in Chapter One.

Dispensed prescription database

This database was originally established by MEMO, University of Dundee, in 1993 and is now maintained by HIC. It captures all prescriptions dispensed in the community within the Tayside region in a person-specific manner. Prescriptions dispensed between 1993 and 2004 were recorded as scanned paper prescriptions analysed with purpose written software. Since late 2004, data regarding all prescriptions were obtained in electronic format from the Practitioner Services Division (PSD).

Prescriptions within this database are linked to the individual's CHI number and include the generic name of the drug, date of prescription, amount dispensed, dosing instructions and drug codes as described in the British National Formulary (BNF).

SCI-DC

Since 2000, a nationwide clinical information system; the Scottish Care Information-Diabetes Collaboration (SCI-DC) database, has captured registration of patients with diabetes. Registration in the database occurs automatically when a patient is assigned a 'Read Code' for diabetes in a primary or secondary care electronic database. The SCI-DC database contains information on almost all patients with a diagnosis of diabetes resident in Tayside, Scotland. Clinical information is collected according to the national clinical dataset for the care of diabetic patients in Scotland and covers age, gender, diabetes type, date of diagnosis, blood pressure, height and weight among other clinical

parameters. The SCI-DC database has been linked to the clinical datasets described above in previous epidemiological studies within the Tayside population (144–146).

HEARTS

The HEARTS database is a web-based system allowing safe, secure access to clinical data from a central location. Secondary care investigation results (e.g. results from biochemistry assays performed in Tayside) are accessible through HEARTS. These data are linked to information held locally by primary care systems, such as GPASS, via person-specific CHI number. These data include height, weight and blood pressure measures, which were used in this project as detailed below.

Go-DARTS

Since 1998, an increasing number of patients with T2DM in the region have been approached to provide a blood sample for genetic studies and have given written informed consent for their data to be linked anonymously to data in DARTS and associated datasets for clinical research. These datasets are 'live' and continually updated. Record linkage via the CHI number has provided the means to electronically link this genetic data to the datasets described above. Each individual is assigned a unique system code number, the 'prochi', as part of the electronic linkage procedure, allowing them to maintain anonymity throughout. Many of these individuals were recruited under the auspices of the Wellcome Trust UK Type 2 Diabetes Case Control Consortium and contributed significantly to the replication phase of the WTCCC-GWA studies for T2DM (147). All Go-DARTS participants were seen by a research nurse at recruitment and baseline values for clinical parameters such as blood pressure, height and weight were recorded.

Data from this large group of patients with T2DM together with the varied longitudinal clinical datasets constitutes the Genetics of DARTS (Go-DARTS) study. Rigorous compliance with NHS data protection and encryption standards was maintained at all times. The Go-DARTS study was

approved by the local research ethics committee and has been described in several published articles (148–150).

3.2 The Tayside Echocardiography Database

The Tayside echocardiography database, maintained by the Department of Cardiology, contains data from all clinically requested echocardiograms performed in Ninewells Hospital, NHS Tayside from September 1993 and a small number of scans performed in Perth Royal Infirmary, NHS Tayside, during the same period. The database holds reports for a total of 10 387 echocardiograms performed on a total of 5 329 Go-DARTS participants. Out of 10 387, 9991 scans were performed in Ninewells Hospital, Dundee and 396 were performed at Perth Royal Infirmary. All echocardiograms were reported by echocardiographers with full accreditation of the British Society of Echocardiography.

The Tayside echocardiography database contains data for a total of 86 different variables including those pertaining to the identity of the individual (anonymised for data protection but maintaining data linkage), location and date performed. Both numeric values and free text data are included. The dataset is explicit for left ventricular size and function, including regional wall motion abnormalities, cardiac dimensions, valvular appearance, presence and extent of valvular stenosis and regurgitation (quantified according to British Society of Echocardiography recommendations), parameters indicating the level of diastolic function, presence of pericardial effusion with appropriate quantification and any additional comments made by the sonographer. The structured numerical fields were processed to ensure that any clearly erroneous, non-physiological measurements were removed prior to analysis.

As described above, data within the Tayside Echocardiography database is anonymised in a manner that still allows its contents to be linked to the datasets used within Go-DARTS. Permission from the Caldicott Guardian was obtained to allow the echocardiography database to be linked to the above

data sets for the purpose of this study. The echocardiography database was previously linked to the health informatics system at HIC to identify structural heart disease (151–153).

3.3 Record Linkage

The person-specific identifier referred to above, the CHI number, was converted to an anonymous, 10 character 'prochi' for all individuals in Go-DARTS. This approach minimized the risk of specific individuals being identified through the datasets, helping to maintain patient confidentiality.

The CHI number was also converted to a 'prochi' for all persons whose data was held within the Tayside Echocardiography database, allowing individuals to maintain anonymity. The Tayside Echocardiography Database may be linked to the Go-DARTS databases using data providing a link between the 2 projects. Permission for such linkage is sought from the Caldicott Guardian and is granted on a study-specific basis, as was the case for this study.

Linkage of the above described datasets can be described in diagram form as below:



Figure 3.1 showing data-linkage procedure.

3.4 Heart failure phenotype

Individuals with T2DM who developed HF following enrolment in the Go-DARTS study were identified and extracted for a nested case-control study, longitudinal cohort study and genetics analysis. The same phenotype definition was used for all of these analyses. Individuals were regarded as having HF if they fulfilled at least one of the following two criteria:

- 1) Echocardiographic evidence of left ventricular systolic impairment and receipt of a loop diuretic prescription
- 2) Admission to hospital with HF and receipt of a loop diuretic prescription

Patients with T2DM were identified from the demographic database according to data within the 'diabetes type' field. The accuracy of the data relating to diabetes type has been well-validated in previous studies (143). Linking the SMR data and dispensed prescribing data to the Tayside Echocardiography database allowed identification of individuals with T2DM who met the above criteria for HF. Patients who were never prescribed a loop diuretic were not classed as HF cases as it was deemed that any individuals with symptomatic HF would have received as a loop diuretic at some point. This may have excluded some individuals with post-MI left ventricular dysfunction that either recovered so rapidly that out-patient loop diuretic was not required or was so well compensated that loop diuretics were not needed.

3.4.1 Identification of individuals with HF using echocardiographic data

Individuals with echocardiographic evidence of left ventricular systolic impairment were identified according to an algorithm generated to describe LV function in numeric form. In order to generate this algorithm, the free text conclusion and description of left ventricular systolic function (LVSF) were identified and processed. Code was developed to parse the free text, and to determine the sonographer's impression of left ventricular systolic function according to the standard terms described below. The code was developed in an iterative manner, initially using a small cohort of manually reviewed reports, until further improvement was not possible. The code was run through

the entire dataset and further development sought to reduce the number of un-interpreted reports. The code was modified to process the most commonly occurring typographical errors.

Every individual was assigned a number ranging from 1-6 or 9 to represent their level of LV systolic function where '1' describes normal LV function, '2' mildly impaired, '3' mild-moderate impairment, '4' moderate impairment', '5' moderate-severe impairment and '6' refers to severe impairment in LV systolic function. Individuals were assigned a '9' to reflect systolic function if their LV function could not be assessed according to the algorithm. For example, details of LV function may not be provided when individuals undergo focused imaging to assess a particular condition, these individuals would be among those assigned a '9'.

This algorithm was validated in 3 different ways. A random selection of 1000 reports were manually reviewed by an independent investigator and the correlation between the manual and code based interpretation was examined. Secondly, since echocardiographic images are infrequently of sufficient quality to allow accurate quantitative assessment of LV function and subjective qualitative assessment is more commonly used, the inter-observer variability was determined through identifying a random selection of 70 scans, with varying degrees of LV impairment. These scans were subsequently blindly re-reported by BSE accredited echocardiographers and Kappa analysis showed strong agreement between the values generated by the algorithm and re-reporting.

Lastly, a random sample of 105 individuals with LV systolic impairment on echocardiography who were also prescribed a loop diuretic were identified and their case notes were reviewed to identify whether they had a documented clinical diagnosis of HF. This allowed quantitation of the methodological reliability in identifying HF cases.

Data for all individuals with evidence of LV systolic dysfunction were linked to the dispensed prescribing data for the Go-DARTS study. Individuals who received a loop diuretic prescription were identified according to the BNF code 2.2.2. Thus, patients with T2DM, echocardiographic evidence of LV systolic impairment and in receipt of loop diuretics were extracted.

3.4.2 Identification of HF cases through SMR01 data

All individuals admitted to hospital due to HF were identified by the ICD codes for HF: ICD 9: 428, ICD10: I50. Individuals were regarded as having a hospital admission with HF if any of the 6 diagnostic fields relating to their admission contained the above ICD codes. These individuals were extracted and their data were linked to prescribing data to determine whether they had received a loop diuretic. Individuals in receipt of loop diuretics were identified using the BNF code 2.2.2.

3.4.3 Identification of incident HF cases

All patients with T2DM and HF according to echocardiographic and prescribing evidence were merged with those with a diagnosis of HF based on SMR01 and prescribing data. Each individual was assigned a date of HF diagnosis. Date of HF diagnosis was taken as either the date of the earliest echocardiogram showing left ventricular systolic impairment or the date of the earliest admission to hospital for HF. If the patient had both an echocardiogram showing left ventricular systolic impairment and an admission to hospital with HF the earlier of the 2 dates was taken to be the date of HF diagnosis. Anyone diagnosed with HF prior to enrolment in Go-DARTS was excluded from further analyses.

3.4.4 Identification of non-HF control subjects

Non-HF controls were identified for the nested case-control study. Individuals with T2DM were extracted from the demographic database as described above. Linkage to the echocardiography data, SMR01 data and dispensed prescribing data allowed identification of type 2 diabetics with no evidence of HF.

Non-HF controls had never had an echocardiogram showing evidence of LV systolic impairment. This included individuals who had undergone echocardiography and had their overall LV systolic function graded as normal (i.e. given a value of '1' according to the algorithm) and those individuals with T2DM who had never undergone echocardiography. Non-HF controls had also never had a

hospital admission with HF. Anyone with a discharge code for HF in any of the diagnostic fields was identified and excluded. Data for these individuals was linked to the dispensed prescribing data and anyone receiving a prescription with a BNF code for loop diuretics was excluded from the non-HF control group.

HF cases were matched to non-HF controls using the greedy matching process in SAS 9.2 (154). HF cases and non-HF controls were matched for age at diabetes diagnosis within 2 years, diabetes duration within 2 years and gender. Matched cases and controls used in the conditional logistic regression model are discussed below.

3.5 Phenotype definition LVH and case-control identification

Individuals within the Go-DARTS cohort who had T2DM were identified and extracted for a nested case-control analysis using a conditional logistic regression model to determine whether glycaemic control was associated with LVH development and to investigate whether genes previously associated with LVH were also associated with LVH in our cohort of patients with T2DM. Their data were linked to the echocardiography database as for the HF nested case-control study.

3.5.1 LVH case definition

Two-dimensional LV measurements taken in diastole for the interventricular septum (IVS), left ventricular posterior wall (LVPW) and left ventricular internal diameter (LVIDD) were used to identify individuals with LVH according to ASE criteria (88,155). LV measurements were used to calculate LV mass according to the formula:

LV mass=0.8*(1.04*((LVIDD+LVPW+IVS) ³-(LVIDD) ³)) + 0.6

This formula is widely used within clinical and research fields and was derived and validated by Devereux *et al* (155,156). LV mass was separately indexed to height in metres to the power 2.7 and to body surface area (BSA). BSA was calculated using the formula below:

BSA= ((weight) 0.425x(height) 0.725)*0.007184 (157)

Individuals were classed as having LVH if their LV mass was outside the normal range when indexed to either height or BSA according to ASE recommendations (88). Participants with LV wall thickness exceeding the normal range according to direct 2D measures were also classed as cases of LVH. Additionally, individuals were regarded as having LVH if relative wall thickness (RWT) was increased using the formula:

RWT = (2x LVPW)/LVIDD (158)

In summary, our LVH phenotype was defined according to ASE recommendations (88) and was comprised of individuals with T2DM and LVH according to one of the following criteria:

- 1) Raised LV mass
- 2) Increased LV wall thickness on direct 2D measurement
- 3) Increased RWT

Since significant aortic stenosis promotes LVH through increased left ventricular haemodynamic load, all patients with aortic stenosis of greater than mild severity were excluded from further analysis to prevent confounding.

3.5.2 Identification of control subjects

Patients with T2DM participating in Go-DARTS were classed as non-LVH controls if they had never had an echocardiogram nor received a loop diuretic. Data linkage with the dispensed prescribing data allowed identification of patients who had received a loop diuretic. Patients with prescriptions issued for BNF code 2.2.2 were extracted. Controls from this pool of individuals were matched to cases for gender, age at diabetes diagnosis and duration of diabetes within 2 years.

3.6 Calculation of weighted mean HbA1C

Single HbA1C measures underestimate the importance of glycaemic control. Calculation of the mean of serial HbA1C measures is a better predictor of diabetic complications than single HbA1C measures (159,160). In view of this, weighted mean HbA1C was calculated to investigate the

association between glycaemic control and HF development and glycaemic control and LVH development for each individual.

The number of days between 2 successive measures was multiplied by the HbA1C value for the first of these measures. This process was repeated for each HbA1C measure according to the formula below:

 $D_{x(1,2....end)} = HbA1C_{x(1,2...end)} * (dt_{(x+1)}-dt_x)$

where the HbA1C value is in per cent, 'dt' represents the date the specimen was taken and 'x' refers to the specimen number, i.e. first, second, etc.

In order to calculate weighted mean HbA1C, the sum of the above values was taken and then divided by the number of days between the initial HbA1C sample and the last, i.e. the duration of time over which the HbA1C values were taken. This process is summarised by the formula below:

Weighted mean HbA1C= $\sum D/(last_date-dt_1)$

where 'last_dt' represents the date of the last HbA1C measure before development of HF and LVH for HF and LVH cases. For those who did not develop HF, HbA1C duration was calculated differently for the nested case control and the longitudinal cohort studies. For the nested case-control studies, the HbA1C duration was taken as the time between first HbA1C measure and last measure before HF development, or first echocardiogram showing LVH, for the respective case for matched controls. For the longitudinal cohort studies HbA1C duration was taken as time from the first HbA1C measure to the end of the study period. Both calculations were performed using the array statement in SAS 9.2 for Windows.

Weighted mean HbA1C was calculated as described above for each individual in the study and this was used to represent long-term glycaemic control in all subsequent logistic regression and proportional hazard regression models.

3.7 Analysis of the relevance of anti-hyperglycaemic medications

The prescribing data were linked to the demographic data to extract information regarding antihyperglycaemic medication use for all study participants. These data were handled differently for the case-control and longitudinal cohort studies.

3.7.1 Analysis of anti-hyperglycaemic medications: nested case-control studies

All prescriptions issued within the 3 months preceding HF development for HF cases were extracted. For control subjects, all prescriptions issued within the 3 months preceding HF development for their respective cases following the matching process were extracted. A similar process was performed for LVH cases. Date of first echocardiogram showing LVH was taken as index date for LVH cases and for their respective controls.

All prescriptions for anti-hyperglycaemic medications dispensed within this period were then identified. Sulphonylurea prescriptions were identified by the BNF code 6.1.2.1, metformin prescriptions were identified by the BNF code 6.1.2.2 and insulin prescriptions were identified by the BNF codes 6.1.1.1, 6.1.1.2 and 6.1.1.3. Prescriptions for thiazolidinediones (TZDs) were identified using their approved names: 'pioglitazone' and 'rosiglitazone'.

Every individual was then assigned to one of 5 categories of treatment: insulin therapy, sulphonylurea therapy, TZDs, metformin or diet-control. Patients were categorised as taking insulin, sulphonylureas, TZDs, metformin or diet-control. Anyone taking insulin was assigned to the insulin category, anyone not taking insulin but taking sulphonylureas was assigned to the sulphonylureas category, anyone taking neither insulin nor sulphonylureas but taking TZDs was assigned to the TZDs category and anyone taking metformin only was assigned to the metformin category. Patients with no prescriptions for anti-hyperglycaemic medication during the period in question were classed as receiving diet-control.

3.7.2 Analysis of anti-hyperglycaemic medications: HF longitudinal cohort study

Anti-hyperglycaemic medications prescribed at entry into the Go-DARTS study were identified and these baseline data were used in the proportional hazard regression model for the HF cohort study. Anti-hyperglycaemic medication prescriptions were identified using the BNF codes given above and treatment was categorised as insulin therapy, sulphonylureas, other oral therapy or diet-control in the same way as for the nested case-control studies.

3.8 Analysis of the role of CAD in the development of HF and LVH

All study participants were subdivided into those who had CAD and those who did not based on hospital admission with discharge codes relating to ischaemic heart disease. These included the following codes ICD 9: 410, 411, 412, 413 or 414 and ICD10: I20, I21, I22, I23, I24 or I25.

3.9 Identification of covariates through Students' t test and Chi-squared test of association

Multiple covariates have been shown to influence the development of HF and LVH. These include age, gender, blood pressure (BP), body mass index (BMI), renal function, presence and duration of diabetes and CAD (161). Anti-hyperglycaemic medications including insulin, sulphonylureas, metformin and thiazolidinediones have been associated with HF. In view of this, the Students' t test and Chi-squared test of association were used to identify variables associated with HF and LVH in our population of individuals with T2DM.

Students' t test was performed to identify the continuous variables associated with HF and LVH. Age at enrolment into Go-DARTS and age at diabetes diagnosis were calculated using the data within the demography file. The clinical datasets described above, including the SCI-DC, HEARTS and WTCCC data, were linked to provide values for BMI, systolic and diastolic BP and creatinine.

BMI was calculated using the standard formula, as given below:

BMI= weight $(kg)/(height (m))^2$

Most cohort members had multiple measurements for weight, systolic and diastolic BP and creatinine. Where multiple values were available, the value closest to the date of enrolment in the

Go-DARTS study was taken, as this most closely represented baseline status. Students' t test was then performed to identify which of the above variables were associated with HF and LVH, thus identifying the covariates to be taken forward for use in logistic regression modelling.

Individuals with CAD were identified according to the ICD 9 and ICD 10 codes described above. Individuals with CAD were assigned a '1' for the CAD variable and those without CAD according to the above criteria were assigned a value of '0'. Medication use was categorised as described above. Chi-squared test of association was then used to determine whether CAD status and gender were associated with HF and LVH and whether prescription of specific anti-hyperglycaemic medications was linked to HF.

3.10 Identification of independent covariates through logistic regression analysis

Conditional logistic regression analysis was performed to confirm whether covariates associated with HF and LVH were independent predictors of HF and LVH respectively when all other significant covariates were taken into account.

3.10.1 Conditional logistic regression analysis: glycaemic control and HF

Conditional logistic regression analysis was performed in which HF was modelled as a binary trait. All clinical features shown to be significantly associated with HF development according to the above analyses were included in the model as covariates. Hence, covariates included CAD status, SBP, BMI and creatinine category. Values for creatinine measurements were categorised due to the broad range of values involved: values less than 80 umol were included in the same category, values greater than 80 umol were categorised in 10 umol increments up to 200 umol. Measures of creatinine exceeding 200 umol were placed in a final category. Creatinine categories were assigned numeric values starting with '1' for those with baseline creatinine <80 umol, '2' if baseline creatinine was between 80 and 90 umol with all subsequent categories assigned ascending numbers in this manner. Systolic BP and BMI were not categorised due to the narrower range of values.

The logistic regression model was stratified so that each HF case was compared specifically to the control individual he/she had been matched with. Covariates within this model were regarded as significant independent predictors of HF if their corresponding p-value was <0.05. These covariates were taken forward for use in the longitudinal cohort study proportional hazard regression analysis. Between 6% and 10% weighted mean HbA1C was stratified in 1% increments to assess how specific levels of glycaemic control were associated with HF. All individuals with weighted mean HbA1C<6% and >=10% were classified according to these categories. Weighted mean HbA1C >=6 to7% was taken as the reference range for this analysis and all the regression analyses described below.

3.10.2 Conditional logistic regression analysis: glycaemic control and LVH

Conditional logistic regression analysis was used to model LVH as a binary trait to investigate the association between weighted mean HbA1C and LVH. Cases and controls were defined according to the above criteria. Independent variables associated with LVH according to Students' t test and the Chi-squared test of association were included in the model as covariates. Hence, covariates included age, gender, weighted mean HbA1C, SBP, DBP, BMI, creatinine category and CAD status. Weighted mean HbA1C categorised as above.

3.11 Longitudinal cohort study

3.11.1 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with respect to HF

All patients with T2DM enrolled in Go-DARTS during the study period were included in the cohort for proportional hazard regression analysis. Weighted mean HbA1C was calculated using all available values until HF diagnosis for cases and all available values until the end of the study period for all other members of the cohort. Start date was taken as date of enrolment into the Go-DARTS study and the study end point was the date of the last diagnosis of HF according to the data collected, i.e. 27th August 2011. Patients who did not develop HF during the study period were censored.

Proportional hazard regression analysis was used to determine the hazard ratio of developing HF for each level of weighted mean HbA1C according to the categories <6%, >=6 to7%, >=7 to 8%, >=8 to 9%, >=9 to 10% and >=10%.

All factors associated with HF according to the conditional logistic regression model described above contributed to the proportional hazard regression model. These variables included BMI, SBP, creatinine category, age, gender, diabetes duration and CAD. Values for BMI, creatinine, age and diabetes duration were taken at baseline. Existence of CAD was modelled in a time-dependent manner such that individuals who developed CAD according to the above definition prior to the development of HF were classed as CAD cases and anyone developing CAD after they were diagnosed with HF was not classed as a CAD case for the purpose of this model. Proportional hazard regression modelling was performed with and without the inclusion of CAD in the list of covariates to assess whether the relationship between weighted mean HbA1C and the development of HF was dependent on CAD by comparing hazard ratios across the 2 models.

As discussed above, anti-hyperglycaemic agents may influence HF development in T2DM. To assess the impact of anti-hyperglycaemic medications, all members of the cohort were assigned to one of 4 treatment categories according to drug prescription at study enrolment. Drug therapy was determined using BNF codes as described above. Patients were categorised as taking insulin, sulphonylureas, other oral therapy or diet-control. Treatment was then added into the proportional hazard regression model using individuals categorised as diet-controlled as the reference group.

The Chi-squared test of association was used to compare frequencies of anti-hyperglycaemic medications prescribed to HF cases versus non-HF cases within 3 separate groups: patients with weighted mean HbA1C within the range (>=6 to 8%), patients with relative hypoglycaemia (weighted mean HbA1C <6) and patients with relative hyperglycaemic (weighted mean HbA1C>=8%). Eight per cent was used as the upper limit of normal for weighted mean HbA1C as the above analyses showed increased risk of HF development above this level, as described below. Patients taking either insulin

or sulphonylurea therapy were grouped together as these agents are secretagogues and known to promote hypoglycaemia. Patients who were not taking insulin or sulphonylureas who were taking either metformin or TZDs were grouped together as these are insulin-sensitizers.

Calculation of HbA1c variability

To investigate the effects of intra-individual variations of HbA1c on incident HF we calculated intraindividual mean (HbA1c-MEAN) and standard deviation (HbA1c-SD), respectively. HbA1c values obtained preceding recruitment, at the enrolment and until the last recorded value of HbA1c were used. The inter-individual difference in the number of HbA1c assessments was adjusted according to the formula: adj-HbA1c-SD = SD/V[n/(n-1)] as previously described (162). HbA1C variability was then included as in the proportional hazard regression analysis.

All analyses were carried out using SAS 9.2 for Windows and the R software (165).

3.11.2 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with respect to LVH

All patients with T2DM enrolled in Go-DARTS during the study period were included in the cohort for proportional hazard regression analysis. Weighted mean HbA1C was calculated using all available values until first echocardiogram showing LVH for cases and all available values until the end of the study period for all other members of the cohort. Start date was taken as date of enrolment into the Go-DARTS study and the study end point was the date of the last diagnosis LVH according to the data collected, i.e. 8th September 2011. Patients who did not develop LVH during the study period were censored. Proportional hazard regression analysis was used to determine the hazard ratio of developing LVH for each level of weighted mean HbA1C according to the categories <6%, >=6 to 7%, >=7 to 8%, >=8 to 9%, >=9 to 10% and >=10%.

All factors associated with LVH according to the conditional logistic regression model described above contributed to the proportional hazard regression model. These variables included BMI, SBP, creatinine category, age, gender, diabetes duration and CAD. Values for BMI, creatinine, age and diabetes duration were taken at baseline. Existence of CAD was modelled in a time-dependent manner such that individuals who developed CAD according to the above definition prior to the development of LVH were classed as CAD cases and anyone developing CAD after they were diagnosed with LVH was not classed as a CAD case for the purpose of this model. Proportional hazard regression modelling was performed with and without the inclusion of CAD in the list of covariates to assess whether the relationship between weighted mean HbA1C and the development of LVH was dependent on CAD by comparing hazard ratios across the 2 models.

To assess the impact of anti-hyperglycaemic medications, all members of the cohort were assigned to one of 5 treatment categories according to drug prescription at study enrolment. Drug therapy was determined using BNF codes as described above. Patients were categorised as taking insulin, sulphonylureas, TZDs, metformin or diet-control. Categories were assigned as described above. Prescriptions within 3 months of the index date were considered. Patients with no prescriptions for anti-hyperglycaemic medication during this period were classed as receiving diet-control.

Treatment was then added into the proportional hazard regression model using individuals categorised as diet-controlled as the reference group. All analyses were carried out using SAS 9.2 for Windows and the R software (163).

3.12 Genotyping procedures for HF and LVH studies

Genotyping was performed on a proportion of Go-DARTS participants who had been prescribed statins for an unpublished study looking at statin response. The clinical data for the HF and LVH analyses described above were linked to the available genotyping data to investigate the potential genetic basis of HF and LVH.

3.12.1 High Density Array Genotyping Data

Blood samples were donated by Go-DARTS participants for genotyping as previously stated. The Genome-Wide Human SNP Array 6.0 was used. Specimens were processed at the Affymetrix service laboratory. All samples passing Affymetrix laboratory quality control were taken forward to call genotypes with using the Chiamo (164) software adapted for Affymetrix 6.0 SNP data. Direct typing of individual SNPs was performed using TaqMan allelic discrimination assays as supplied by Applied Biosystems (Carlsbad, CA) as "Assays on Demand", or "Assays by Design".

3.12.2 DNA preparation and genotyping

The genomic DNA quality was initially validated using the Sequenom iPLEX assay. DNA concentration was then assessed using the PicoGreen assay Invitrogen, all samples with DNA concentration above threshold were taken forward and tested by agarose gel electrophoresis. DNA not degraded by this process was used.

3.12.3 Sample Quality Control

Genotype data quality control was performed in a similar fashion to other Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (WTCCC2) studies that were previously published (165–169).

Genotyping data were modelled as a mixture of 'normal' and 'outlier' individuals for: ancestry, missing data, heterozygosity and gender assignment. Each model was fitted using a Bayesian framework generating a posterior probability of that individual being an 'outlier'. Individuals with a posterior probability exceeding the 0.5145 threshold were regarded as 'outliers' and excluded from further analysis.

Genome-wide levels of allele sharing were compared to assess 'relatedness' and filter-out pairs who were identical by descent using PLINK (170).

3.12.4 Affymetrix 6.0 SNP genotyping array

Four thousand individuals with diabetes were genotyped on the Affymetrix 6.0 SNP genotyping array; which includes 1 000 000 SNPs. These individuals were specifically chosen for genotyping as part of a previous project based on the fact that they had received a dispensed prescription for statin treatment subsequent to their enrolment in the Go-DARTS study.

3.13 Manipulation of the genetic data including imputation

3.13.1 Imputation

High density SNP array data were stored using the Chiamo (164) and the PLINK binary PED (170) formats. The Chiamo format was used for analyses run in SNPTEST

(<u>https://mathgen.stats.ox.ac.uk/genetics_software/snptest/snptest.html</u> (171)) while the PLINK binary PED format was used for the analyses run in PLINK (170).

Genotype imputation was performed in two stages. The SHAPE-IT tool was used to estimate haplotypes from the study population (<u>http://www.shapeit.fr/</u> (172)) prior to comparing haplotypes to reference panel haplotypes using IMPUTEv2

(<u>http://mathgen.stats.ox.ac.uk/impute/impute_v2.html</u> (173)), which compared the estimated haplotypes generated using the SHAPE-IT tool with up to 2 reference panels. This is based on the principle that certain SNPs will be found in haplotypes together.

3.13.2 Genetic associations and outcome: LVH

Genotyping association was determined using the SCORE TEST in SNPTEST (171) and the 'recode A' option in PLINK (170) to investigate whether published SNPs associated with LVH were also associated with LVH in this cohort with T2DM.

For directly typed SNPs in both SNPTEST and PLINK, an individual is assigned a value of '0' if they are homozygous for the non-effect allele, '1' if they are heterozygous and '2' if they are homozygous for the effect allele at each SNP locus. The data for each SNP can then be added to the logistic regression model in the same way as non-genetic variables. Imputed SNPs are more complex to model and are estimated based on linkage disequilibrium with the directly typed SNPs as described above. Different SNPs are imputed with varying degrees of certainty; both the missing data likelihood score test in SNPTEST and the imputation functions in PLINK generate a probability that the genotype for that SNP is actually there, although nonobserved. Imputed SNPs are dealt with differently in SNPTEST and PLINK. SNPTESTv2 (https://mathgen.stats.ox.ac.uk/genetics_software/snptest/old/snptest.html) uses a missing data likelihood score test. Different SNPs are imputed with varying degrees of probabilities of each genotype across individuals for a SNP and use all the available data in the association analysis. PLNK uses a threshold method such that if the probability of a specific genotype at a SNP locus exceeds 0.90 then that genotype is assumed to be there (170). This output can then be modelled by logistic regression as described for directly typed SNPs.

3.13.3 Meta-analysis

Meta-analysis was performed to assess the likelihood the above SNPs were associated with LVH when our data was combined with published data. The odds ratios calculated for the published SNPs were based on continuous data so our binary case-control model was adjusted to allow comparison with published data. Continuous data for LV thickness and LV mass were used as outcome measures. Individual LV mass values were based on calculations using the equation detailed above and values for LV thickness were taken as the sum of the IVS and LVPW. A linear regression model was used to determine whether published SNPs associated with LV mass were associated with continuous measures of LV mass in this study. Further linear regression modelling was undertaken to assess whether either of the published SNPs associated specifically with LV thickness were taken as the sum of the inverse variance-weighted z-score as described by Bakker et al (174) since the units used in the published GWAS differed from our own.

3.13.4 Calculation genotypic scores

Genotypic scores were calculated both for LVH and glycaemic control. SNPs were coded 0, 1 and 2 as described above. For the LVH gene score, effect alleles were defined as those associated with LVH development as published by Shah *et al* and Vasan *et al* (105,106). For the glycaemic control score, effect alleles were defined as those identified by the MAGIC consortium in the referenced articles that were shown to be associated with glycaemic control.

Three separate genotypic scores for LVH were calculated for every participant based on the number of effect alleles the participant had for each SNP associated with LVH. SNPs discovered by Vasan et al (105) were combined to produce gene score 1, which included rs17568359, rs7565161, rs7910620, rs2059238 and rs17132261. SNPs discovered by Shah et al (106) were combined to produce gene score 2, including rs6797133, rs2292462, rs2290893 and rs4966014. All the above SNPs discovered by both Vasan et al and Shah et al were combined to produce gene score 3. Gene scores were then categorized by quintiles and association with LVH was assessed by logistic regression analysis. Each SNP was weighted by the published per affect allele increase in LV dimensions using the SCORE option in PLINK. A 'SCORE' value is generated by PLINK by multiplying the number of reference alleles at that SNP locus by the published effect size at that SNP then adding these values across all reference SNPs for that individual. The association between LVH and the 3 genotypic score was then assessed by merging the genotypic score data with the clinical data previously described and adding the 'SCORE' variable into the logistic regression model. In view of the small sample size, the values for genotypic score were categorised according to quintiles; which replaced the 'SCORE' variable in the logistic regression model. Hence, 3 separate analyses were performed, each with 5 possible permutations of the gene score. The score for the analysis using gene score 3 was dependent on the scores for gene score 1 and 2.

3.13.5 Replicated SNPs associated with LVH: effect on outcome

Survival analysis and proportional hazard regression analysis were performed to assess the impact variation in the replicated SNPs had on outcome. The Lifetest Procedure was performed in SAS 9.2 plotting time to death, hospital admission due to cardiovascular illness and a composite end-point of either death or hospital admission due to cardiovascular illness. Proportional hazard regression analysis was then performed modelling each of the above outcomes including the number of effect alleles for each replicated SNP amongst the covariates.

3.13.6 Glycaemic control SNPs: Genetic associations and outcome

The 'recode A' option in PLINK was used to identify genotype with respect to all SNPs associated with glycaemic control as published by the MAGIC consortium (140,142). These included rs560887, rs10830963, rs4607517, rs2191349, rs780094, rs11708067, rs7944584, rs10885122, rs174550, rs11605924, rs11920090, rs7034200, rs340874, rs11071657, rs11558471, rs13266634 and rs4506565, associated with fasting glucose at genome-wide significance (140). SNPs associated with HbA1C at genome wide significance were also analysed (142). These included rs2779116, rs552976, rs1800562, rs1799884, rs6474359, rs4737009, rs16926246, rs1387153, rs7998202, rs1046896 and rs855791. All available genotypic data relating to the above SNPs was extracted for individuals classed as HF cases, non-HF cases, LVH-cases and non-LVH cases based on the definitions of HF and LVH given above. This genotypic data was then merged with clinical data and proportional hazard regression analysis was performed to determine whether these SNPs were associated with HF or LVH when know risk factors for both conditions were taken into account, as described in section 3.11.1.

Chapter 4: Results

A total of 8 673 participants in the Go-DARTS study had T2DM. These individuals formed the cohort from which individuals were extracted for all the above analyses.

4.1: LVH in T2DM

4.1.1 Frequencies of LVH cases and non-LVH controls

A total of 2141 out of the 8 673 individuals with T2DM had LVH according to echocardiography based on the definition described in section 3.5.1, representing 2141 out of 3510 individuals with T2DM (61%) in Go-DARTS who underwent echocardiography. One hundred and eighteen of these individuals had aortic stenosis of greater than mild severity. These individuals were excluded from further analysis to prevent confounding. The remaining cases of LVH included 1419 cases of LVH based on LV mass indexed to height, 1435 cases of LVH based on LV mass indexed to BSA, 1949 based on 2D LV measurements in diastole and 1361 based on RWT. There was significant overlap between the groups, i.e. many individuals met criteria for LVH based on more than one of the above definitions. Out of the 2023 individuals with LVH and T2DM, 1166 had prevalent LVH and 1139 LVH cases could be matched to non-LVH controls for age within 2 years, date of diabetes diagnosis within 2 years and gender. These figures are summarized in the flow chart below:



Figure 4.1.1: Identification of LVH-cases and non-LVH cases for the nested case-control study

4.1.2 Clinical characteristics: LVH cases and non-LVH cases

Clinical characteristics for all LVH cases and non-LVH cases are summarised in the table below.

Variable	LVH cases	Non-LVH cases	Significance, p=
Ν	1139	1139	NA
Number HbA1C measures (SD)	27.33 (13.94)	23.90 (12.01)	<0.01
Time period HbA1C measured, yrs (SD)	9.07 (3.96)	8.65 (4.15)	0.01
Age, yrs (SD) at diag	59.96 (10.70)	60.06 (10.65)	0.81
Number of males (%)	630 (55.31)	630 (55.31)	1.00
Duration T2DM, yrs (SD)	11.25 (6.42)	11.19 (6.39)	0.83
Frequency CAD (%)	598 (53.01)	196 (17.56)	<0.01
SBP, mmHg (SD)	138.20 (21.54)	140.47 (17.37)	<0.01
DBP, mmHg (SD)	72.40 (11.91)	76.38 (9.94)	<0.01
BMI, kg/m² (SD)	31.06 (5.85)	29.06 (5.32)	<0.01
Height, m (SD)	1.67 (0.10)	1.67 (0.10)	0.10
Creatinine, umol/L (SD)	110.76 (62.92)	91.36 (21.70)	<0.01
Weighted mean HbA1C % (SD)	7.55 (1.36)	7.38 (1.39)	<0.01
Insulin at LVH diagnosis (%)	358 (31.43)	189 (16.59)	<0.01
SUs at LVH diagnosis (%)	363 (31.87)	391 (34.33)	0.21
Metformin at study enrolment (%)	425 (37.31)	475 (41.70)	0.03
TZDs at study enrolment (%)	112 (9.83)	102 (8.96)	0.47
Diet control at LVH diagnosis (%)	215 (18.88)	341 (29.94)	<0.01

Table 4.1.1: Clinical characteristics of LVH cases and non-LVH controls, nested case-control study

The matching process was deemed successful as there were equal numbers of males and females in each group and there was no significant difference in age at diabetes diagnosis or duration of diabetes between the 2 groups.
There was a significant association between development of LVH and increasing number of HbA1C measures, time period over which measures were taken, SBP, DBP, BMI, creatinine and weighted mean HbA1C. There was also a significant association between history of CAD, baseline insulin use and LVH. Metformin and diet-control appeared to be protective according to baseline association testing. These covariates were taken forward for use in the logistic regression model for the nested case-control study.

4.1.3 Independent risk factors for LVH development in T2DM: nested case-control study

Conditional logistic regression modelling showed CAD, BMI, creatinine and weighted mean HbA1C were significant independent predictors of LVH development. In this model, weighted mean HbA1C was categorised into 6 groups: <6%, >=6 to 7%, >=7 to 8%, >=8 to 9%, >=9 to 10% and greater than or equal to 10%. Weighted mean HbA1C >=6 to 7% was taken as the reference range. Weighted mean HbA1C >=8 to 9% and >=9 to 10% were associated with increased risk of LVH development compared to the reference range (table 4.1.2).

Whilst BMI and creatinine remained independent predictors of LVH irrespective of CAD status, glycaemic control was less important and only weighted mean HbA1C >=7 to 8% was associated with increased risk of LVH both in the group of individuals with CAD and the CAD-free group.

Variable	OR	95% CI	P value
CAD	7.68	5.80-10.17	<0.01
SBP	1.00	0.99-1.00	0.17
BMI, kg/m2	1.08	1.05-1.10	<0.01
Creatinine, umol/L	1.21	1.15-1.27	<0.01
M_HbA1C <6 %	1.23	0.81-1.85	0.33
M_HbA1C >=6-7%	1.00	1.00-1.00	NA (ref)
M _HbA1C >=7-8%	1.25	0.94-1.65	0.13
M_HbA1C >=8-9%	1.60	1.14-2.26	<0.01
M_HbA1C >=9-10%	1.64	1.02-2.66	0.04
M_HbA1C >=10%	1.04	0.56-1.95	0.90

Table 4.1.2: Independent predictors of LVH in T2DM according to logistic regression modelling

4.1.4 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with respect to LVH

Proportional hazard regression analysis showed the hazard ratio of developing LVH was significantly increased with weighted mean HbA1C below 6% and above or equal to 8% as shown in Figure 4.1.2 and Table 4.1.3. Hazard ratio increased significantly with HbA1C greater than 8%. However, weighted mean HbA1C below 6% was associated with greater risk of HF development than weighted mean HbA1C >=8 to 9% (HbA1C below 6% HR 2.0, 95% Cl 1.6-2.4, p=1.4x10⁻⁹, HbA1C >=8 to 9% HR 1.2, 95% Cl 1.2-1.5, p=0.02).

Age, sex, duration of diabetes, history of CAD, BMI, creatinine category, SBP and DBP were all independent predictors of HF development in T2DM according to the proportional hazard regression model (Table 4.1.3).

Figure 4.1.2: Relationship between weighted mean glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1C) and the development of LVH in type 2 diabetes, including age, duration of diabetes, gender, history of coronary artery disease, body mass index, creatinine, systolic and diastolic blood pressure as covariates



Table 1 1 2. Dick of IVU dovelo	mmont accordated with	a vanving lovals of g	veramic control
TADIE 4.1.3. NISK ULEVIT UEVEIU	uneni associateu witi	I VALVILLE LEVELS UL EL	
		- / 0 0	

Variable	Hazard ratio	95% CI	P value
Age, years	1.04	1.03-1.05	6.05x10 ⁻³⁰
Gender	0.85	0.76-0.97	0.01
Duration diabetes, years	1.01	1.00-1.02	0.01
SBP, mmHg	1.01	1.00-1.01	1.83x10 ⁻⁴
DBP, mmHg	0.99	0.98-0.99	2.32x10 ⁻⁴
CAD	3.60	3.19-4.06	2.97x10 ⁻⁹⁷
BMI, kg/m²	1.06	1.04-1.07	5.21x10 ⁻²³
Creatinine category, umol/L	1.08	1.06-1.11	4.57x10 ⁻¹⁰
Weighted mean HbA1C <6%	1.95	1.57-2.43	1.45x10 ⁻⁹
Weighted mean HbA1C >=6-7%	1.00	1.00-1.00	NA (reference)
Weighted mean HbA1C >=7-8%	1.10	0.94-1.28	0.23
Weighted mean HbA1C >=8-9%	1.25	1.04-1.50	0.02
Weighted mean HbA1C >=9-10%	1.64	1.29-2.09	5.97x10 ⁻⁵
Weighted mean HbA1C >=10%	1.80	1.32-2.44	1.89x10 ⁻⁴

CI=confidence interval, P-value=probability value, HbA1C= glycosylated haemoglobin, yrs=years, T2DM=type 2 diabetes mellitus, CAD =coronary artery disease, SBP=systolic blood pressure, DBP=diastolic blood pressure, BMI=body mass index, SU=sulphonylurea, TZD=thiazolidinedione, ref=reference group

4.1.5 Role of CAD in the relationship between glycaemic control and incident LVH

Proportional hazard regression analysis was repeated excluding CAD from the list of covariates to investigate whether the relationship between LVH and glycaemic control was driven by an association between CAD and glycaemic control. There was a significant increase in the risk of developing LVH with weighted mean HbA1C <6% in both models (HR 1.95 with the inclusion of CAD, HR 2.14 when CAD was not taken into account). There was a significant increase in the risk of LVH development with all weighted mean HbA1C categories greater than or equal to 8% (HbA1C >=8 to 9% HR 1.4, 95% CI 1.2-1.7, HbA1C >=9 to 10% HR 1.8, 95% CI 1.4-2.3, HbA1C >=10% HR 2.3, 95% CI 1.7-3.1) whereas weighted mean HbA1C >=7 to 8% was not associated with significantly increased risk of LVH development in this CAD-free model (HR 1.1, 95% CI 0.9-1.3). These results are summarised in Table 4.7b. Overall, exclusion of CAD from the list of covariates did not make a difference to the pattern seen in the relationship between weighted mean HbA1C.

Table 4.1.4: Risk of LVH development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, excluding CAD from the covariates

Variable	Hazard ratio	95% CI	P-value
Age, years	1.05	1.04-1.06	9.49x10 ⁻⁴²
Gender	0.91	0.81-1.03	0.14
Duration diabetes, years	1.02	1.02-1.03	2.61x10 ⁻⁴
SBP, mmHg	1.01	1.00-1.01	1.89x10 ⁻⁵
DBP, mmHg	0.98	0.98-0.99	1.56x10 ⁻⁸
BMI, kg/m2	1.06	1.05-1.07	3.15x10 ⁻²⁹
Creatinine category, umol/L	1.12	1.09-1.14	6.47x10 ⁻¹⁸
Weighted mean HbA1C <6%	2.14	1.72-2.65	6.52x10 ⁻¹²
Weighted mean HbA1C >=6-7%	1.00	1.00-1.00	NA (ref)
Weighted mean HbA1C >=7-8%	1.09	0.93-1.27	0.28
Weighted mean HbA1C >=8-9%	1.41	1.18-1.69	1.92x10 ⁻⁴
Weighted mean HbA1C >=9-10%	1.81	1.42-2.31	1.57x10 ⁻⁶
Weighted mean HbA1C >=10%	2.27	1.67-3.08	1.60x10 ⁻⁷

CI=confidence interval, P-value=probability value, LVH=left ventricular hypertrophy, CAD=coronary artery disease, SBP=systolic blood pressure, DBP=diastolic blood pressure, BMI=body mass index, HbA1C=glycosylated haemoglobin, CI=confidence interval, p-value= probability value occurring by chance.

4.1.6 Role of anti-hyperglycaemic agents in the relationship between glycaemic control and LVH development

Prescription of anti-hyperglycaemic medications also differed significantly in the LVH cases relative to non-LVH patients. Insulin prescribing rates were significantly greater in cases relative to non-LVH cases, metformin prescribing rates were significantly lower in LVH cases relative to non-LVH cases and fewer LVH cases were within the diet-control category compared to non-LVH cases. There was no significant difference in prescribing rates for sulphonylureas and TZDs in LVH cases compared to non-LVH cases (Table 4.1.1).

The proportional hazard regression analysis was repeated with the inclusion of the 'treatment' category, defined as described above. Weighted mean HbA1C <6% was still associated with increased risk of LVH development (HR 2.2, 95% CI 1.7-2.7). However, weighted mean HbA1C <=8 to 9% no longer conveyed increased risk of LVH development when medications at entry into study were accounted for (HR 1.1, 95% CI 0.9-1.3).

Weighted mean HbA1C>= 9% was still associated with significantly increased risk of HF development (weighted mean HbA1C>=9 to 10% HR 1.4, 95% Cl 1.1-1.8, weighted mean HbA1C>=10% HR 1.5, 95% Cl 1.1-2.1). These results are summarized in table 4.1.5. A significantly greater proportion of the LVH cases were taking insulin and/or sulphonylureas than non-LVH cases across all levels of weighted mean HbA1C (table 4.1.6).

Table 4.1.5: Risk of LVH development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, taking baseline anti-hyperglycaemic medications into account

Variable	Hazard ratio	95% CI	P-value
Age, years	1.04	1.04-1.05	6.73x10 ⁻³²
Gender	0.85	0.75-0.96	0.01
Duration diabetes, years	1.01	1.00-1.02	0.34
SBP, mmHg	1.01	1.00-1.01	3.63x10 ⁻⁴
DBP, mmHg	0.85	0.75-0.96	5.57x10 ⁻⁴
BMI, kg/m2	1.08	1.04-1.07	1.21x10 ⁻²¹
Creatinine category, umol/L	1.08	1.05-1.11	5.81x10 ⁻⁹
CAD	3.62	3.21-4.08	2.37x10 ⁻⁹⁷
Weighted mean HbA1C <6%	2.17	1.74-2.71	7.92x10 ⁻¹²
Weighted mean HbA1C >=6-7%	1.00	1.00-1.00	NA (ref)
Weighted mean HbA1C >=7-8%	0.98	0.84-1.16	0.85
Weighted mean HbA1C >=8-9%	1.07	0.88-1.31	0.48
Weighted mean HbA1C >=9-10%	1.38	1.07-1.79	0.01
Weighted mean HbA1C >=10%	1.53	1.11-2.10	0.01
Insulin therapy	1.63	1.30-2.05	2.74x10 ⁻⁵
Sulphonylureas	1.56	1.30-1.87	2.22x10 ⁻⁶
Thiazolidinediones	2.90	1.07-7.83	0.04
Metformin	1.42	1.17-1.73	4.28x10 ⁻⁴
Diet control (ref)	1.00	1.00-1.00	NA (ref)

Cl=confidence interval, P-value=probability value, HbA1C= glycosylated haemoglobin, CAD =coronary artery disease, SBP=systolic blood pressure, DBP=diastolic blood pressure, BMI=body mass index, ref=reference group

Table 4.1.6: Frequency distribution of prescribed therapy at study enrolment and LVH cases according to glycaemic control represented by weighted mean HbA1C range

Glycaemic control group	LVH status	Frequency insulin +/or SUs (%)	Frequency metformin (%)	Frequency TZDs (%)
Weighted mean	LVH cases	31 (27.0)	15 (13.0)	2 (1.7)
HbA1C<6%	Non-LVH cases	25 (9.6)	26 (9.9)	1 (0.38)
	P-value	<0.01	0.4	NA
Weighted mean	LVH cases	351 (53.1)	161 (23.9)	1 (0.2)
HbA1C 6-8%	Non-LVH cases	982 (39.2)	782 (30.3)	10 (0.4)
	P-value	<0.01	<0.01	NA
Weighted mean	LVH cases	318 (86.4)	30 (8.0)	1 (0.3)
HbA1C >=8%	Non-LVH cases	644 (76.9)	114 (13.3)	2 (0.2)
	P-value	<0.01	0.01	NA

NA used where figures too small to allow statistically valid testing.

HbA1C=glycosylated haemoglobin, SU= sulphonylurea, TZD=thiazolidinedione, p-value=probability C and LVH development.

4.1.7 Genotype association: previously characterised SNPs associated with LVH in our cohort

Further factors influencing the presence of LVH in T2DM were also investigated. The influence of genetic factors and how these interact with glycaemic control were explored and the results are given below.

4.1.7.1 LVH-cases and non-LVH controls with available genotypic data

Fewer LVH cases and non-LVH controls were available for the genotypic association replication study, as not all individuals were genotyped. Hence, the numbers of individuals involved in this study are summarised in the flow chart below. Table 4.1.7 shows the comparison between baseline characteristics in LVH- cases and non-LVH controls with available genotypic data according to multiple logistic regression analysis. Advancing age, decreasing diastolic blood pressure, decreasing height, increasing weight and increasing HbA1C were associated with significantly increased odds ratio (OR) for LVH.

Variable: mean (SD)	Cases (n=973) mean (SD)	Controls (n=1443) mean (SD)	P value	OR	95% CI
Male %	52.62	58.90	0.94	1.01	0.78-1.30
Age years	66.90 (9.83)	62.15 (11.10)	<0.01	1.05	1.04-1.06
SBP mmHg	140.76 (23.07)	139.85(17.47)	0.07	1.01	1.00-1.01
DBP mmHg	75.09 (13.48)	78.19 (9.97)	<0.01	0.98	0.97-0.99
Height m	1.66 (0.09)	1.68 (0.10)	<0.01	0.04	0.01-0.15
Weight kg	85.85 (18.76)	84.00 (17.10)	<0.01	1.03	1.02-1.03
HbA1C %	7.70 (1.11)	7.63 (1.08)	<0.01	1.20	1.11-1.31

Table 4.1.7: Comparison of baseline characteristics in LVH cases versus non-LVH controls according to multiple logistic regression analysis

Figure 4.1.3: Flow chart summarising numbers of LVH cases and non-LVH controls taking into account the availability of genotypic data



There were 356 (15%) deaths during the median follow up period of 5.62 years (SD 2.64). Mortality in cases of LVH exceeded that of controls as shown in figure 4.1.4.1. There was a statistically significant difference in mortality comparing controls and cases (p<0.01, hazard ratio 2.44, 95% CI 1.93-3.09). There was also significantly increased risk in LVH cases for composite outcome of death or hospitalization due to cardiovascular disease according to proportional hazard regression analysis (p<0.01, hazard ratio 2.18, 95% CI 1.89-2.52) as shown figure 4.1.4.2.

Figure 4.1.4: Variation in survival time in cases of LVH versus non-LVH controls.

4.1.4.1 – Kaplan-Meier plot illustrating difference in years to death in LVH cases versus non-LVH controls.

4.1.4.2- Kaplan-Meier plot illustrating difference in years to death or hospitalization due to cardiovascular disease in LVH cases versus non-LVH controls.

Figure 4.1.4.1

Figure 4.1.4.2



4.1.7.2 Previously characterised SNPs associated with LVH

Six out of nine SNPs previously associated with LVH through GWAS had beta values showing the same directionality in our study. Rs17132261 showed a significant association with case-control status and had a minor allele frequency (MAF) of 0.01 in our population. Our results showed every copy of the 'T' allele was associated with increased risk of LVH (table 10, p=0.02, beta 0.73, SE 0.31, OR 2.03, 95%CI 1.10-3.73). Rs2292462 showed a significant association with LVH and had a MAF of 0.45 in our population. Every copy of the 'G' allele was associated with decreased risk of LVH (table 10, p=2.26 x10-3, beta -0.20, SE 0.06, OR 0.82, 95% CI 0.73-0.93).

Repeating the logistic regression analysis following division of cases into those with increased LV mass and those with concentric/eccentric remodelling showed rs17132261 remained significant (LV mass phenotype p=0.01, increased wall thickness phenotype p=0.01) as did rs2292462 (LV mass phenotype p<0.01, increased wall thickness phenotype p<0.01).

Rs17132261 variation did not predict mortality and morbidity, (figure 4.1.5.1, table 4.1.7) but each copy of the 'G' allele variant in rs2292462 showed a protective, dose-dependent relationship with cardiovascular hospitalization and mortality, which was attenuated but remained significant when covariates were accounted for (figure 4.1.5.2, table 4.1.7).

Results from the meta-analyses are also displayed in table 4.1.7. A total of 15 028 individuals were analysed for the SNPs published by Vasan *et al* (105) and 24 449 individuals were analysed for the SNPs published by Shah *et al* (106). Investigators within both of these studies sought to identify SNPs associated with LVH, whilst Vasan and colleagues looked at echocardiographically defined LVH, Shah and colleagues looked at electrocardiographically defined LVH. Notably, the combined p-values for rs7910620, rs17132261, rs2292462 and rs4966014 exceeded the threshold for genome wide significance (p<5.0x10⁻⁸). Although not significant in our study alone the significance for

rs4966014 had been previously published as 8×10^{-7} and achieved genome wide significance (1.35 $\times 10^{-8}$) after the addition of our data. This SNP lies within an intron of the IGF1R gene.

4.1.7.3 Genotypic score calculation and association with LVH

Logistic regression analysis showed genotypic scoring based on gene score 1 did not predict LVH. However, gene scores 2 and 3 were significant predictors of LVH, as summarised in table 4.1.8.

SNP	Initially published by	E A	EAF	Hardy- Weinberg equilibriu m	Published beta	Published P value	Study beta	Study SE	Study p values	Meta-p value	Effect on <mark>LVH</mark> P value (SE)	Effect on <mark>LVH</mark> Hazard ratio	Effect on LVH 95% Cls for HR
rs17568359	Vasan et al	С	0.06	0.35	-4.78	8.53x10 ⁻⁸	-0.16	0.13	0.23	1.75x10 ⁻⁶	0.29 (0.10)	0.90	0.73- 1.10
rs7565161	Vasan et al	A	0.44	0.75	-3.01	3.19x10 ⁻⁷	0.09	0.07	0.19	5.35x10 ⁻⁶	0.69 (0.06)	0.98	0.87- 1.09
rs7910620	Vasan et al	G	0.01	1.00	0.17	5.62x10 ⁻⁹	-0.44	0.42	0.29	1.45x10 ⁻⁸	0.74 (0.58)	0.83	0.27- 2.61
rs2059238	Vasan et al	A	0.23	0.31	-0.02	1.89x10 ⁻⁷	-0.06	0.07	0.45	5.07x10 ⁻⁷	0.56 (0.05)	1.03	0.93- 1.15
rs17132261	Vasan et al	Т	0.01	1.00	0.06	3.36x10 ⁻⁷	0.73	0.31	0.02	1.03x10 ⁻⁸	0.54 (0.20)	1.13	0.76- 1.68
rs6797133	Shah et al	A	0.39	0.66	-3.7	1.2x10 ⁻⁷	3.73x10 ⁻³	0.06	0.95	2.42x10 ⁻⁷	0.74 (0.05)	1.02	0.92- 1.12
rs2292462	Shah et al	G	0.45	0.06	-218.6	3.2x10 ⁻⁹	-0.20	0.06	2.26x10 ⁻³	5.86x10 ⁻¹⁰	<0.01 (0.05)	0.87	0.80- 0.96
rs4966014	Shah et al	С	0.31	0.33	-181.8	1.3x10 ⁻⁷	-0.02	0.07	0.74	3.35x10 ⁻⁸	0.13 (0.06)	0.92	0.82- 1.03
rs2290893	Shah et al	G	0.64	0.77	-201.4	3.7x10 ⁻⁸	-1.57x10 ⁻³	0.06	0.98	1.70x10 ⁻⁷	0.17 (0.05)	0.94	0.85- 1.03

Table 4.1.8: Comparison between previously published SNP results and results obtained in this study

Figure 4.1.5.1 – Kaplan-Meier showing difference in years to death or hospitalization due to cardiovascular disease in carriers of the 'T' variant of rs17132261 (T_1) versus non-carriers (T_0). 4.1.5.2 – Kaplan – Meier showing how difference in years to death or hospitalization due to cardiovascular disease varies between carriers of the 'G' variant of rs2292462 (G_1), homozygotes for the 'G' variant (G_2) and non-carriers (G_0).







Table 4.1.9: Association between gene scoring based on previously published SNPs and LVH

Gene score	OR	95% Confidence intervals	P value
Vasan SNPs	1.01	0.94-1.07	0.87
Shah SNPs	1.10	1.03-1.17	4.52x10 ⁻³
Vasan-Shah SNPs	1.09	1.03-1.16	6.24x10 ⁻³

4.2: HF in T2DM

The data below show the results from the analyses looking at factors influencing development of HF in T2DM. This allows comparison between the relationships between glycaemic control and the development of HF in T2DM and glycaemic control and LVH.

4.2.1 Frequencies of HF-cases and non-HF cases

A total of 701 (8.07%) out of the 8 683 individuals developed HF during the study period (mean 5.53 years, standard deviation 2.81 years, figure 4.2.1). These comprised 196 cases of HF based on echocardiography data and 505 based on previous hospital admission with HF. Of the 505 cases classed as having HF based on hospital admission, 216 subsequently had an echocardiogram showing LV systolic impairment. Thus, a total of 412 (59%) cases had HF with reduced ejection fraction. Of the remaining 289 patients, 217 (31%) had preserved ejection fraction on echocardiography, the echocardiographers were unable to comment on LV function in 16 cases (2%) and 56 HF cases (8%) did not undergo echocardiography. Out of the 701 individuals with HF and T2DM, 683 HF cases could be matched to non-HF controls for age within 2 years, date of diabetes diagnosis within 2 years and gender. These figures are summarized in the flow chart below:



Figure 4.2.1 shows the identification of HF-cases and non-HF cases for the nested case-control study and

prospective cohort study

4.2.2 Clinical characteristics: HF cases and non-HF controls nested case-control study

Clinical characteristics for all individuals who developed HF and those who did not develop HF are

summarised in the table below:

Variable	HF cases	Controls	Significance, p=
Ν	683	683	NA
Number HbA1C measures (SD)	27.33 (15.11)	24.33 (12.32)	<0.01
Time period HbA1C measured, yrs (SD)	3.77 (2.80)	3.01 (3.93)	<0.01
Age T2DM diagnosis, yrs (SD)	62.40 (10.83)	62.47 (10.76)	NA
% Males	391 (57.25)	391 (57.25)	NA
Duration T2DM, yrs (SD)	11.88(6.97)	11.74 (6.88)	NA
% CAD	463 (67.79)	159 (23.35)	<0.01
SBP, mmHg (SD)	142.97 (21.36)	140.93 (17.47)	0.05
BMI, kg/m ² (SD)	31.53 (5.94)	28.64 (4.91)	<0.01
creatinine, umol/L (SD)	108.23 (48.19)	95.40 (23.94)	<0.01
Weighted mean HbA1C % (SD)	7.67 (1.64)	7.05 (2.85)	<0.01
% Insulin at HF diagnosis	264 (38.65)	106 (15.57)	<0.01
% SUs at HF diagnosis	203 (29.72)	231 (33.92)	0.10
% Metformin at HF diagnosis	194 (28.40)	251 (36.86)	<0.01
% TZD at HF diagnosis	44 (6.44)	53 (7.78)	0.34
% Diet control at HF diagnosis	124 (18.16)	233 (34.21)	<0.01

Table 4.2.1: Clinical characteristics of HF cases and non-HF controls, nested case-control study

The matching process was deemed successful as there were equal numbers of males and females in each group and there was no significant difference in age at diabetes diagnosis or duration of diabetes between the 2 groups. There was a significant association between HF development and the following variables: increasing number of HbA1C measures, SBP, BMI, creatinine and weighted mean HbA1C. There was also a significant association between HF development and a history of CAD and baseline insulin therapy. These covariates were taken forward for use in the logistic regression model.

There were significant differences between HF-cases and those who did not develop HF for all variables examined except prescription of TZDs at study enrolment. All significant variables were taken forward for use as covariates in subsequent regression modelling of HF.

4.2.3 Independent risk factors for HF development in T2DM: nested case-control study

Conditional logistic regression modelling showed CAD, BMI, creatinine and weighted mean HbA1C were significant independent predictors of HF development. In this model, weighted mean HbA1C was categorised into 6 groups: <6%, >=6 to 7%, >=7 to 8%, >=8 to 9%, >=9 to 10% and greater than or equal to 10%. Weighted mean HbA1C >=6-7% was taken as the reference range. Weighted mean HbA1C >=8% was associated with increased risk of HF development compared to the reference range (table 4.2.2). The frequency of cases and controls within the different weighted mean HbA1C categories is shown in table 4.2.6.

Simple logistic regression modelling in the group of patients with CAD and in the group of patients without CAD showed that BMI, creatinine and weighted mean HbA1C were associated with HF in T2DM irrespective of CAD status (table 4.2.4). Weighted mean HbA1C >=7 to 8%, >=8 to 9% and >=10% were associated with increased risk of HF development in those with CAD. Weighted mean HbA1C>=8% was associated with increased risk of HF development in those without CAD.

Variable	OR	95% CI	P value
CAD	6.81	4.92-9.42	4.43x10 ⁻³¹
SBP	1.00	1.00-1.01	0.34
BMI, kg/m ²	1.11	1.07-1.14	5.88X10 ⁻¹¹
Creatinine, umol/L	1.16	1.09-1.23	6.99X10 ⁻⁵
M_HbA1C <6 %	0.89	0.53-1.49	0.65
M_HbA1C >=6-7%	1.00	NA (ref)	NA (ref)
M_HbA1C >=7-8%	1.33	0.92-1.93	0.13
M_HbA1C >=8-9%	1.80	1.15-2.83	0.01
M_HbA1C >=9-10%	2.54	1.30-4.99	0.01
M_HbA1C >=10%	2.90	1.23-6.85	0.01

Table 4.2.2: Independent predictors of HF in T2DM according to logistic regression modelling

4.2.4 Proportional hazard regression analysis: optimum range for glycaemic control with respect to HF

Proportional hazard regression analysis showed the hazard ratio of developing HF was significantly increased with weighted mean HbA1C below 6% and above or equal to 8% as shown in Figure 4.2.2 and Table 4.2.3. Hazard ratio increased significantly with HbA1C greater than or equal to 8%. However, weighted mean HbA1C below 6% was associated with greater risk of HF development than weighted mean HbA1C >=8 to 9% (HbA1C below 6% HR 2.2, 95% Cl 1.6-2.9, p=1.4x10⁻⁷, HbA1C >=8 to 9% HR 1.6, 95% Cl 1.2-2.0, p=3.2x10⁻⁴).

Age, duration of diabetes, history of CAD, BMI, creatinine category and SBP were all independent predictors of HF development in T2DM according to the proportional hazard regression model (Table 4.2.3).

Figure 4.2.2: Relationship between weighted mean glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1C) and the development of heart failure in type 2 diabetes, including age, duration of diabetes, gender, history of coronary artery disease, body mass index, creatinine, systolic and diastolic blood pressure as covariates



Variable	Hazard ratio	95% CI	P value
Age at enrolment, yrs	1.1	1.1-1.1	7.2x10 ⁻⁵³
Duration T2DM, yrs	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.06
Number of HbA1C measures	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.1
Gender	1.0	0.9-1.2	0.7
CAD	5.1	4.3-6.0	1.3x10 ⁻⁸⁴
BMI, kg/m2	1.1	1.1-1.1	1.5x10 ⁻³³
Creatinine category, umol/L	1.1	1.1-1.2	9.7x10 ⁻¹⁷
SBP, mmHg	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.02
DBP, mmHg	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.02
Weighted mean HbA1C <6%	2.2	1.7-2.9	5.4x10 ⁻⁸
Weighted mean HbA1C >=6-7%	1.0	1.00-1.0	NA (ref)
Weighted mean HbA1C >=7-8%	1.2	1.0-1.5	0.1
Weighted mean HbA1C >=8-9%	1.6	1.2-2.0	2.9x10 ⁻⁴
Weighted mean HbA1C >=9-10%	2.5	1.8-3.4	1.2x10 ⁻⁸
Weighted mean HbA1C >=10%	5.0	3.6-7.0	5.9x10 ⁻²¹

Table 4.2.3: Risk of heart failure development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control

Cl=confidence interval, P-value=probability value, HbA1C= glycosylated haemoglobin, yrs=years, T2DM=type 2 diabetes mellitus, CAD =coronary artery disease, SBP=systolic blood pressure, DBP=diastolic blood pressure, BMI=body mass index, SU=sulphonylurea, TZD=thiazolidinedione, ref=reference group

4.2.5 Role of CAD in the relationship between glycaemic control and incident HF

Proportional hazard regression analysis was repeated excluding CAD from the list of covariates to investigate whether the relationship between HF and glycaemic control was driven by an association between CAD and glycaemic control. There was a significant increase in the risk of developing HF with weighted mean HbA1C <6% in both models (HR 2.2 with the inclusion of CAD, HR 2.5 when CAD was not taken into account). There was a significant increase in the risk of HF development with all

weighted mean HbA1C categories greater than or equal to 7% (HbA1C >=7 to 8% HR 1.2, 95% CI 1.0-1.5, HbA1C >=8 to 9%

HR 1.8, 95% CI 1.4-2.3, HbA1C >=9 to 10% HR 3.0, 95% CI 2.2-4.1, HbA1C >=10% HR 6.6, 95% CI 4.7-9.2) whereas weighted mean HbA1C >=7 to 8% was not associated with significantly increased risk of HF development when CAD was included in the model (HR 1.2, 95% CI 0.9-1.4). These results are summarised in table 4.5b. Overall, exclusion of CAD from the list of covariates did not make a difference to the pattern seen in the relationship between weighted mean HbA1C and HF development. This mirrors the findings in the above analysis where LVH was modelled with the inclusion and exclusion of CAD.

Variable	Hazard ratio	95% CI	P-value
Age at enrolment, yrs	1.1	1.1-1.1	4.9x10 ⁻⁷⁰
Duration T2DM, yrs	1.0	1.0-1.0	5.4x10 ⁻³
Number of HbA1C measures	1.0	1.0-1.0	4.5x10 ⁻⁴
Gender	0.9	0.8-1.1	0.5
CAD	NA	NA	NA
BMI, kg/m2	1.1	1.1-1.1	1.3x10 ⁻³⁹
Creatinine category, umol/L	1.1	1.1-1.2	4.1x10 ⁻¹⁸
SBP, mmHg	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.01
DBP, mmHg	1.0	1.0-1.0	2.9x10 ⁻⁵
Weighted mean HbA1C <6%	2.5	1.9-3.3	3.0x10 ⁻¹⁰
Weighted mean HbA1C >=6-7%	1.0	1.0-1.0	NA (ref)
Weighted mean HbA1C >=7-8%	1.2	1.0-1.5	0.04
Weighted mean HbA1C >=8-9%	1.8	1.4-2.3	1.8x10 ⁻⁶
Weighted mean HbA1C >=9-10%	2.9	2.1-4.0	1.2x10 ⁻¹¹
Weighted mean HbA1C >=10%	6.8	4.9-9.6	3.8x10 ⁻²⁹

Table 4.2.4: Risk of HF development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, excluding

CAD from the covariates

CI=confidence interval, P-value=probability value, HbA1C= glycosylated haemoglobin, yrs=years, T2DM=type 2 diabetes mellitus, CAD =coronary artery disease

4.2.6 Role of anti-hyperglycaemic agents in the relationship between glycaemic control and incident HF

Prescription of anti-hyperglycaemic medications also differed significantly in the HF cases relative to non-HF patients. There were significant differences in prescribing rates for insulin, sulphonylureas, metformin and in those categorised as diet-control. Prescriptions of insulin and sulphonylureas were higher in patients who developed HF whilst metformin prescriptions and diet-control were higher in patients without HF compared to HF cases.

The proportional hazard regression analysis was repeated with the inclusion of the 'treatment' category, defined as described above. Weighted mean HbA1C <6% was still associated with HF development (HR 2.5, 95% CI 1.8-3.3). However, weighted mean HbA1C >=8-9% no longer conveyed increased risk of HF development when medications at entry into study were accounted for (HR 1.2, 95% CI 0.9-1.5).

Weighted mean HbA1C> =9% was still associated with significantly increased risk of HF development (weighted mean HbA1C >=9 to 10% HR 1.7, 95% Cl 1.2-2.4, weighted mean HbA1C>=10% HR 3.5, 95% Cl 2.4-5.0). These results are summarized in table 4.5c. A significantly greater proportion of the HF cases were taking insulin and/or sulphonylureas than non-HF cases across all levels of weighted mean HbA1C (table 4.2.5).

baseline anti-hyperglycaemic medications into account						
Variable	Hazard ratio	95% CI	P value			
Age at enrolment, yrs	1.1	1.1-1.1	5.5x10 ⁻⁵⁵			
Duration T2DM, yrs	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.7			

Table 4.2.5: Risk of HF development associated with varying levels of glycaemic control, taking

Age at enrolment, yrs	1.1	1.1-1.1	5.5x10 ⁻⁵⁵
Duration T2DM, yrs	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.7
Number of HbA1C measures	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.5
Gender	1.0	0.9-1.2	0.8
CAD	5.1	4.3-6.0	6.7x10 ⁻⁸⁴
BMI, kg/m2	1.1	1.1-1.1	1.1x10 ⁻²⁹
Creatinine category, umol/L	1.1	1.1-1.2	2.7x10 ⁻¹⁶
SBP, mmHg	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.03
DBP, mmHg	1.0	1.0-1.0	0.04
Weighted mean HbA1C <6%	2.5	1.8-3.3	6.7x10 ⁻¹⁰
Weighted mean HbA1C >=6-7%	1.0	1.0-1.0	NA (ref)
Weighted mean HbA1C >=7-8%	1.0	0.8-1.2	0.9
Weighted mean HbA1C >=8-9%	1.2	0.9-1.5	0.2
Weighted mean HbA1C >=9-10%	1.7	1.2-2.4	1.5x10 ⁻³
Weighted mean HbA1C >=10%	3.5	2.4-5.0	1.3x10 ⁻¹¹
Insulin therapy	2.4	1.8-3.3	9.5x10 ⁻⁹
Sulphonylureas	1.8	1.4-2.4	3.7x10 ⁻⁶
Metformin	1.6	1.2-2.2	7.1x10 ⁻⁴
Thiazolidinediones	2.3	1.3-3.9	2.9x10 ⁻³
Diet control (ref)	1.0	1.0-1.0	NA (ref)

CI=confidence interval, P-value=probability value, HbA1C= glycosylated haemoglobin, yrs=years, T2DM=type 2 diabetes mellitus, CAD =coronary artery disease, SBP=systolic blood pressure, DBP=diastolic blood pressure, BMI=body mass index, SU=sulphonylurea, TZD=thiazolidinedione, ref=reference group

Table 4.2.6: Frequency distribution of prescribed therapy at study enrolment and HF cases according to glycaemic control represented by weighted mean HbA1C range

Glycaemic control	HF status	Frequency insulin	Frequency	Frequency TZDs
group		+/or SUs (%)	metformin (%)	(%)
Weighted mean	HF cases	18/68 (26.5)	6/68 (8.8)	1/68 (1.5)
HbA1C<6%	Non-HF cases	27/377 (7.2)	33/377 (8.8)	3/377 (0.8)
	P value	<0.01	0.2	NA
Weighted mean	HF cases	222/387 (57.4)	81/387 (20.9)	8/387 (2.1)
HbA1C >=6-8%	Non-HF cases	1258/3417 (36.8)	999/3417 (29.2)	100/3417 (2.9)
	P value	<0.01	<0.01	0.3
Weighted mean	HF cases	215/246 (87.4)	15/246 (6.1)	7/246 (2.9)
HbA1C >=8%	Non-HF cases	808/1069 (75.6)	141/1069 (13.2)	27/1069 (2.5)
	P value	<0.01	<0.01	0.7

HbA1C=glycosylated haemoglobin, HF=heart failure, TZD=thiazolidinedione

4.2.7 HbA1c variability and incident HF

Intra-individual mean (HbA1c-MEAN) and its adjusted standard deviation (HbA1c-SD) were included in the proportional hazard model as above. HbA1c variability (HbA1c-SD) was independently and significantly associated with incident HF (HR=0.801 CI 0.74-0.85, P-value<0.0001), with less variability in HbA1c having a protective effect on incident HF.

4.2.8 HF development and glycaemic control SNPs

Rs560887, rs7944584 and rs10885122SNPs, previously associated with fasting glucose, were associated with HF development in our cohort at the 1 in 20 significance level, as tabulated below

(table 4.2.7). No SNPs previously associated with HbA1c were associated with HF development in our cohort (table 4.2.8).

Table 4.2.7 Ass	sociation between	HF development	and SNPs linked	to glycaemic contr	ol by Dupuis <i>et</i>
al (140)					

SNP	EA	EAF	HR	95% CI	P-value	HR With	CI with	P value
						drugs	drugs	with drugs
Rs56088	Т	0.29	1.19	1.00-1.41	0.05	1.20	1.01-1.43	0.03
Rs10830963	G	0.28	0.92	0.78-1.10	0.36	0.92	0.77-1.09	0.32
Rs4607517	А	0.18	1.12	0.91-1.37	0.29	1.12	0.91-1.37	0.30
Rs2191349	G	0.44	1.08	0.92-1.27	0.35	1.08	0.92-1.28	0.34
Rs780094	Т	0.37	1.09	0.93-1.28	0.27	1.10	0.93-1.29	0.27
Rs11708067	G	0.22	1.20	1.00-1.45	0.05	1.20	0.99-1.44	0.06
Rs7944584	Т	0.26	0.83	0.69-1.00	0.05	0.82	0.69-0.99	0.04
Rs10885122	Т	0.0003	1.31	1.02-1.68	0.04	1.33	1.03-1.71	0.03
Rs174550	С	0.35	0.96	0.80-1.13	0.59	0.97	0.82-1.15	0.73
Rs11605924	А	0.48	1.10	0.94-1.29	0.23	1.11	0.95-1.30	0.20
Rs11920090	А	0.12	0.94	0.73-1.20	0.60	0.95	0.74-1.22	0.70
Rs7034200	A	0.47	0.94	0.80-1.10	0.45	0.93	0.79-1.09	0.36
Rs340874	Т	0.40	0.90	0.76-1.07	0.23	0.92	0.77-1.09	0.33
Rs11071657	G	0.37	0.95	0.79-1.14	0.58	0.95	0.79-1.14	0.60
Rs11558471	G	0.30	1.01	0.85-1.22	0.88	0.99	0.82-1.19	0.89
Rs13266634	Т	0.29	1.02	0.85-1.22	0.85	0.99	0.83-1.19	0.93
Rs4506565	Т	0.38	1.00	0.85-1.19	0.98	1.00	0.84-1.18	0.96

Table 4.2.8 Association between development of HF and SNPs associated with glycaemic control by

Soranzo et al (142)

SNP	EA	EAF	HR	95% CI	P-value	WD HR	WD CI	WD P value	
Rs2779116	No data available for this SNP								
Rs552976	A	0.34	1.13	0.96-1.34	0.14	1.16	0.98-1.37	0.08	
Rs1800562	A	0.09	0.91	0.69-1.20	0.50	0.92	0.69-1.22	0.56	
Rs1799884	Т	0.18	1.10	0.90-1.36	0.35	1.10	0.89-1.35	0.37	
Rs6474359	С	0.04	1.34	0.94-1.91	0.10	1.32	0.93-1.89	0.12	
Rs4737009	A	0.24	0.95	0.78-1.15	0.57	0.96	0.79-1.16	0.65	
Rs16926246	Т	0.11	0.98	0.75-1.30	0.91	0.93	0.70-1.23	0.61	
Rs1387153	Т	0.30	0.87	0.73-1.04	0.12	0.87	0.73-1.04	0.13	
Rs7998202	G	0.12	1.00	0.74-1.37	0.98	0.13	0.75-1.39	0.87	
Rs1046896	Т	0.31	0.86	0.73-1.02	0.09	0.85	0.72-1.01	0.07	
Rs855791	A	0.42	0.92	0.77-1.09	0.33	0.93	0.78-1.10	0.39	

Chapter 5: Discussion

5.1 Rate of HF development in the Go-DARTS cohort

Eight per cent of patients with T2DM in our cohort developed HF over 5.53 years, which compares well with the 13.2% over 9.9 years quoted by Lind and colleagues (62). HF incidence in our cohort exceeds that of the general population of Scotland, which was approximately 0.15% per year based on hospital admission data (175). This may be partially explained by the increased incidence of HF in T2DM (9,18,19). It is also possible that combining admission data and echocardiographic data leads to increased sensitivity in capturing HF development, although this is speculative at this stage.

5.2 Prevalence of LVH in the Go-DARTS cohort

Sixty-one per cent of patients with T2DM undergoing echocardiography in our cohort had LVH, which compares reasonably to previous studies quoting 71% (176). Data regarding prevalence of LVH in the general population are unavailable as, despite its association with poor prognosis (177), LVH is a largely asymptomatic phenomenon and is usually only discovered during investigations for other pathologies/ disease processes.

5.3 Glycaemic control and the development of HF and LVH in T2DM

Firstly, we have shown that weighted mean HbA1C >=8% was associated with HF development in a progressive non-linear relationship. Secondly, we found that weighted mean HbA1C<6% was also associated with an increased HF risk (HR 2.2). These findings suggest that both overly strict glycaemic control and chronic hyperglycaemia predicted HF development in our cohort, forming a J shaped relationship.

Currie *et al* (178) had previously reported a U-shaped relationship between mean HbA1C and allcause mortality and cardiac events in a retrospective study of patients with T2DM utilizing the UK General Practice Research Database (GPRD). Their analysis showed HbA1C around 7.5% was associated with the lowest all-cause mortality and lowest progression to large vessel disease events (myocardial infarction, stroke, coronary revascularisation or angina), although they did not look at the development of HF. Our study extends these findings, showing the U/J shaped relationship between mean HbA1C and cardiovascular risk extends to HF development.

Lind and colleagues used the Swedish National Diabetes Registry to explore the relationship between mean HbA1C and the risk of HF. They reported that individuals with mean HbA1C> 7% were at increased risk of developing HF. Their results showed 'no further reduction in risk' in patients with HbA1C<6% (42mmol/mol) compared with those with HbA1C 6-7%. However, they did demonstrate an increased risk of HF hospitalisation in patients with mean HbA1C<6% compared to mean HbA1C 6-7% in their model that accounted for the greatest number of confounding factors (62). These findings support a J shaped relationship between weighted mean HbA1C and risk of incident HF, in-keeping with the UK GPRD study (178) described above. This also fits with data on mortality and vascular events from recent trials investigating intensive versus standard glycaemic control and vascular outcomes (63–65).

5.3.1 Overly strict glycaemic control and the development of both LVH and HF

The J shaped relationship between weighted mean HbA1C and the risk of developing both LVH and HF merits discussion. Multiple factors may promote LVH and HF development in patients with weighted mean HbA1C<6%. Adverse 'off-target' drug effects from anti-hyperglycaemic medications may account for some of the incident HF cases in the group of individuals with weighted mean HbA1C<6%. Insulin, sulphonylureas and TZDs have been associated with the development of HF and both insulin and TZDs promote fluid retention (66,69). In our study, insulin appeared to pose the

greatest risk (HR 2.4), according to the calculated hazard ratios (Table 4.2c), followed by TZDs (HR 2.3), sulphonylureas (HR 1.8) and metformin (HR 1.6).

Insulin use was also associated with LVH development in the group of individuals with HbA1C <6%. This is consistent with findings by Jankovic *et al,* who looked at myocardial size and lipid content in 18 individuals with T2DM who were commenced on insulin therapy. They found insulin therapy was associated with increased myocardial lipid content and increased myocardial mass (179).

Other studies have shown sulphonylureas and TZDs were associated with relatively increased LV mass. Lee *et al* showed glibenclamide was associated with increased LV mass in individuals with T2DM. This was attenuated by either switching to gliclazide or adding nicorandil to glibenclamide. The authors argue this indicates the increase in LV mass associated with glibenclamide is mediated through cardiac potassium-ATP (K-ATP) channel blockade since gliclazide does not block K-ATP channels and nicorandil activates K-ATP channels. Gliclazide may also have a cardio-protective role over glibenclamide as it reduces oxidative stress (180).

Roes and colleagues investigated the role of rosiglitazone in LVH development. Subjects with the metabolic syndrome were randomized either to lifestyle interventions and rosiglitazone treatment or lifestyle intervention and placebo. Lifestyle intervention reduced LV mass as measured by cardiac MRI (CMR). This reduction in LV mass was attenuated by rosiglitazone therapy (178). This contrasts with previous work showing rosiglitazone was not associated with adverse cardiac remodelling assessed by echocardiography (181). This may reflect the greater accuracy of CMR in cardiac structural assessment.

Within the group of individuals with weighted mean HbA1C<6%, a significantly higher proportion who developed LVH and HF were taking insulin or sulphonylureas at baseline. There is some evidence in the literature to suggest metformin is protective against adverse cardiac remodelling in the form of LVH. In a mouse model of LVH created by trans-aortic constriction, sustained treatment with metformin was associated with reduced LV posterior wall thickness compared to placebo.

Interestingly, metformin was not associated with reduced posterior wall thickness in mice with a mutation in the cardiac K-ATP channel, suggesting metformin exerts its cardio-protective action at least partly through K-ATP channel activation (182).

The above evidence suggests increased prescription of insulin, sulphonylureas and TZDs may partly explain the increased incidence of HF in type 2 diabetics with weighted mean HbA1C<6%. It should be recognised that there are confounding factors: insulin therapy is usually a 'last resort' in T2DM and therefore a marker of poor control. It is possible that previous poor glycaemic control is actually responsible for the associated increased risk of LVH and HF development in those taking insulin. However, it is not possible to draw firm conclusions regarding the role of anti-hyperglycaemic agents from this observational study. A randomized control trial would be required to resolve this issue, which may not be ethically feasible given this data and the data from preceding RCTs (63–65).

The other potential mechanism may be related to hypoglycaemia, a well-established side effect of both insulin and sulphonylureas (183). Hypoglycaemia is an independent cardiovascular risk factor (184,185). Hypoglycaemia may induce oxidative stress, stimulate the neuroendocrine system including the sympathetic nervous system, cause vascular dysfunction including endothelial dysfunction and increased arterial stiffness (186) and reduce myocardial oxygen utilization efficiency (187), presenting several potential mechanisms through which symptomatic and asymptomatic episodes of hypoglycaemia may increase the risk of HF development. Pro-inflammatory and prothrombotic effects and aggravation of pre-clinical atherosclerosis may also contribute (76,78,188). The dangers of moderate hypoglycaemia are an on-going area of research.

Although HbA1C is widely accepted as the most accurate measure of medium-term glycaemic control in T2DM (189), and mean HbA1C is well-recognised as an accurate measure of long-term control (159), neither of these measures provide any information on the frequency of hypoglycaemic episodes an individual has had. It is possible individuals with lower weighted mean HbA1C actually

have swinging blood glucose levels and are more prone to hypoglycaemic events as a result of driving a low HbA1C with multiple therapeutic agents.

Glycaemic variation may play a key role in HF development in individuals with overly strict control. Monnier and colleagues showed that post-prandial hyperglycaemia was the predominant cause of HbA1C exceeding normal levels in individuals with HbA1C below the 8-9% range and pre-prandial hyperglycaemia occurs largely in individuals with HbA1C>9% (190). This implies individuals with lower HbA1C levels are likely to have glycaemic fluctuations comparable to individuals with higher HbA1C levels, as suggested by Kilpatrick (191).

Research looking at glycaemic variation has provided evidence supporting a link between increased glycaemic variation and increased cardiac risk. Di Flaviani *et al* performed continuous glucose monitoring on 26 individuals with T2DM for 24 hours, then performed an echocardiogram the following day. Analysis showed glycaemic variation was positively associated with LV mass. Increased LV mass was also associated with increase in markers of oxidative stress. The authors suggest increased oxidative stress may be the means by which increased glycaemic variation promotes LVH (192). No studies to date have looked at how glycaemic variation influences the risk of HF development in T2DM. However, the hypothesis that glycaemic variation increased the risk of HF and LVH in our cohort is purely conjecture. Further work is needed in this area; studies using continuous blood glucose monitoring or patient diaries may provide further insight.

However, since time-dependent analysis was not carried out, discussion regarding the 'off-target' effects of diabetic medications or adverse effects of hypoglycaemia must remain speculative and firm conclusions cannot be made from this study.

Alternatively, greater HF incidence in patients with lower weighted mean HbA1C may suggest this is a group of people with poor dietary intake. Although our analysis does not provide information regarding the proportion of patients categorised as 'diet-control' who ultimately took drug-therapy,

it suggests that over-use of anti-hyperglycaemic agents is unlikely to be the only mechanism driving HF development in this group.

Our findings should be considered in the wider context of the 'obesity paradox' described within cardiovascular disease (193). This phenomenon was first described by Gruberg *et al* in the context of patients with CAD undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Normal weight individuals were at increased risk of both in-hospital complications and one year post procedure mortality and relative to over-weight individuals (BMI 25-30) and obese individuals (BMI greater than 30) despite similar levels of angiographic success across the three groups. Obese individuals tended to be younger and have increased levels of hypercholesterolaemia, diabetes, hypertension and higher smoking rates than normal weight individuals (194).

As Gruberg and colleagues point out, their findings were not entirely inconsistent with previous work. The British Regional Heart Study showed a U-shaped relationship between BMI and total mortality in British males aged 40-59 years. The increased mortality in lean males was associated with increased prevalence of debilitating diseases, such as cancer, and with cigarette smoking (195). Cancer has been linked to the development of HF in multiple studies; both reduction in myocardial mass alongside generalised cancer-associated cachexia and cardio-toxic chemotherapeutic agents appear to promote this pathophysiology (196–199).

Smoking is also associated with lower BMI and appetite suppression and studies have shown increased blood glucose associated with smoking cessation (200–202). However, research into blood glucose control in smokers has yielded inconsistent results. Studies have demonstrated both greater blood glucose levels and higher HbA1C levels in smokers relative to non-smokers (203,204). Another study showed transient increase in blood glucose following cigarette smoking was more pronounced in individuals with diabetes than non-diabetics (205). Hence, the inter-relationship between smoking and BMI, appetite and blood glucose levels is still unclear. Greater smoking
prevalence in individuals with HbA1C less than 6% is unlikely to fully explain greater HF incidence observed in this group.

Very few studies have looked at whether hypoglycaemia promotes LVH development. Hyperinsulinaemic hypoglycaemia has been shown to promote LVH in paediatric patients (206,207). Research using animal models has shown that drugs blocking the action of insulin-like growth factor-1 are associated with LVH regression (208). Hence, hyperinsulinaemia appears to play a role in LVH development in T2DM. However, association between weighted mean HbA1C<6% and LVH persists even when baseline insulin use is accounted for within the model (table 4.7c). This suggests insulin therapy is not the only causative factor promoting LVH development in this group. However, the mechanism by which relative hypoglycaemia *per se* promotes LVH remains unclear.

5.3.2 Chronic hyperglycaemia promotes HF and LVH development

The progressive non-linear relationship between weighted mean HbA1c >=8% and HF development seen in this study is consistent with previous findings (60,61). Previous observational studies showed HbA1C greater than 7% was associated with increased risk of HF development, where HF was identified through hospital admission data, regardless of CAD status (60,61). These studies used a single measure of HbA1C, which has been shown to underestimate the importance of glycaemic control and calculation of the mean of serial HbA1c measures has been found to be a better predictor of the complications of diabetes (159).

This relationship does not hinge entirely on an association between CAD and glycaemic control. Weighted mean HbA1C <6% and >=8% were associated with increased risk of HF development regardless of whether CAD was accounted for in the regression model. Weighted mean HbA1C >=7-8% was associated with increased risk of HF development when CAD was excluded from the model, but had no significant effect when CAD was accounted for. This shows that although the association between CAD and hyperglycaemia may contribute to the association between glycaemic control and

HF development, glycaemic control still predicts HF development independently of CAD. This is consistent with findings in the studies described above (209).

A progressive, non-linear, positive relationship was also seen between HbA1C and presence of LVH. Weighted mean HbA1C>=8% was associated with increased LVH prevalence when drugs were not accounted for. This relationship persisted regardless of CAD status. As described above, very little research has examined the relationship between LVH development and HbA1C. However, our results are consistent with previous findings by Sato *et al* (58) who described a progressive increase in prevalence of LVH for every 1% increase in HbA1C outside the normal range (quoted as 4.1–6.4% in their study).

Multiple factors are likely to be involved in the association between chronic hyperglycaemia and both the increased incidence of HF and the increased prevalence of LVH. Sustained hyperglycaemia has been shown to up-regulate the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, increase oxidative stress (13,21,23,38,210), promote accumulation of advanced glycation end products and cause interstitial fibrosis and collagen deposition (37,39,40). Additionally, T2DM and hyperglycaemia has been shown to cause myocardial mitochondrial dysfunction, abnormal myocardial substrate metabolism, myocardial lipotoxicity and calcium handling (41,46). These pathophysiological processes are likely to contribute to the associations described above.

5.4 Other factors associated with LVH and HF development

Proportional hazard regression analyses demonstrated increasing age, BMI, creatinine, SBP, presence of CAD and weighted mean HbA1C less than 6% or greater than or equal to 8% were independent predictors of LVH and HF development. Increased DBP was also associated with the development of HF whilst it appeared to be protective against LVH.

The association between HF development in T2DM and age, BMI, creatinine, SBP and DBP and presence of CAD found is consistent with recent work (62). The association between LVH development in T2DM and BMI and renal function is also consistent with previous work (58).

These results are unsurprising given the over-lapping pathophysiology and aetiologies of HF, LVH and T2DM. As described above, multiple studies have demonstrated a link between CAD and HF in T2DM (17,32,33). Hypertension is also a long-recognised risk factor for the development of HF according to observational data from the Framingham study (211,212) and has been shown to promote left ventricular remodelling and LVH in diabetes (25). These finding were supported by later work using UKPDS trial data, where individuals with T2DM were allocated to either tight blood pressure control or standard therapy. Individuals allocated to tight blood pressure control had a significantly reduced risk of HF development (213).

In addition to CAD and hypertension, obesity and renal impairment are also well-established risk factors for LVH and HF. Obese individuals have increased total blood volume creating a high output state that leads to ventricular dilatation and eccentric hypertrophy associated with diastolic dysfunction. Systolic dysfunction may subsequently develop if increased wall stress fails 'to keep pace with' the rate of dilatation (214). Observational work has shown an association between body habitus and left ventricular mass (215) and the increased risk of HF development in obese individuals has also been confirmed in observational studies (19). The cardiovascular consequences of renal impairment, represented in this study by raised creatinine, are an important clinical consideration as cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of mortality in patients with renal failure. Renal function was shown to be an independent predictor of left ventricular mass in patients with T2DM (216). Renal impairment has also been associated with increased risk of HF development and poor outcome in individuals with established HF (217).

The results from the studies described above clearly indicate hypertension, obesity, renal impairment and CAD are important risk factors for the development of LVH and HF in diabetes. Although they are independent risk factors in this study, there is significant interplay between them.

Our results also demonstrated a link between HbA1c variability and the development of HF. Previous reports linked HbA1c variability to the risk of microvascular complications of both type 1 (83) and type 2 diabetes (218). Retrospective analyses of the DCCT (191,218) showed variation in HbA1c was an independent risk factor for the development of both diabetic retinopathy and nephropathy in individuals with type 1 diabetes. In the FinnDiane study, HbA1c variability also predicted incident cardiovascular events (85) although the link with cardiovascular events was not a consistent finding.

We examined the association of intra-individual HbA1c variability and incident HF and showed that lower variability in HbA1c had was relatively protective against incident HF. The physiological mechanisms through which HbA1c variability contributes to HF development are not known. However, increased glucose variability has been reported to have promote cell apoptosis and oxidative stress (42–44). Both these processes can contribute to the pathogenesis of HF (45). The suggestion that HbA1c variability enhances cell apoptosis and oxidative stress in patients with diabetes remains speculative and cannot be concluded from this study.

5.5 Glycaemic control and CAD

It has long been recognised that T2DM is an independent risk factor for the development of CAD (219). However, research looking at whether glycaemic control influences the development of CAD in T2DM has yielded conflicting results. Several studies looking at development of CAD in type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) have shown no relationship between glycaemic control and CAD development. The WESDR study reported no association between glycaemic control, reflected by HbA1C, and development of angina pectoris or myocardial infarction (220). The EDC Study found no association between glycaemic control and the development of CAD in a prospective study of 657 patients with T1DM (221).

Studies looking at glycaemic control in T2DM and CAD development have yielded guarded conclusions. A prospective study of 11644 individuals with T2DM followed up for 4 years showed

hyperglycaemia was an independent risk factor for CAD development in men but not women (222). A meta-analysis of 5 independent studies looking at whether glycaemic control predicted HF development in T2DM found the overall relative risk was 1.13 (Cl 1.06-1.20) for each 1% increase in HbA1C (223).

In the context of the above results, it may be hypothesized that glycaemic control predicted HF and LVH development in our cohort because glycaemic control was associated with CAD, which then led to HF development. The above analyses do not support this hypothesis; the data in tables 3 and 5a showed glycaemic control remained an independent risk factor for HF development when CAD was accounted for in the proportional hazard regression model. Notably, risk associated with differing levels of glycaemic control when CAD was excluded was not significantly different from when CAD was included (Table 5b).

Similarly, glycaemic control was independently associated with LVH development when CAD status was taken into account (see tables 4 and 7a). Furthermore, risk associated with differing levels of glycaemic control when CAD was excluded was not significantly different from when CAD was included (Table 7b). These results strongly suggest neither the relationship between glycaemic control and LVH nor the relationship between glycaemic control and HF development was dependent on CAD status.

5.6 LVH and mortality and morbidity

LVH was associated with increased mortality and hospital admission due to cardiovascular morbidity as illustrated in figure 4.1.4.2. This is consistent with the existing body of evidence showing LVH strongly predicts overall cardiovascular mortality, myocardial infarction, development of heart failure and cerebrovascular events (53,224–226). As described above, LVH is common in T2DM and T2DM is an independent risk factor for LVH (227,228). A large proportion of patients with T2DM and no overt cardiovascular disease have LVH representing a silent population at increased risk of debilitating cardiovascular disease or death. In view of this, screening individuals with T2DM for LVH

may be beneficial. However, primary prevention strategies in individuals with T2DM at the highest risk of LVH may yield the greatest benefit.

Identifying those individuals with T2DM and LVH would only be useful if methods existed to reverse this adverse cardiac remodelling. Recent work has identified multiple potential methods for promoting LVH regression including mineralocorticoid receptor blockade, e.g. using spironolactone (229). Indapamide, felodopine, ACE inhibitors and losartan have also been shown to promote LVH reversal (230–232). Perhaps more surprisingly, high-dose allopurinol has been shown to promote LVH regression according to cardiac MRI performed at both baseline and at 9 months (233). These results were replicated specifically looking at patients with T2DM (234). In view of this, it would arguably be worthwhile to identify individuals with T2DM who are at particularly increased risk of LVH so either a primary prevention or early treatment strategy can be employed.

5.7 Genetic component to LVH in T2DM

A Medline search was performed to identify studies looking at the genetic component to LVH in T2DM but did not identify any studies. It seems the above study represents the first genetics study investigating LVH in T2DM. Our research into the genetics of LVH in T2DM yielded 3 major findings. Firstly, 63% of patients with T2DM undergoing echocardiographic examination had LVH, comparable to previous studies quoting 65% (228). Secondly, the presence of LVH is independently associated with greater mortality in our cohort compared to controls, which is consistent with findings in previous studies (235). Thirdly, in this genetics study of a large population of patients with T2DM in Scotland, SNPs previously identified to be predictors of LVH in the general population were replicated.

Diabetes remains an independent predictor of LVH. However, not all patients with T2DM develop LVH and those developing LVH do so to varying degrees (236), implying LVH in

T2DM has a genetic component. The genetic basis of LVH has been studied in the general population and variants in genes coding for ACE and the beta 1 adrenergic receptor were associated with LVH (237,238). Variants at these loci were not described in the previous GWAS publications looking at LVH and showed no sign of association in our study. This has been a common feature of the transition from candidate gene studies to GWAS, although notable exceptions include the PPARG Pro12Ala variant for T2DM (239).

5.7.1 Considerations in investigating the genetic aspect of LVH in T2DM

Our results suggest susceptibility to LVH in T2DM has a detectable genetic component, though investigating any aspect of LVH is intrinsically difficult as there is still discord regarding the optimum way to measure left ventricular size. Electrocardiography is the least expensive method of detecting LVH but the sensitivity is poor in T2DM; echocardiography is more sensitive (228). Multiple methods of assessing LVH by echocardiography exist including direct 2D measurements, calculation of relative wall thickness and increase in left ventricular mass. Left ventricular mass calculation by echocardiography is the gold standard measure (155,156,225) but complex calculations are involved making direct 2D measurements more popular clinically.

Lack of consensus in defining LVH has also made it difficult to compare genetic findings across studies. It may be argued that the way in which LVH influences outcome is the most important consideration. The results shown above demonstrate the definition employed in this study strongly predicts mortality, showing our method of identifying LVH cases was prognostically useful.

Difficulties in replicating genetic variations predicting LVH development are increased by wide variation in the populations from which cases of LVH were extracted prior to

genotyping. Initial studies looked at LVH familial correlations (36) whilst later work sought variations in candidate genes in hypertensive patients (101,102) in which LVH was associated with variation in the GNB3 gene encoding the G-protein β_3 subunit.

Genetic variations frequently influence more than one disease phenotype. A recent study by Povel *et al* showed SNPs associated with waist circumference (rs17782312 within MC4R) and insulin resistance (rs2943634 within IRS1) were also associated with the metabolic syndrome (240). Genetic variants associated with features such as serum lipid levels, insulin-resistance and waist circumference in T2DM may also be associated with LVH. Additionally, SNPs may interact with one clinical parameter to influence another. Yin and colleagues found variation in 8 SNPs interacted with obesity to influence serum lipid levels but did not influence serum lipid levels in normal weight individuals (241). SNPs may interact with other clinical features, such as obesity and lipid levels, to promote LVH in T2DM. This may be an area for future research.

5.7.2 The role of GWAS and importance of replication

GWAS have broader scope to identify many genetic variants associated with a disease compared to candidate gene studies. However, only two large, population-based GWAS looking at LVH have been performed (105,106). Vasan *et al* compared cases of echocardiographically defined LVH with controls across 5 discovery cohorts (n=12 612) and 2 replication cohorts (n=4 094). Multiple SNPs were linked to LVH, but none were replicated (105). Shah *et al* genotyped 10 256 individuals from 3 population based cohorts, identifying cases of LVH by ECG criteria and comparing to non-LVH controls. Four SNPs associated with LVH at genome wide significance were also significant in their replication cohort (n=11 777,

(106)) but were not significantly associated with LVH in the population based ECHOgen study.

Two out of the nine previously identified SNPs were replicated at the 1 in 20 level, suggesting true replication. Rs17132261 (105), is found near the SLC25A46 gene that codes for a mitochondrial phosphate transporter (242). Its minor allele frequency (MAF) in the general population is 0.11 (243). This proved to be a rare variant within our population (MAF 0.01) and no homozygotes were identified. This was the only SNP that showed any sign of replication for left ventricular thickness in Stage 2 of the study by Vasan *et al*, and is the only SNP replicated from this study. Abnormal myocardial energetics may be significant in cardiac pathophysiology (55), so variation here may logically be associated with LVH.

The second replicated SNP, rs2292462, was published by Shah *et al* (106) and is found in the NMB gene, which has been linked with satiety and weight regulation (244). Rs2292462 has a MAF of 0.34 in the general population (243), with a MAF of 0.45 in our population. The Kaplan- Meier plot in figure 4.1.5.2 shows the guanine base variant at rs229462 effects outcome in an allelic additive manner. Notably, variation in rs2292462 was not predictive of obesity in this study and was associated with LVH when weight was taken into account. This suggests its link with obesity is not driving its association with LVH and adverse outcome in our population.

Rs4966014, within IGF1R, became genome wide significant (3.35X10⁻⁸) in the combined meta-analysis after inclusion of our data, despite this not being significant in our dataset. Rs4966014 was more robustly associated with LVH than any of the others identified by Shah *et al.* The role of IGF1 signalling in cardiac hypertrophy is well established (245,246) and the SNP lies immediately adjacent to a regulatory region recently identified by the ENCODE as

being marked as transcriptional active in muscle cells, by Histone acetylation and DNAse 1 sensitivity (245). This illustrates that it is unclear which, if any, of the other loci were not replicated due to a lack of power, or a true difference in the determinants of echocardiographically defined LVH and ECG-LVH.

5.7.3 The genetics of HF development and glycaemic control are inter-twined

Thee SNPs previously associated with glycaemic control were also associated with the development of HF in T2DM in our cohort: rs560887, rs7944584 and rs10885122. These SNPs were associated with fasting glucose levels in the GWAS performed by Dupuis and colleagues (140).

5.7.4 Rs560887

Rs560887 lies within the G6PC2 gene on chromosome 2 and its association with glucose homeostasis has been confirmed on multiple studies (247–249). An *et al* replicated this association in a GWAS performed to identify SNPs associated with HbA1c (247). Replication was also achieved in a sub-study of the GLACIER study looking for association between known 'glycaemic control' SNPs with fasting glucose and glycaemia 2 hours post-glucose challenge in 16,330 individuals and glycaemic over 10 years in 4,059 of these participants (248). Kelliny and colleagues genotyped over 2 000 healthy children for 16 SNPs associated with glucose homeostasis in adults and found an association between mean fasting glucose and rs560887 (249).

The link between the genetic basis of glycaemic control and cardiac pathology was further strengthened following a Mendelian randomisation study looking at a cohort of 80 522 individuals from Copenhagen, Denmark. The authors assessed how non-fasting glucose

levels were associated with both the development of ischaemic heart disease and SNPs previously associated with glycaemic control. They then assessed whether the replicated SNPs were associated with the development of ischaemic heart disease. Results showed increased non-fasting glucose levels were associated with an increased risk of developing ischaemic heart disease, variation in rs560887 was associated with variation in non-fasting glucose levels and rs560887 was associated with the development of ischaemic heart disease in this cohort (250).

The G6PC2 gene encodes an enzyme that is part of the glucose-6-phosphatase catalytic subunit family, which catalyse the terminal step in both the gluconeogenic and glycogenolytic pathways, integral to the release of glucose into the bloodstream (251). Whilst it clear variation in this enzyme may influence glucose levels, it is less obvious why variation here should promote HF development. Some evidence for a link between gluconeogenesis and HF has been produced through animal models. One study showed gluconeogenesis was increased in mice with HCM (252). Interestingly, progression from hypertension to HF in the rat model of HF created by Kato and colleagues was associated with cardiac cachexia and reduced gluconeogenesis (253).

These may partially explain why Dupuis and colleagues found the A allelic variant of the rs560887 SNP was associated with higher fasting glucose whereas the T variant was associated with HF development and the A variant was relatively protective in the above analysis. Whilst increased gluconeogenesis would promote greater fasting glucose levels, reduced gluconeogenesis may be part of the progression to HF development, as suggested in the model described above. However, this information should be taken in the context of other research showing HF promotes gluconeogenesis (254). The relationship between

glucose homeostasis and HF development is highly complex so it is unsurprising that the underlying pathogenetics are also intricate.

5.7.5 Rs10885122

Rs10885122 lies near the ADRA2A gene on chromosome 10. Its association with glucose homeostasis and T2DM has been supported by multiple subsequent studies. Its association with fasting glucose and long-term deterioration in glucose homeostasis was replicated in the sub-study of the GLACIER study as described above for rs560887 (248). Rs10885122 was also used to produce a genotypic-risk score for T2DM development in Japanese individuals (255).

The ADRA2A gene encodes the 2A subtype of the alpha adrenergic receptor, a vital part of the signalling pathway leading to the sympathetic response. Sympathetic over-stimulation is integral to the pathophysiology, so it is logical that variation here may influence the risk of HF development. As part of the sympathetic response, activation of the alpha (2A) adrenergic receptor mediates suppression of insulin secretion in response to glucose levels (256). Variation in other SNPs within the ADRA2A gene have also been associated with glucose homeostasis. Rs553668 is one such SNP; variation here has been shown to influence *in vitro* insulin exocytosis from pancreatic beta islet cells (257). Recent meta-analysis showed variation in rs553668 was associated with risk of T2DM. However, there was no association between T2DM risk and rs108885122 in this analysis (258).

Variations in the ADRA2A gene have also been associated with other cardiovascular risk factors such as propensity to store body fat and tobacco dependence (259,260).

The G variant of the rs10885122 SNP was associated with higher fasting glucose levels in the discovery GWAS. However, in our study, the T variant was associated with HF development and the G variant was relatively protective. This seemingly opposing directionality may be explained by the increased risk of HF development in individuals with relative hypoglycaemia in our analysis described above. It is likely that hyperglycaemia, hypoglycaemia and response to anti-hyperglycaemic drugs have a partial genetic basis. Hence, it is not necessarily surprising that variations in rs560887 and rs10885122 associated with lower fasting glucose levels in previous work were associated with HF in this study.

5.7.6 Rs7944584

Rs7944584 lies near the MADD gene on chromosome 11. Several studies have shown this locus is important in glycaemic control. One study looked at 1782 non-diabetic volunteers at increased risk for T2DM who underwent oral glucose tolerance testing with measurement of insulin, proinsulin and C-peptide levels. Participants were genotyped for at 12 loci for SNPs previously associated with glycaemic control, including rs7944584. The effect allele was associated with raised proinsulin to insulin ratio, indicating impaired conversion of proinsulin to insulin. Variation in rs7944584 was also associated with altered insulin sensitivity (261).

A replication study performed in individuals of Chinese origin provided further confirmation of the association between rs5944584 and glucose homeostasis. Over 3 000 individuals with T2DM and an equal number of controls were genotyped for 12 SNPs previously shown to influence glycaemic traits in people of European descent. Variation at rs5944584 was associated with susceptibility to T2DM and with fasting glucose (262). Li and colleagues produced a knock out mouse to further explore the role of the MADD gene in glycaemic

control. Deletion of IG20/MADD in β -cells resulted in hyperglycaemia and glucose intolerance due to a severe defect in glucose-induced insulin production, supporting the evidence that this locus is likely to be important in glycaemic control and T2DM (263).

The MADD gene encodes the MAP-kinase activating death domain, which is protective against apoptosis in response to TNF α signalling and is highly expressed in neoplastic cells relative to non-neoplastic cells (264). Hence, the majority of work looking at the impact of genetic variation here has focused on its impact on response to chemotherapy and radiotherapy (265,266). Although it is not immediately obvious why variation in this gene should effect susceptibility to HF or influence glycaemic control, it is well recognised that increased TNF α levels are associated with progression of HF (267–269).

TNF α mediates many of the pathological process in HF including vasoconstriction through signalling in vascular smooth muscle cells, mitochondrial dysfunction, increased oxidative stress and myocyte apoptosis (270,271). Early research into the cellular mechanisms underlying HF showed increased apoptosis correlated with reduced cardiac output and increased left ventricular end-diastolic pressure in a canine model of HF (272) and even low levels of myocyte apoptosis in a mouse model was associated with the development of dilated cardiomyopathy (273). The importance of TNF α mediated myocyte apoptosis was later confirmed in human studies (274).

Thus, there is plentiful evidence that TNF α partially promotes HF development and progression through increasing cardiac myocyte apoptosis. Taking this into account, it is understandable that genetic variants that inhibit TNF α mediated apoptosis may influence the development of HF. This may partially explain the association between variations in rs7944584, near the MADD gene, and the development of HF.

Unlike the other 2 replicated SNPs, the directionality of the association between rs7944584 and fasting glucose in the discovery GWAS was the same as the directionality its association with HF development. Specifically, the T variant of the rs7944584 SNP was associated with lower fasting glucose levels in the discovery GWAS and protective against HF development in our cohort. This may be explained through the association between hyperglycaemia, regarded as weighted mean HbA1c >8%, and HF development in our study.

5.8 Study limitations

Inherent limitations accompany a retrospective, non-randomised observational study. Firstly, values used for covariates were taken at regular clinical visits rather than at the time of echocardiography. Baseline values for BMI, SBP, DBP, creatinine, age and diabetes duration were used for the survival analysis looking at how weighted mean HbA1C influences HF development. However, in the logistic regression analyses looking at the genetics of LVH and the genetics of hypoglycaemia, values closest to the date the echocardiogram was performed were used for cases of LVH and values closest to genotyping date were used for the control subjects. Arguably, if there had been changes in these covariates between the 2 time points in either of the above analyses, it would have biased our results towards the null.

Secondly, we were unable to model use of anti-hyperglycaemic medication timedependently and so cannot determine whether the association between antihyperglycaemic medications and HF or LVH development depended on medication-dose or the duration of drug exposure. Many patients are on oral anti-hyperglycaemic agents for many years before commencing insulin therapy, the cumulative exposure of these agents

was not taken into account. Randomized controlled trials would be the least biased way to look at the influence of anti-hyperglycaemic medications in the development of HF and LVH. However, it is questionable whether such trials would be ethical given the results of previous RCTs looking at outcome in intensive versus standard glycaemic control (63–65). Thirdly, the retrospective nature of our study meant we did not have echocardiographic data for our non-LVH controls or non-HF type 2 diabetics. Our identification of non-LVH controls was based on the hypothesis patients undergoing echocardiography for any reasons were more likely to have genetically-promoted structural cardiac pathology. Patients on loop diuretics were excluded from both the non-LVH control population and the non-HF population. These patients were deemed more likely to have fluid retention related to either undiagnosed LVH with diastolic dysfunction or undiagnosed LV systolic dysfunction. The clear difference in mortality between cases of LVH and non-LVH controls supports the method used to identify non-LVH controls, as does the fact that we replicated SNPs previously associated with LVH.

Fourthly, the sample size in this study was small relative to previous studies. In the LVH analysis, although only 2 previously published SNPs were replicated, 4 published SNPs retained genome wide significance following meta-analysis with our data. This may indicate insufficient power to replicate the other 2 SNPs using the data available.

Fifthly, whilst multiple covariates were included in the above analyses, some potentially relevant covariates were omitted due to lack of data, reflecting the limitations imposed by the retrospective nature of the study. Previous studies have shown smoking status to be

relevant in the development of HF and LVH and that tachycardia also promotes HF (275–277).

Sixthly, all the genetic typing data available for these analyses was for individuals taking statins. This is a potential source of bias as there is a greater probability that this group of individuals had preexisting vascular disease or were high risk. This should be considered when interpreting the results.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

The results discuss above support the hypotheses described earlier:

- Glycaemic control is an independent risk factor for the development of LVH and HF rather than promoting LVH and HF indirectly through other pathological process such as CAD
- 2) Overly strict glycaemic control, specifically weighted mean HbA1C<6%, promotes the development of HF and LVH in T2DM. According to the above results, the optimum range for glycaemic control appears to be weighted mean HbA1C 6-8% with respect to development of LVH and HF in T2DM
- 3) Greater intra-individual variation in glycaemic control is an independent risk factor for the development of HF in T2DM
- There is a partial genetic basis for the development of LVH in T2DM, which overlaps with the genetic basis of LVH in the general population
- 5) Genetic factors predicting glycaemic control also appear to influence the development of LVH and HF in T2DM

Publications

Parry HM, Donnelly LA, van Zuydam N, Doney ASF, Elder DHJ, Morris AD, Struthers AD,

Palmer CNA, Lang CC. Genetic variants predicting left ventricular hypertrophy in a diabetic

population: a Go-DARTS study including meta-analysis. Cardiovascular Diabetology, 2013,

12:109

Parry HM, Desmukh H, Levin D, van Zuydam N, Elder DHJ, Morris AD, Struthers AD, Palmer

CNA, Doney ASF and Lang CC. Both High and Low HbA1c Predict Incident Heart Failure in

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Circulation Heart Failure, 2015,

http://circheartfailure.ahajournals.org/content/early/2015/01/05/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.113.

000920.abstract.html?ijkey=BxhxBgJFaTs4GOr&keytype=ref

References

- 1. Sherwin R, Jastreboff AM. Year in diabetes 2012: The diabetes tsunami. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012 Dec;97(12):4293–301.
- 2. Shaw JE, Sicree RA, Zimmet PZ. Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010 Jan;87(1):4–14.
- 3. Hex N, Bartlett C, Wright D, Taylor M, Varley D. Estimating the current and future costs of Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes in the UK, including direct health costs and indirect societal and productivity costs. Diabet Med J Br Diabet Assoc. 2012 Jul;29(7):855–62.
- 4. Hamer M, Kengne AP, Batty GD, Cooke D, Stamatakis E. Temporal trends in diabetes prevalence and key diabetes risk factors in Scotland, 2003-2008. Diabet Med J Br Diabet Assoc. 2011 May;28(5):595–8.
- 5. Roglic G, Unwin N. Mortality attributable to diabetes: estimates for the year 2010. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2010 Jan;87(1):15–9.
- 6. Duca L, Sippl R, Snell-Bergeon JK. Is the risk and nature of CVD the same in type 1 and type 2 diabetes? Curr Diab Rep. 2013 Jun;13(3):350–61.
- Haffner SM, Lehto S, Rönnemaa T, Pyörälä K, Laakso M. Mortality from coronary heart disease in subjects with type 2 diabetes and in nondiabetic subjects with and without prior myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med. 1998 Jul 23;339(4):229–34.

- 8. Nickerson HD, Dutta S. Diabetic complications: current challenges and opportunities. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2012 Aug;5(4):375–9.
- 9. Peterson LR, McKenzie CR, Schaffer JE. Diabetic cardiovascular disease: getting to the heart of the matter. J Cardiovasc Transl Res. 2012 Aug;5(4):436–45.
- 10. Brun E, Nelson RG, Bennett PH, Imperatore G, Zoppini G, Verlato G, et al. Diabetes duration and cause-specific mortality in the Verona Diabetes Study. Diabetes Care. 2000 Aug;23(8):1119–23.
- 11. Roper NA, Bilous RW, Kelly WF, Unwin NC, Connolly VM, South Tees Diabetes Mortality Study. Cause-specific mortality in a population with diabetes: South Tees Diabetes Mortality Study. Diabetes Care. 2002 Jan;25(1):43–8.
- 12. Morrish NJ, Wang SL, Stevens LK, Fuller JH, Keen H. Mortality and causes of death in the WHO Multinational Study of Vascular Disease in Diabetes. Diabetologia. 2001 Sep;44 Suppl 2:S14–21.
- 13. Shindler DM, Kostis JB, Yusuf S, Quinones MA, Pitt B, Stewart D, et al. Diabetes mellitus, a predictor of morbidity and mortality in the Studies of Left Ventricular Dysfunction (SOLVD) Trials and Registry. Am J Cardiol. 1996 May 1;77(11):1017–20.
- 14. Kannel WB, Larson M. Long-term epidemiologic prediction of coronary disease. The Framingham experience. Cardiology. 1993;82(2-3):137–52.
- 15. Wilson PW. Established risk factors and coronary artery disease: the Framingham Study. Am J Hypertens. 1994 Jul;7(7 Pt 2):7S 12S.
- 16. Miettinen H, Lehto S, Salomaa V, Mähönen M, Niemelä M, Haffner SM, et al. Impact of diabetes on mortality after the first myocardial infarction. The FINMONICA Myocardial Infarction Register Study Group. Diabetes Care. 1998 Jan;21(1):69–75.
- 17. Nichols GA, Gullion CM, Koro CE, Ephross SA, Brown JB. The incidence of congestive heart failure in type 2 diabetes: an update. Diabetes Care. 2004 Aug;27(8):1879–84.
- Gottdiener JS, Arnold AM, Aurigemma GP, Polak JF, Tracy RP, Kitzman DW, et al. Predictors of congestive heart failure in the elderly: the Cardiovascular Health Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000 May;35(6):1628–37.
- 19. He J, Ogden LG, Bazzano LA, Vupputuri S, Loria C, Whelton PK. Risk factors for congestive heart failure in US men and women: NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. Arch Intern Med. 2001 Apr 9;161(7):996–1002.
- 20. Asghar O, Al-Sunni A, Khavandi K, Khavandi A, Withers S, Greenstein A, et al. Diabetic cardiomyopathy. Clin Sci Lond Engl 1979. 2009 May;116(10):741–60.
- 21. Rydén L, Armstrong PW, Cleland JG, Horowitz JD, Massie BM, Packer M, et al. Efficacy and safety of high-dose lisinopril in chronic heart failure patients at high cardiovascular risk, including those with diabetes mellitus. Results from the ATLAS trial. Eur Heart J. 2000 Dec;21(23):1967–78.
- 22. Kannel WB, Hjortland M, Castelli WP. Role of diabetes in congestive heart failure: the Framingham study. Am J Cardiol. 1974 Jul;34(1):29–34.

- 23. MacDonald MR, Petrie MC, Hawkins NM, Petrie JR, Fisher M, McKelvie R, et al. Diabetes, left ventricular systolic dysfunction, and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2008 May;29(10):1224–40.
- 24. Devereux RB, Roman MJ, Paranicas M, O'Grady MJ, Lee ET, Welty TK, et al. Impact of diabetes on cardiac structure and function: the strong heart study. Circulation. 2000 May 16;101(19):2271–6.
- Palmieri V, Bella JN, Arnett DK, Liu JE, Oberman A, Schuck MY, et al. Effect of type 2 diabetes mellitus on left ventricular geometry and systolic function in hypertensive subjects: Hypertension Genetic Epidemiology Network (HyperGEN) study. Circulation. 2001 Jan 2;103(1):102–7.
- 26. Witham MD, Davies JI, Dawson A, Davey PG, Struthers AD. Hypothetical economic analysis of screening for left ventricular hypertrophy in high-risk normotensive populations. QJM Mon J Assoc Physicians. 2004 Feb;97(2):87–93.
- Ernande L, Bergerot C, Rietzschel ER, De Buyzere ML, Thibault H, Pignonblanc PG, et al. Diastolic dysfunction in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: is it really the first marker of diabetic cardiomyopathy? J Am Soc Echocardiogr Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2011 Nov;24(11):1268– 75.e1.
- 28. Nardi E, Palermo A, Mulè G, Cusimano P, Cottone S, Cerasola G. Impact of type 2 diabetes on left ventricular geometry and diastolic function in hypertensive patients with chronic kidney disease. J Hum Hypertens. 2011 Mar;25(3):144–51.
- 29. Picca M, Agozzino F, Pelosi G. Influence of microalbuminuria on left ventricular geometry and function in hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Ital Heart J Off J Ital Fed Cardiol. 2003 Jan;4(1):48–52.
- 30. Paulus WJ, Tschöpe C, Sanderson JE, Rusconi C, Flachskampf FA, Rademakers FE, et al. How to diagnose diastolic heart failure: a consensus statement on the diagnosis of heart failure with normal left ventricular ejection fraction by the Heart Failure and Echocardiography Associations of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J. 2007 Oct;28(20):2539–50.
- 31. Valle R, Bagolin E, Canali C, Giovinazzo P, Barro S, Aspromonte N, et al. The BNP assay does not identify mild left ventricular diastolic dysfunction in asymptomatic diabetic patients. Eur J Echocardiogr J Work Group Echocardiogr Eur Soc Cardiol. 2006 Jan;7(1):40–4.
- Tenenbaum A, Motro M, Fisman EZ, Leor J, Boyko V, Mandelzweig L, et al. Status of glucose metabolism in patients with heart failure secondary to coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol. 2002 Sep 1;90(5):529–32.
- 33. Estep JD, Aguilar D. Diabetes and heart failure in the post-myocardial infarction patient. Curr Heart Fail Rep. 2006 Dec;3(4):164–9.
- 34. Messerli FH. Cardiovascular effects of obesity and hypertension. Lancet Lond Engl. 1982 May 22;1(8282):1165–8.
- 35. Lavie CJ, Messerli FH. Cardiovascular adaptation to obesity and hypertension. Chest. 1986 Aug;90(2):275–9.

- 36. Garner C, Lecomte E, Visvikis S, Abergel E, Lathrop M, Soubrier F. Genetic and environmental influences on left ventricular mass. A family study. Hypertension. 2000 Nov;36(5):740–6.
- 37. Ritchie RH, Quinn JM, Cao AH, Drummond GR, Kaye DM, Favaloro JM, et al. The antioxidant tempol inhibits cardiac hypertrophy in the insulin-resistant GLUT4-deficient mouse in vivo. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2007 Jun;42(6):1119–28.
- Wold LE, Ceylan-Isik AF, Fang CX, Yang X, Li S-Y, Sreejayan N, et al. Metallothionein alleviates cardiac dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetes: role of Ca2+ cycling proteins, NADPH oxidase, poly(ADP-Ribose) polymerase and myosin heavy chain isozyme. Free Radic Biol Med. 2006 Apr 15;40(8):1419–29.
- 39. Miki T, Yuda S, Kouzu H, Miura T. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathophysiology and clinical features. Heart Fail Rev. 2013 Mar;18(2):149–66.
- 40. Asif M, Egan J, Vasan S, Jyothirmayi GN, Masurekar MR, Lopez S, et al. An advanced glycation endproduct cross-link breaker can reverse age-related increases in myocardial stiffness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Mar 14;97(6):2809–13.
- 41. Zhou YT, Grayburn P, Karim A, Shimabukuro M, Higa M, Baetens D, et al. Lipotoxic heart disease in obese rats: implications for human obesity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000 Feb 15;97(4):1784–9.
- 42. Hamouda MS, Kassem HK, Salama M, Masry M El, Shaaban N, Sadek E, et al. Evaluation of coronary flow reserve in hypertensive patients by dipyridamole transesophageal doppler echocardiography. Am J Cardiol. 2000 Aug 1;86(3):305–8.
- 43. Papadogeorgos NO, Bengtsson M, Kalani M. Selective endothelin A-receptor blockade attenuates coronary microvascular dysfunction after coronary stenting in patients with type 2 diabetes. Vasc Health Risk Manag. 2009;5:893–9.
- 44. Müller P, Kazakov A, Semenov A, Böhm M, Laufs U. Pressure-induced cardiac overload induces upregulation of endothelial and myocardial progenitor cells. Cardiovasc Res. 2008 Jan;77(1):151–9.
- 45. Motz W, Schwartzkopff B, Vogt M. Hypertensive heart disease: cardioreparation by reversal of interstitial collagen in patients. Eur Heart J. 1995 May;16 Suppl C:69–73.
- 46. Trost SU, Belke DD, Bluhm WF, Meyer M, Swanson E, Dillmann WH. Overexpression of the sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPase improves myocardial contractility in diabetic cardiomyopathy. Diabetes. 2002 Apr;51(4):1166–71.
- 47. Zola B, Kahn JK, Juni JE, Vinik AI. Abnormal cardiac function in diabetic patients with autonomic neuropathy in the absence of ischemic heart disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1986 Jul;63(1):208–14.
- 48. Pappachan JM, Varughese GI, Sriraman R, Arunagirinathan G. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: Pathophysiology, diagnostic evaluation and management. World J Diabetes. 2013 Oct 15;4(5):177–89.
- 49. Yoon Y, Uchida S, Masuo O, Cejna M, Park J-S, Gwon H, et al. Progressive attenuation of myocardial vascular endothelial growth factor expression is a seminal event in diabetic cardiomyopathy: restoration of microvascular homeostasis and recovery of cardiac function in

diabetic cardiomyopathy after replenishment of local vascular endothelial growth factor. Circulation. 2005 Apr 26;111(16):2073–85.

- 50. Nishino M, Hoshida S, Egami Y, Kondo I, Shutta R, Yamaguchi H, et al. Coronary flow reserve by contrast enhanced transesophageal coronary sinus Doppler measurements can evaluate diabetic microvascular dysfunction. Circ J Off J Jpn Circ Soc. 2006 Nov;70(11):1415–20.
- Nakanishi K, Fukuda S, Shimada K, Miyazaki C, Otsuka K, Maeda K, et al. Impaired coronary flow reserve as a marker of microvascular dysfunction to predict long-term cardiovascular outcomes, acute coronary syndrome and the development of heart failure. Circ J Off J Jpn Circ Soc. 2012;76(8):1958–64.
- 52. Gerdts E, Okin PM, Boman K, Wachtell K, Nieminen MS, Dahlöf B, et al. Association of heart failure hospitalizations with combined electrocardiography and echocardiography criteria for left ventricular hypertrophy. Am J Hypertens. 2012 Jun;25(6):678–83.
- 53. Aronow WS, Ahn C. Association of electrocardiographic left ventricular hypertrophy with the incidence of new congestive heart failure. J Am Geriatr Soc. 1998 Oct;46(10):1280–1.
- Stevens SM, Farzaneh-Far R, Na B, Whooley MA, Schiller NB. Development of an echocardiographic risk-stratification index to predict heart failure in patients with stable coronary artery disease: the Heart and Soul study. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging. 2009 Jan;2(1):11– 20.
- Maslov MY, Chacko VP, Stuber M, Moens AL, Kass DA, Champion HC, et al. Altered high-energy phosphate metabolism predicts contractile dysfunction and subsequent ventricular remodeling in pressure-overload hypertrophy mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007 Jan;292(1):H387– 91.
- 56. Wei S, Guo A, Chen B, Kutschke W, Xie Y-P, Zimmerman K, et al. T-tubule remodeling during transition from hypertrophy to heart failure. Circ Res. 2010 Aug 20;107(4):520–31.
- 57. Kozàkovà M, Palombo C, Pratali L, Pittella G, Galetta F, L'Abbate A. Mechanisms of coronary flow reserve impairment in human hypertension. An integrated approach by transthoracic and transesophageal echocardiography. Hypertension. 1997 Feb;29(2):551–9.
- Sato A, Tarnow L, Nielsen FS, Knudsen E, Parving H-H. Left ventricular hypertrophy in normoalbuminuric type 2 diabetic patients not taking antihypertensive treatment. QJM Mon J Assoc Physicians. 2005 Dec;98(12):879–84.
- 59. Sweety SA, Arzu J, Rahman M, Salim MA, Mahmood M. Cardiovascular complications in patients with end stage renal disease on maintenance haemodialysis. Mymensingh Med J MMJ. 2014 Apr;23(2):329–34.
- 60. Iribarren C, Karter AJ, Go AS, Ferrara A, Liu JY, Sidney S, et al. Glycemic control and heart failure among adult patients with diabetes. Circulation. 2001 Jun 5;103(22):2668–73.
- 61. Pazin-Filho A, Kottgen A, Bertoni AG, Russell SD, Selvin E, Rosamond WD, et al. HbA 1c as a risk factor for heart failure in persons with diabetes: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Diabetologia. 2008 Dec;51(12):2197–204.

- 62. Lind M, Olsson M, Rosengren A, Svensson A-M, Bounias I, Gudbjörnsdottir S. The relationship between glycaemic control and heart failure in 83,021 patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2012 Nov;55(11):2946–53.
- 63. Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes Study Group, Gerstein HC, Miller ME, Byington RP, Goff DC, Bigger JT, et al. Effects of intensive glucose lowering in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008 Jun 12;358(24):2545–59.
- 64. ADVANCE Collaborative Group, Patel A, MacMahon S, Chalmers J, Neal B, Billot L, et al. Intensive blood glucose control and vascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008 Jun 12;358(24):2560–72.
- Duckworth W, Abraira C, Moritz T, Reda D, Emanuele N, Reaven PD, et al. Glucose control and vascular complications in veterans with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2009 Jan 8;360(2):129– 39.
- 66. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet Lond Engl. 1998 Sep 12;352(9131):837–53.
- 67. Tzoulaki I, Molokhia M, Curcin V, Little MP, Millett CJ, Ng A, et al. Risk of cardiovascular disease and all cause mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes prescribed oral antidiabetes drugs: retrospective cohort study using UK general practice research database. BMJ. 2009;339:b4731.
- 68. Singh S, Loke YK, Furberg CD. Long-term risk of cardiovascular events with rosiglitazone: a metaanalysis. JAMA. 2007 Sep 12;298(10):1189–95.
- 69. McGuire DK, See R, Abdullah SM, Snell PG, McGavock JM, Ayers CR, et al. The effect of rosiglitazone on integrated cardiovascular performance, cardiac structure, function and myocardial triglyceride: trial design and rationale. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2009 Jan;6(1):43–50.
- 70. Gamble J-M, Simpson SH, Eurich DT, Majumdar SR, Johnson JA. Insulin use and increased risk of mortality in type 2 diabetes: a cohort study. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2010 Jan;12(1):47–53.
- Smooke S, Horwich TB, Fonarow GC. Insulin-treated diabetes is associated with a marked increase in mortality in patients with advanced heart failure. Am Heart J. 2005 Jan;149(1):168– 74.
- 72. Ceriello A, Ihnat MA, Thorpe JE. Clinical review 2: The "metabolic memory": is more than just tight glucose control necessary to prevent diabetic complications? J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2009 Feb;94(2):410–5.
- 73. Nathan DM, Lachin J, Cleary P, Orchard T, Brillon DJ, Backlund J-Y, et al. Intensive diabetes therapy and carotid intima-media thickness in type 1 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 2003 Jun 5;348(23):2294–303.
- Nathan DM, Cleary PA, Backlund J-YC, Genuth SM, Lachin JM, Orchard TJ, et al. Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2005 Dec 22;353(25):2643–53.
- 75. Holman RR, Paul SK, Bethel MA, Matthews DR, Neil HAW. 10-year follow-up of intensive glucose control in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2008 Oct 9;359(15):1577–89.

- 76. Dandona P, Chaudhuri A, Dhindsa S. Proinflammatory and prothrombotic effects of hypoglycemia. Diabetes Care. 2010 Jul;33(7):1686–7.
- 77. Wright RJ, Newby DE, Stirling D, Ludlam CA, Macdonald IA, Frier BM. Effects of acute insulininduced hypoglycemia on indices of inflammation: putative mechanism for aggravating vascular disease in diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010 Jul;33(7):1591–7.
- 78. Gogitidze Joy N, Hedrington MS, Briscoe VJ, Tate DB, Ertl AC, Davis SN. Effects of acute hypoglycemia on inflammatory and pro-atherothrombotic biomarkers in individuals with type 1 diabetes and healthy individuals. Diabetes Care. 2010 Jul;33(7):1529–35.
- 79. Rodríguez-Segade S, Rodríguez J, García López JM, Casanueva FF, Camiña F. Intrapersonal HbA(1c) variability and the risk of progression of nephropathy in patients with Type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med J Br Diabet Assoc. 2012 Dec;29(12):1562–6.
- Ma W-Y, Li H-Y, Pei D, Hsia T-L, Lu K-C, Tsai L-Y, et al. Variability in hemoglobin A1c predicts allcause mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Complications. 2012 Aug;26(4):296– 300.
- 81. Takao T, Matsuyama Y, Yanagisawa H, Kikuchi M, Kawazu S. Association between HbA1c variability and mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Complications. 2014 Aug;28(4):494–9.
- 82. Kilpatrick ES, Rigby AS, Atkin SL. The effect of glucose variability on the risk of microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(7):1486–90.
- 83. Kilpatrick ES, Rigby AS, Atkin SL. A1C variability and the risk of microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes: data from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Diabetes Care. 2008 Nov;31(11):2198–202.
- 84. Juarez DT, Sentell T, Tokumaru S, Goo R, Davis JW, Mau MM. Factors associated with poor glycemic control or wide glycemic variability among diabetes patients in Hawaii, 2006-2009. Prev Chronic Dis. 2012;9:120065.
- 85. Wadén J, Forsblom C, Thorn LM, Gordin D, Saraheimo M, Groop P-H, et al. A1C variability predicts incident cardiovascular events, microalbuminuria, and overt diabetic nephropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes. 2009 Nov;58(11):2649–55.
- 86. Luk AOY, Ma RCW, Lau ESH, Yang X, Lau WWY, Yu LWL, et al. Risk association of HbA1c variability with chronic kidney disease and cardiovascular disease in type 2 diabetes: prospective analysis of the Hong Kong Diabetes Registry. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2013 Jul;29(5):384–90.
- 87. Weber JW. Left Ventricular Hypertrophy: its Prevalence, Etiology and Significance. Clinical cardiology. Clin Cardiol. 1991;14(Supplement III):13–7.
- 88. Lang RM, Bierig M, Devereux RB, Flachskampf FA, Foster E, Pellikka PA, et al. Recommendations for chamber quantification: a report from the American Society of Echocardiography's Guidelines and Standards Committee and the Chamber Quantification Writing Group, developed in conjunction with the European Association of Echocardiography, a branch of the European Society of Cardiology. J Am Soc Echocardiogr Off Publ Am Soc Echocardiogr. 2005 Dec;18(12):1440–63.

- 89. Ruilope LM, Schmieder RE. Left ventricular hypertrophy and clinical outcomes in hypertensive patients. Am J Hypertens. 2008 May;21(5):500–8.
- Bang CN, Gerdts E, Aurigemma GP, Boman K, Dahlöf B, Roman MJ, et al. Systolic left ventricular function according to left ventricular concentricity and dilatation in hypertensive patients: the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint reduction in hypertension study. J Hypertens. 2013 Oct;31(10):2060–8.
- 91. Busjahn CA, Schulz-Menger J, Abdel-Aty H, Rudolph A, Jordan J, Luft FC, et al. Heritability of left ventricular and papillary muscle heart size: a twin study with cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Eur Heart J. 2009 Jul;30(13):1643–7.
- 92. Arnett DK, Hong Y, Bella JN, Oberman A, Kitzman DW, Hopkins PN, et al. Sibling correlation of left ventricular mass and geometry in hypertensive African Americans and whites: the HyperGEN study. Hypertension Genetic Epidemiology Network. Am J Hypertens. 2001 Dec;14(12):1226–30.
- Bella JN, MacCluer JW, Roman MJ, Almasy L, North KE, Best LG, et al. Heritability of left ventricular dimensions and mass in American Indians: The Strong Heart Study. J Hypertens. 2004 Feb;22(2):281–6.
- 94. Juo S-HH, Di Tullio MR, Lin H-F, Rundek T, Boden-Albala B, Homma S, et al. Heritability of left ventricular mass and other morphologic variables in Caribbean Hispanic subjects: the Northern Manhattan Family Study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005 Aug 16;46(4):735–7.
- 95. Momiyama Y, Suzuki Y, Ohsuzu F, Atsumi Y, Matsuoka K, Kimura M. Maternally transmitted susceptibility to non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and left ventricular hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1999 Apr;33(5):1372–8.
- 96. Michels VV, Moll PP, Miller FA, Tajik AJ, Chu JS, Driscoll DJ, et al. The frequency of familial dilated cardiomyopathy in a series of patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med. 1992 Jan 9;326(2):77–82.
- 97. Grünig E, Tasman JA, Kücherer H, Franz W, Kübler W, Katus HA. Frequency and phenotypes of familial dilated cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998 Jan;31(1):186–94.
- Fu Y, Katsuya T, Matsuo A, Yamamoto K, Akasaka H, Takami Y, et al. Relationship of bradykinin B2 receptor gene polymorphism with essential hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy. Hypertens Res Off J Jpn Soc Hypertens. 2004 Dec;27(12):933–8.
- 99. Karaali ZE, Agachan B, Yilmaz H, Isbir T. Angiotensin-converting enzyme I/D gene polymorphisms and effects of left ventricular hypertrophy in Turkish myocardial infarction patients. Acta Cardiol. 2004 Oct;59(5):493–7.
- 100. Akin F, Turgut S, Dursunoglu D, Turgut G, Karasu U, Gur S. ACE gene polymorphism and cardiac structure in patients with insulin resistance. Mol Biol Rep. 2009 Apr;36(4):623–9.
- 101. Poch E, González D, Gómez-Angelats E, Enjuto M, Paré JC, Rivera F, et al. G-Protein beta(3) subunit gene variant and left ventricular hypertrophy in essential hypertension. Hypertension. 2000 Jan;35(1 Pt 2):214–8.
- 102. Semplicini A, Siffert W, Sartori M, Monari A, Naber C, Frigo G, et al. G protein beta3 subunit gene 825T allele is associated with increased left ventricular mass in young subjects with mild hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 2001 Dec;14(12):1191–5.

- 103. Horio T, Kamide K, Takiuchi S, Yoshii M, Miwa Y, Matayoshi T, et al. Association of insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor gene polymorphisms with left ventricular mass and geometry in essential hypertension. J Hum Hypertens. 2010 May;24(5):320–6.
- 104. Baessler A, Kwitek AE, Fischer M, Koehler M, Reinhard W, Erdmann J, et al. Association of the Ghrelin receptor gene region with left ventricular hypertrophy in the general population: results of the MONICA/KORA Augsburg Echocardiographic Substudy. Hypertension. 2006 May;47(5):920–7.
- 105. Vasan RS, Glazer NL, Felix JF, Lieb W, Wild PS, Felix SB, et al. Genetic variants associated with cardiac structure and function: a meta-analysis and replication of genome-wide association data. JAMA. 2009 Jul 8;302(2):168–78.
- 106. Shah S, Nelson CP, Gaunt TR, van der Harst P, Barnes T, Braund PS, et al. Four genetic loci influencing electrocardiographic indices of left ventricular hypertrophy. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2011 Dec;4(6):626–35.
- 107. Garcia-Pavia P, Syrris P, Salas C, Evans A, Mirelis JG, Cobo-Marcos M, et al. Desmosomal protein gene mutations in patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy undergoing cardiac transplantation: a clinicopathological study. Heart Br Card Soc. 2011 Nov;97(21):1744–52.
- 108. Hershberger RE, Lindenfeld J, Mestroni L, Seidman CE, Taylor MRG, Towbin JA, et al. Genetic evaluation of cardiomyopathy--a Heart Failure Society of America practice guideline. J Card Fail. 2009 Mar;15(2):83–97.
- 109. Parks SB, Kushner JD, Nauman D, Burgess D, Ludwigsen S, Peterson A, et al. Lamin A/C mutation analysis in a cohort of 324 unrelated patients with idiopathic or familial dilated cardiomyopathy. Am Heart J. 2008 Jul;156(1):161–9.
- 110. Villard E, Duboscq-Bidot L, Charron P, Benaiche A, Conraads V, Sylvius N, et al. Mutation screening in dilated cardiomyopathy: prominent role of the beta myosin heavy chain gene. Eur Heart J. 2005 Apr;26(8):794–803.
- 111. Villard E, Perret C, Gary F, Proust C, Dilanian G, Hengstenberg C, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies two loci associated with heart failure due to dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J. 2011 May;32(9):1065–76.
- 112. Liu H, Liu W, Liao Y, Cheng L, Liu Q, Ren X, et al. CADgene: a comprehensive database for coronary artery disease genes. Nucleic Acids Res. 2011 Jan;39(Database issue):D991–6.
- 113. Padmanabhan S, Newton-Cheh C, Dominiczak AF. Genetic basis of blood pressure and hypertension. Trends Genet TIG. 2012 Aug;28(8):397–408.
- Williams RR, Hunt SC, Hopkins PN, Wu LL, Hasstedt SJ, Berry TD, et al. Genetic basis of familial dyslipidemia and hypertension: 15-year results from Utah. Am J Hypertens. 1993 Nov;6(11 Pt 2):3195 – 327S.
- 115. Morris AP, Voight BF, Teslovich TM, Ferreira T, Segrè AV, Steinthorsdottir V, et al. Large-scale association analysis provides insights into the genetic architecture and pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2012 Sep;44(9):981–90.
- 116. Hershberger RE, Norton N, Morales A, Li D, Siegfried JD, Gonzalez-Quintana J. Coding sequence rare variants identified in MYBPC3, MYH6, TPM1, TNNC1, and TNNI3 from 312

patients with familial or idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2010 Apr;3(2):155–61.

- 117. Bruck H, Leineweber K, Temme T, Weber M, Heusch G, Philipp T, et al. The Arg389Gly beta1adrenoceptor polymorphism and catecholamine effects on plasma-renin activity. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005 Dec 6;46(11):2111–5.
- 118. Levin MC, Marullo S, Muntaner O, Andersson B, Magnusson Y. The myocardium-protective Gly-49 variant of the beta 1-adrenergic receptor exhibits constitutive activity and increased desensitization and down-regulation. J Biol Chem. 2002 Aug 23;277(34):30429–35.
- 119. Liggett SB. Pharmacogenomics of beta1-adrenergic receptor polymorphisms in heart failure. Heart Fail Clin. 2010 Jan;6(1):27–33.
- 120. Biolo A, Clausell N, Santos KG, Salvaro R, Ashton-Prolla P, Borges A, et al. Impact of beta1adrenergic receptor polymorphisms on susceptibility to heart failure, arrhythmogenesis, prognosis, and response to beta-blocker therapy. Am J Cardiol. 2008 Sep 15;102(6):726–32.
- 121. McNamara DM, Holubkov R, Postava L, Janosko K, MacGowan GA, Mathier M, et al. Pharmacogenetic interactions between angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor therapy and the angiotensin-converting enzyme deletion polymorphism in patients with congestive heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004 Nov 16;44(10):2019–26.
- 122. Bai Y, Wang L, Hu S, Wei Y. Association of angiotensin-converting enzyme I/D polymorphism with heart failure: a meta-analysis. Mol Cell Biochem. 2012 Feb;361(1-2):297–304.
- 123. Maron BJ, Maron MS. Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Lancet Lond Engl. 2013 Jan 19;381(9862):242–55.
- 124. Kamisago M, Sharma SD, DePalma SR, Solomon S, Sharma P, McDonough B, et al. Mutations in sarcomere protein genes as a cause of dilated cardiomyopathy. N Engl J Med. 2000 Dec 7;343(23):1688–96.
- 125. Møller DV, Andersen PS, Hedley P, Ersbøll MK, Bundgaard H, Moolman-Smook J, et al. The role of sarcomere gene mutations in patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur J Hum Genet EJHG. 2009 Oct;17(10):1241–9.
- 126. Bos JM, Towbin JA, Ackerman MJ. Diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic implications of genetic testing for hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2009 Jul 14;54(3):201–11.
- 127. Geier C, Perrot A, Ozcelik C, Binner P, Counsell D, Hoffmann K, et al. Mutations in the human muscle LIM protein gene in families with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Circulation. 2003 Mar 18;107(10):1390–5.
- 128. Arimura T, Ishikawa T, Nunoda S, Kawai S, Kimura A. Dilated cardiomyopathy-associated BAG3 mutations impair Z-disc assembly and enhance sensitivity to apoptosis in cardiomyocytes. Hum Mutat. 2011 Dec;32(12):1481–91.
- 129. Medeiros A, Biagi DG, Sobreira TJP, de Oliveira PSL, Negrão CE, Mansur AJ, et al. Mutations in the human phospholamban gene in patients with heart failure. Am Heart J. 2011 Dec;162(6):1088–95.e1.

- 130. Ceholski DK, Trieber CA, Holmes CFB, Young HS. Lethal, hereditary mutants of phospholamban elude phosphorylation by protein kinase A. J Biol Chem. 2012 Aug 3;287(32):26596–605.
- 131. Ceholski DK, Trieber CA, Young HS. Hydrophobic imbalance in the cytoplasmic domain of phospholamban is a determinant for lethal dilated cardiomyopathy. J Biol Chem. 2012 May 11;287(20):16521–9.
- 132. Norton N, Li D, Rieder MJ, Siegfried JD, Rampersaud E, Züchner S, et al. Genome-wide studies of copy number variation and exome sequencing identify rare variants in BAG3 as a cause of dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Hum Genet. 2011 Mar 11;88(3):273–82.
- 133. Stark K, Esslinger UB, Reinhard W, Petrov G, Winkler T, Komajda M, et al. Genetic association study identifies HSPB7 as a risk gene for idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. PLoS Genet. 2010 Oct;6(10):e1001167.
- 134. Chiu T-F, Li C-H, Chen C-C, Chen C-H, Cheng C-J, Yan Y-T, et al. Association of plasma concentration of small heat shock protein B7 with acute coronary syndrome. Circ J Off J Jpn Circ Soc. 2012;76(9):2226–33.
- 135. Guo D, Han L, Shu K, Chen J, Lei T. Down-regulation of leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domain proteins (LRIG1-3) in HP75 pituitary adenoma cell line. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technol Med Sci Hua Zhong Ke Ji Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ying Wen Ban Huazhong Keji Daxue Xuebao Yixue Yingdewen Ban. 2007 Feb;27(1):91–4.
- 136. Guo D, Nilsson J, Haapasalo H, Raheem O, Bergenheim T, Hedman H, et al. Perinuclear leucine-rich repeats and immunoglobulin-like domain proteins (LRIG1-3) as prognostic indicators in astrocytic tumors. Acta Neuropathol (Berl). 2006 Mar;111(3):238–46.
- 137. Karlsson T, Mark EB, Henriksson R, Hedman H. Redistribution of LRIG proteins in psoriasis. J Invest Dermatol. 2008 May;128(5):1192–5.
- 138. Barker A, Langenberg C, Wareham NJ. Genetic determinants of glucose homeostasis. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012 Apr;26(2):159–70.
- 139. Prokopenko I, Langenberg C, Florez JC, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Thorleifsson G, et al. Variants in MTNR1B influence fasting glucose levels. Nat Genet. 2009 Jan;41(1):77–81.
- 140. Dupuis J, Langenberg C, Prokopenko I, Saxena R, Soranzo N, Jackson AU, et al. New genetic loci implicated in fasting glucose homeostasis and their impact on type 2 diabetes risk. Nat Genet. 2010 Feb;42(2):105–16.
- 141. Meigs JB, Panhuysen CIM, Myers RH, Wilson PWF, Cupples LA. A genome-wide scan for loci linked to plasma levels of glucose and HbA(1c) in a community-based sample of Caucasian pedigrees: The Framingham Offspring Study. Diabetes. 2002 Mar;51(3):833–40.
- 142. Soranzo N, Sanna S, Wheeler E, Gieger C, Radke D, Dupuis J, et al. Common variants at 10 genomic loci influence hemoglobin A₁(C) levels via glycemic and nonglycemic pathways. Diabetes. 2010 Dec;59(12):3229–39.
- 143. Morris AD, Boyle DI, MacAlpine R, Emslie-Smith A, Jung RT, Newton RW, et al. The diabetes audit and research in Tayside Scotland (DARTS) study: electronic record linkage to create a diabetes register. DARTS/MEMO Collaboration. BMJ. 1997 Aug 30;315(7107):524–8.

- 144. Govan L, Wu O, Briggs A, Colhoun HM, McKnight JA, Morris AD, et al. Inpatient costs for people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes in Scotland: a study from the Scottish Diabetes Research Network Epidemiology Group. Diabetologia. 2011 Aug;54(8):2000–8.
- 145. Colhoun HM, SDRN Epidemiology Group. Use of insulin glargine and cancer incidence in Scotland: a study from the Scottish Diabetes Research Network Epidemiology Group. Diabetologia. 2009 Sep;52(9):1755–65.
- 146. Livingstone SJ, Looker HC, Hothersall EJ, Wild SH, Lindsay RS, Chalmers J, et al. Risk of cardiovascular disease and total mortality in adults with type 1 diabetes: Scottish registry linkage study. PLoS Med. 2012;9(10):e1001321.
- 147. Frayling TM, Timpson NJ, Weedon MN, Zeggini E, Freathy RM, Lindgren CM, et al. A common variant in the FTO gene is associated with body mass index and predisposes to childhood and adult obesity. Science. 2007 May 11;316(5826):889–94.
- 148. Doney ASF, Lee S, Leese GP, Morris AD, Palmer CNA. Increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in type 2 diabetes is associated with the glutathione S transferase theta-null genotype: a Go-DARTS study. Circulation. 2005 Jun 7;111(22):2927–34.
- 149. Doney ASF, Dannfald J, Kimber CH, Donnelly LA, Pearson E, Morris AD, et al. The FTO gene is associated with an atherogenic lipid profile and myocardial infarction in patients with type 2 diabetes: a Genetics of Diabetes Audit and Research Study in Tayside Scotland (Go-DARTS) study. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2009 Jun;2(3):255–9.
- 150. Doney ASF, Fischer B, Leese G, Morris AD, Palmer CNA. Cardiovascular risk in type 2 diabetes is associated with variation at the PPARG locus: a Go-DARTS study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2004 Dec;24(12):2403–7.
- 151. Elder DHJ, Wei L, Szwejkowski BR, Libianto R, Nadir A, Pauriah M, et al. The impact of reninangiotensin-aldosterone system blockade on heart failure outcomes and mortality in patients identified to have aortic regurgitation: a large population cohort study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011 Nov 8;58(20):2084–91.
- 152. Szwejkowski BR, Elder DHJ, Shearer F, Jack D, Choy AMJ, Pringle SD, et al. Pulmonary hypertension predicts all-cause mortality in patients with heart failure: a retrospective cohort study. Eur J Heart Fail. 2012 Feb;14(2):162–7.
- 153. Nadir MA, Wei L, Elder DHJ, Libianto R, Lim TK, Pauriah M, et al. Impact of renin-angiotensin system blockade therapy on outcome in aortic stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011 Aug 2;58(6):570–6.
- 154. Kosanke EBJ. gmatch. 2004.
- 155. Devereux RB, Alonso DR, Lutas EM, Gottlieb GJ, Campo E, Sachs I, et al. Echocardiographic assessment of left ventricular hypertrophy: comparison to necropsy findings. Am J Cardiol. 1986 Feb 15;57(6):450–8.
- 156. Devereux RB, Reichek N. Echocardiographic determination of left ventricular mass in man. Anatomic validation of the method. Circulation. 1977 Apr;55(4):613–8.

- 157. Ruggieri G, Rocca AR. Analysis of past and present methods of measuring and estimating body surface area and the resulting evaluation of its doubtful suitability to universal application. Blood Purif. 2010;30(4):296–305.
- 158. Foppa M, Duncan BB, Rohde LEP. Echocardiography-based left ventricular mass estimation. How should we define hypertrophy? Cardiovasc Ultrasound. 2005;3:17.
- 159. Lind M, Odén A, Fahlén M, Eliasson B. The true value of HbA1c as a predictor of diabetic complications: simulations of HbA1c variables. PloS One. 2009;4(2):e4412.
- 160. Lind, Oden, Fahlen, Eliasson. A systematic review of HbA1c variables used in the study of diabetic complications. Diabetes Metab Syndr Clin Res Rev. 2008;2(4):282–93.
- 161. Nichols GA, Joshua-Gotlib S, Parasuraman S. Independent contribution of A1C, systolic blood pressure, and LDL cholesterol control to risk of cardiovascular disease hospitalizations in type 2 diabetes: an observational cohort study. J Gen Intern Med. 2013 May;28(5):691–7.
- 162. Penno G, Solini A, Bonora E, Fondelli C, Orsi E, Zerbini G, et al. HbA1c variability as an independent correlate of nephropathy, but not retinopathy, in patients with type 2 diabetes: the Renal Insufficiency And Cardiovascular Events (RIACE) Italian multicenter study. Diabetes Care. 2013 Aug;36(8):2301–10.
- 163. Gentleman R. R: A language for data analysis and graphics. J Comput Graph Stat. 1996;5(3):299–314.
- 164. Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium. Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature. 2007 Jun 7;447(7145):661–78.
- 165. Evans DM, Spencer CCA, Pointon JJ, Su Z, Harvey D, Kochan G, et al. Interaction between ERAP1 and HLA-B27 in ankylosing spondylitis implicates peptide handling in the mechanism for HLA-B27 in disease susceptibility. Nat Genet. 2011 Aug;43(8):761–7.
- 166. International Multiple Sclerosis Genetics Consortium, Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2, Sawcer S, Hellenthal G, Pirinen M, Spencer CCA, et al. Genetic risk and a primary role for cell-mediated immune mechanisms in multiple sclerosis. Nature. 2011 Aug 11;476(7359):214–9.
- 167. Barrett JC, Clayton DG, Concannon P, Akolkar B, Cooper JD, Erlich HA, et al. Genome-wide association study and meta-analysis find that over 40 loci affect risk of type 1 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2009 Jun;41(6):703–7.
- 168. GoDARTS and UKPDS Diabetes Pharmacogenetics Study Group, Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2, Zhou K, Bellenguez C, Spencer CCA, Bennett AJ, et al. Common variants near ATM are associated with glycemic response to metformin in type 2 diabetes. Nat Genet. 2011 Feb;43(2):117–20.
- 169. Genetic Analysis of Psoriasis Consortium & the Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2, Strange A, Capon F, Spencer CCA, Knight J, Weale ME, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies new psoriasis susceptibility loci and an interaction between HLA-C and ERAP1. Nat Genet. 2010 Nov;42(11):985–90.

- 170. Purcell S, Neale B, Todd-Brown K, Thomas L, Ferreira MAR, Bender D, et al. PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. Am J Hum Genet. 2007 Sep;81(3):559–75.
- 171. Marchini J, Howie B, Myers S, McVean G, Donnelly P. A new multipoint method for genomewide association studies by imputation of genotypes. Nat Genet. 2007 Jul;39(7):906–13.
- 172. Delaneau O, Coulonges C, Zagury J-F. Shape-IT: new rapid and accurate algorithm for haplotype inference. BMC Bioinformatics. 2008;9:540.
- 173. Howie BN, Donnelly P, Marchini J. A flexible and accurate genotype imputation method for the next generation of genome-wide association studies. PLoS Genet. 2009 Jun;5(6):e1000529.
- 174. de Bakker PIW, Ferreira MAR, Jia X, Neale BM, Raychaudhuri S, Voight BF. Practical aspects of imputation-driven meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies. Hum Mol Genet. 2008 Oct 15;17(R2):R122–8.
- 175. Stewart S, MacIntyre K, Capewell S, McMurray JJV. Heart failure and the aging population: an increasing burden in the 21st century? Heart Br Card Soc. 2003 Jan;89(1):49–53.
- 176. Dawson A, Morris AD, Struthers AD. The epidemiology of left ventricular hypertrophy in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetologia. 2005 Oct;48(10):1971–9.
- 177. Liao Y, Cooper RS, McGee DL, Mensah GA, Ghali JK. The relative effects of left ventricular hypertrophy, coronary artery disease, and ventricular dysfunction on survival among black adults. JAMA. 1995 May 24;273(20):1592–7.
- 178. Currie CJ, Peters JR, Tynan A, Evans M, Heine RJ, Bracco OL, et al. Survival as a function of HbA(1c) in people with type 2 diabetes: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Lond Engl. 2010 Feb 6;375(9713):481–9.
- 179. Jankovic D, Winhofer Y, Promintzer-Schifferl M, Wohlschläger-Krenn E, Anderwald CH, Wolf P, et al. Effects of insulin therapy on myocardial lipid content and cardiac geometry in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus. PloS One. 2012;7(12):e50077.
- 180. Lee T-M, Lin M-S, Tsai C-H, Huang C-L, Chang N-C. Effects of sulfonylureas on left ventricular mass in type 2 diabetic patients. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007 Jan;292(1):H608–13.
- 181. St John Sutton M, Rendell M, Dandona P, Dole JF, Murphy K, Patwardhan R, et al. A comparison of the effects of rosiglitazone and glyburide on cardiovascular function and glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2002 Nov;25(11):2058–64.
- 182. Fu Y, Xiao H, Ma X, Jiang S, Xu M, Zhang Y. Metformin attenuates pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy via AMPK activation. Acta Pharmacol Sin. 2011 Jul;32(7):879–87.
- 183. Tanenberg RJ, Newton CA, Drake AJ. Confirmation of hypoglycemia in the "dead-in-bed" syndrome, as captured by a retrospective continuous glucose monitoring system. Endocr Pract Off J Am Coll Endocrinol Am Assoc Clin Endocrinol. 2010 Apr;16(2):244–8.
- 184. Frier BM, Schernthaner G, Heller SR. Hypoglycemia and cardiovascular risks. Diabetes Care. 2011 May;34 Suppl 2:S132–7.

- 185. Johnston SS, Conner C, Aagren M, Smith DM, Bouchard J, Brett J. Evidence linking hypoglycemic events to an increased risk of acute cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011 May;34(5):1164–70.
- 186. Sommerfield AJ, Wilkinson IB, Webb DJ, Frier BM. Vessel wall stiffness in type 1 diabetes and the central hemodynamic effects of acute hypoglycemia. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2007 Nov;293(5):E1274–9.
- 187. Hart BJ, Bian X, Mallet RT, Downey HF. Hyperlipidemia with hypoglycemia reduces myocardial oxygen utilization efficiency but not contractile function during coronary hypoperfusion. J Mol Cell Cardiol. 2000 Aug;32(8):1539–52.
- 188. Giménez M, Gilabert R, Monteagudo J, Alonso A, Casamitjana R, Paré C, et al. Repeated episodes of hypoglycemia as a potential aggravating factor for preclinical atherosclerosis in subjects with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2011 Jan;34(1):198–203.
- 189. Jeffcoate SL. Diabetes control and complications: the role of glycated haemoglobin, 25 years on. Diabet Med J Br Diabet Assoc. 2004 Jul;21(7):657–65.
- 190. Monnier L, Lapinski H, Colette C. Contributions of fasting and postprandial plasma glucose increments to the overall diurnal hyperglycemia of type 2 diabetic patients: variations with increasing levels of HbA(1c). Diabetes Care. 2003 Mar;26(3):881–5.
- 191. Kilpatrick ES. Arguments for and against the role of glucose variability in the development of diabetes complications. J Diabetes Sci Technol. 2009 Jul;3(4):649–55.
- 192. Di Flaviani A, Picconi F, Di Stefano P, Giordani I, Malandrucco I, Maggio P, et al. Impact of glycemic and blood pressure variability on surrogate measures of cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 2011 Jul;34(7):1605–9.
- 193. Hainer V, Aldhoon-Hainerová I. Obesity paradox does exist. Diabetes Care. 2013 Aug;36 Suppl 2:S276–81.
- 194. Gruberg L, Weissman NJ, Waksman R, Fuchs S, Deible R, Pinnow EE, et al. The impact of obesity on the short-term and long-term outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention: the obesity paradox? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2002 Feb 20;39(4):578–84.
- 195. Wannamethee G, Shaper AG. Body weight and mortality in middle aged British men: impact of smoking. BMJ. 1989 Dec 16;299(6714):1497–502.
- 196. Springer J, Tschirner A, Haghikia A, von Haehling S, Lal H, Grzesiak A, et al. Prevention of liver cancer cachexia-induced cardiac wasting and heart failure. Eur Heart J. 2014 Apr;35(14):932–41.
- 197. Martín-Merino E, Johansson S, Morris T, García Rodríguez LA. Androgen deprivation therapy and the risk of coronary heart disease and heart failure in patients with prostate cancer: a nested case-control study in UK primary care. Drug Saf. 2011 Nov 1;34(11):1061–77.
- 198. Piotrowski G, Gawor R, Stasiak A, Gawor Z, Potemski P, Banach M. Cardiac complications associated with trastuzumab in the setting of adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer overexpressing human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 - a prospective study. Arch Med Sci AMS. 2012 May 9;8(2):227–35.

- 199. Monsuez J-J, Charniot J-C, Vignat N, Artigou J-Y. Cardiac side-effects of cancer chemotherapy. Int J Cardiol. 2010 Sep 24;144(1):3–15.
- 200. Cabanac M, Frankham P. Evidence that transient nicotine lowers the body weight set point. Physiol Behav. 2002 Aug;76(4-5):539–42.
- 201. Perkins KA. Weight gain following smoking cessation. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1993 Oct;61(5):768–77.
- 202. Lee S-S, Seo J-S, Kim S-R, Jeong J-E, Nam B-W, Lee J-Y, et al. The changes of blood glucose control and lipid profiles after short-term smoking cessation in healthy males. Psychiatry Investig. 2011 Jun;8(2):149–54.
- 203. Stenström U, Andersson P. Smoking, blood glucose control, and locus of control beliefs in people with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2000 Oct;50(2):103–7.
- 204. Jansen H, Stolk RP, Nolte IM, Kema IP, Wolffenbuttel BHR, Snieder H. Determinants of HbA1c in nondiabetic Dutch adults: genetic loci and clinical and lifestyle parameters, and their interactions in the Lifelines Cohort Study. J Intern Med. 2013 Mar;273(3):283–93.
- 205. Bornemisza P, Suciu I. Effect of cigarette smoking on the blood glucose level in normals and diabetics. Médecine Interne. 1980 Dec;18(4):353–6.
- 206. Bulbul A, Bolat F, Comert S, Demirin H, Tanik C, Bulbul L, et al. Persistent hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia with left ventricular hypertrophy and dysrhythmia: a case report. Fetal Pediatr Pathol. 2010;29(3):165–71.
- 207. Banerjee I, Avatapalle B, Petkar A, Skae M, Padidela R, Ehtisham S, et al. The association of cardiac ventricular hypertrophy with congenital hyperinsulinism. Eur J Endocrinol Eur Fed Endocr Soc. 2012 Nov;167(5):619–24.
- 208. Donohue TJ, Dworkin LD, Ma J, Lango MN, Catanese VM. Antihypertensive agents that limit ventricular hypertrophy inhibit cardiac expression of insulin-like growth factor-I. J Investig Med Off Publ Am Fed Clin Res. 1997 Dec;45(9):584–91.
- 209. Koro CE, Bowlin SJ, Weiss SR. Antidiabetic therapy and the risk of heart failure in type 2 diabetic patients: an independent effect or confounding by indication. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf. 2005 Oct;14(10):697–703.
- 210. Cohn JN, Johnson G, Ziesche S, Cobb F, Francis G, Tristani F, et al. A comparison of enalapril with hydralazine-isosorbide dinitrate in the treatment of chronic congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med. 1991 Aug 1;325(5):303–10.
- 211. Levy D, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Kannel WB, Ho KK. The progression from hypertension to congestive heart failure. JAMA. 1996 May 22;275(20):1557–62.
- 212. Haider AW, Larson MG, Franklin SS, Levy D, Framingham Heart Study. Systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and pulse pressure as predictors of risk for congestive heart failure in the Framingham Heart Study. Ann Intern Med. 2003 Jan 7;138(1):10–6.
- Adler AI, Stratton IM, Neil HA, Yudkin JS, Matthews DR, Cull CA, et al. Association of systolic blood pressure with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 36): prospective observational study. BMJ. 2000 Aug 12;321(7258):412–9.

- 214. Alpert MA HM. Obesity and the heart. Am J Med Sci. 1993;306(2):117–23.
- 215. Chen C-H, Ting C-T, Lin S-J, Hsu T-L, Ho S-J, Chou P. Which Arterial and Cardiac Parameters Best Predict Left Ventricular Mass? Circulation. 1998;98(5):422–8.
- 216. Blanchet Deverly A, Kangambega P, Hue K, Donnet JP, Merault H,, Foucan L. Left ventricular hypertrophy in hypertensive type 2 diabetic patients according to renal function. Diabetes Metab. 2009;35(4):280–6.
- 217. Sarnak MJ, Levey AS, Schoolwerth AC, Coresh J, Culleton B, Hamm LL. Kidney disease as a risk factor for development of cardiovascular disease: a statement from the American Heart Association Councils on Kidney in Cardiovascular Disease, High Blood Pressure Research, Clinical Cardiology, and Epidemiology and Prevention. Circulation. 2003;108(17):2154–69.
- 218. Hsu CC, Chang HY, Huang MC, Hwang SJ, Yang YC, Lee YS. HbA1c variability is associated with microalbuminuria development in type 2 diabetes: a 7-year prospective cohort study. Diabetologia. 2012;55(12):3163–72.
- 219. Nathan DM. Long-term complications of diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med. 1993;328(23):1676–85.
- 220. Klein BK, Klein R, McBride PE. Cardiovascular disease, mortality, and retinal microvascular characteristics in type 1 diabetes: Wisconsin epidemiologic study of diabetic retinopathy. Arch Intern Med. 2004;164(17):1917–24.
- 221. Forrest KYZ, Becker DJ, Kuller LH, Wolfson SK, Orchard TJ. Are predictors of coronary heart disease and lower-extremity arterial disease in type 1 diabetes the same? Atherosclerosis. 2000;148(1):159–69.
- 222. Avogaro A, Giorda C, Maggini M, Mannucci E, Raschetti R, Lombardo F. Incidence of coronary heart disease in type 2 diabetic men and women: impact of microvascular complications, treatment, and geographic location. Diabetes Care. 2007;30(5):1241–7.
- Selvin E, Marinopoulos S, Berkenblit G, Rami T, Brancati FL. Meta-Analysis: Glycosylated Hemoglobin and Cardiovascular Disease in Diabetes Mellitus. Ann Intern Med. 2004;141(6):421– 31.
- 224. Kannel, Gordon T, Castelli, Margolis JR. Electrocardiographic left ventricular hypertrophy and risk of coronary heart disease. The Framingham study. Ann Intern Med. 1970;72(6):813–22.
- 225. Barbieri A, Bursi F, Mantovani F, Valenti C, Quaglia M, Berti E, et al. Left ventricular hypertrophy reclassification and death: application of the Recommendation of the American Society of Echocardiography/European Association of Echocardiography. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2012 Jan;13(1):109–17.
- 226. Hughes M, Lip GYH, Guideline Development Group, National Clinical Guideline for Management of Atrial Fibrillation in Primary and Secondary Care, National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. Stroke and thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: a systematic review of stroke risk factors, risk stratification schema and cost effectiveness data. Thromb Haemost. 2008 Feb;99(2):295–304.

- 227. Struthers AD, Davies J. Should we add screening for and treating left ventricular hypertrophy to the management of all patients needing secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease? QJM Mon J Assoc Physicians. 2003 Jun;96(6):449–52.
- 228. Dawson A, Rana BS, Pringle SD, Donnelly LA, Morris AD, Struthers AD. How much echo left ventricular hypertrophy would be missed in diabetics by applying the Losartan Intervention For Endpoint Reduction electrocardiogram criteria to select patients for angiotensin receptor blockade? J Hypertens. 2004 Jul;22(7):1403–8.
- 229. Gaddam K, Corros C, Pimenta E, Ahmed M, Denney T, Aban I, et al. Rapid reversal of left ventricular hypertrophy and intracardiac volume overload in patients with resistant hypertension and hyperaldosteronism: a prospective clinical study. Hypertension. 2010 May;55(5):1137–42.
- 230. Verdecchia P, Angeli F. Reversal of left ventricular hypertrophy: what have recent trials taught us? Am J Cardiovasc Drugs Drugs Devices Interv. 2004;4(6):369–78.
- 231. De Rosa ML, Giordano A, Guardia D Della, Maddaluno G, Lionetti F, Marsicani N, et al. Reversal of left ventricular hypertrophy following once daily administration of felodipine for two years to elderly subjects with isolated systolic hypertension. Cardiology. 1999;92(1):39–44.
- 232. Dahlöf B. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and effects on left ventricular hypertrophy. Blood Pressure Supplement. 1994;2:35–40.
- 233. Rekhraj S, Gandy SJ, Szwejkowski BR, Nadir MA, Noman A, Houston JG, et al. High-dose allopurinol reduces left ventricular mass in patients with ischemic heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013 Mar 5;61(9):926–32.
- 234. Szwejkowski BR, Gandy SJ, Rekhraj S, Houston JG, Lang CC, Morris AD, et al. Allopurinol reduces left ventricular mass in patients with type 2 diabetes and left ventricular hypertrophy. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013 Dec 17;62(24):2284–93.
- 235. Sundström J, Lind L, Arnlöv J, Zethelius B, Andrén B, Lithell HO. Echocardiographic and electrocardiographic diagnoses of left ventricular hypertrophy predict mortality independently of each other in a population of elderly men. Circulation. 2001 May 15;103(19):2346–51.
- 236. Palmieri V, Okin PM, de Simone G, Bella JN, Wachtell K, Gerdts E, et al. Electrocardiographic characteristics and metabolic risk factors associated with inappropriately high left ventricular mass in patients with electrocardiographic left ventricular hypertrophy: the LIFE Study. J Hypertens. 2007 May;25(5):1079–85.
- 237. Estacio RO, Jeffers BW, Havranek EP, Krick D, Raynolds M, Schrier RW. Deletion polymorphism of the angiotensin converting enzyme gene is associated with an increase in left ventricular mass in men with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Hypertens. 1999 Jun;12(6):637–42.
- 238. Hakalahti AE, Tapanainen JM, Junttila JM, Kaikkonen KS, Huikuri HV, Petäjä-Repo UE. Association of the beta-1 adrenergic receptor carboxyl terminal variants with left ventricular hypertrophy among diabetic and non-diabetic survivors of acute myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2010;9:42.
- 239. Voight BF, Scott LJ, Steinthorsdottir V, Morris AP, Dina C, Welch RP, et al. Twelve type 2 diabetes susceptibility loci identified through large-scale association analysis. Nat Genet. 2010 Jul;42(7):579–89.

- 240. Povel CM, Boer JMA, Onland-Moret NC, Dollé MET, Feskens EJM, van der Schouw YT. Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) involved in insulin resistance, weight regulation, lipid metabolism and inflammation in relation to metabolic syndrome: an epidemiological study. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2012;11:133.
- 241. Yin R-X, Wu D-F, Miao L, Aung LHH, Cao X-L, Yan T-T, et al. Several genetic polymorphisms interact with overweight/obesity to influence serum lipid levels. Cardiovasc Diabetol. 2012;11:123.
- 242. Haitina T, Lindblom J, Renström T, Fredriksson R. Fourteen novel human members of mitochondrial solute carrier family 25 (SLC25) widely expressed in the central nervous system. Genomics. 2006 Dec;88(6):779–90.
- 243. Sherry ST, Ward MH, Kholodov M, Baker J, Phan L, Smigielski EM, et al. dbSNP: the NCBI database of genetic variation. Nucleic Acids Res. 2001 Jan 1;29(1):308–11.
- 244. Oeffner F, Bornholdt D, Ziegler A, Hinney A, Görg T, Gerber G, et al. Significant association between a silent polymorphism in the neuromedin B gene and body weight in German children and adolescents. Acta Diabetol. 2000;37(2):93–101.
- 245. Rosenbloom KR, Sloan CA, Malladi VS, Dreszer TR, Learned K, Kirkup VM, et al. ENCODE data in the UCSC Genome Browser: year 5 update. Nucleic Acids Res. 2013 Jan;41(Database issue):D56–63.
- 246. Karlowatz R-J, Scharhag J, Rahnenführer J, Schneider U, Jakob E, Kindermann W, et al. Polymorphisms in the IGF1 signalling pathway including the myostatin gene are associated with left ventricular mass in male athletes. Br J Sports Med. 2011 Jan;45(1):36–41.
- 247. An P, Miljkovic I, Thyagarajan B, Kraja AT, Daw EW, Pankow JS, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies common loci influencing circulating glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) levels in non-diabetic subjects: the Long Life Family Study (LLFS). Metabolism. 2014 Apr;63(4):461–8.
- 248. Renström F, Shungin D, Johansson I, MAGIC Investigators, Florez JC, Hallmans G, et al. Genetic predisposition to long-term nondiabetic deteriorations in glucose homeostasis: Ten-year follow-up of the GLACIER study. Diabetes. 2011 Jan;60(1):345–54.
- 249. Kelliny C, Ekelund U, Andersen LB, Brage S, Loos RJF, Wareham NJ, et al. Common genetic determinants of glucose homeostasis in healthy children: the European Youth Heart Study. Diabetes. 2009 Dec;58(12):2939–45.
- 250. Benn M, Tybjaerg-Hansen A, McCarthy MI, Jensen GB, Grande P, Nordestgaard BG. Nonfasting glucose, ischemic heart disease, and myocardial infarction: a Mendelian randomization study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012 Jun 19;59(25):2356–65.
- 251. Kent WJ, Sugnet CW, Furey TS, Roskin KM, Pringle TH, Zahler AM, et al. The human genome browser at UCSC. Genome Res. 2002 Jun;12(6):996–1006.
- 252. Magida JA, Leinwand LA. Metabolic crosstalk between the heart and liver impacts familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. EMBO Mol Med. 2014 Apr;6(4):482–95.
- 253. Kato T, Niizuma S, Inuzuka Y, Kawashima T, Okuda J, Kawamoto A, et al. Analysis of liver metabolism in a rat model of heart failure. Int J Cardiol. 2012 Nov 29;161(3):130–6.
- 254. Tenenbaum A, Fisman EZ. Impaired glucose metabolism in patients with heart failure: pathophysiology and possible treatment strategies. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs Drugs Devices Interv. 2004;4(5):269–80.
- 255. Fujita H, Hara K, Shojima N, Horikoshi M, Iwata M, Hirota Y, et al. Variations with modest effects have an important role in the genetic background of type 2 diabetes and diabetes-related traits. J Hum Genet. 2012 Dec;57(12):776–9.
- Rosengren AH, Jokubka R, Tojjar D, Granhall C, Hansson O, Li D-Q, et al. Overexpression of alpha2A-adrenergic receptors contributes to type 2 diabetes. Science. 2010 Jan 8;327(5962):217–20.
- 257. Rosengren AH, Braun M, Mahdi T, Andersson SA, Travers ME, Shigeto M, et al. Reduced insulin exocytosis in human pancreatic β-cells with gene variants linked to type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2012 Jul;61(7):1726–33.
- 258. Talmud PJ, Cooper JA, Gaunt T, Holmes MV, Shah S, Palmen J, et al. Variants of ADRA2A are associated with fasting glucose, blood pressure, body mass index and type 2 diabetes risk: meta-analysis of four prospective studies. Diabetologia. 2011 Jul;54(7):1710–9.
- 259. Garenc C, Pérusse L, Chagnon YC, Rankinen T, Gagnon J, Borecki IB, et al. The alpha 2adrenergic receptor gene and body fat content and distribution: the HERITAGE Family Study. Mol Med Camb Mass. 2002 Feb;8(2):88–94.
- 260. Prestes AP, Marques FZC, Hutz MH, Roman T, Bau CHD. Tobacco smoking and the ADRA2A C-1291G polymorphism. J Neural Transm Vienna Austria 1996. 2007;114(11):1503–6.
- 261. Wagner R, Dudziak K, Herzberg-Schäfer SA, Machicao F, Stefan N, Staiger H, et al. Glucoseraising genetic variants in MADD and ADCY5 impair conversion of proinsulin to insulin. PloS One. 2011;6(8):e23639.
- 262. Hu C, Zhang R, Wang C, Wang J, Ma X, Hou X, et al. Variants from GIPR, TCF7L2, DGKB, MADD, CRY2, GLIS3, PROX1, SLC30A8 and IGF1 are associated with glucose metabolism in the Chinese. PloS One. 2010;5(11):e15542.
- 263. Li L, Wang Y, Carr R, Haddad CS, Li Z, Qian L, et al. IG20/MADD plays a critical role in glucoseinduced insulin secretion. Diabetes. 2014 May;63(5):1612–23.
- 264. Kurada BRVVSN, Li LC, Mulherkar N, Subramanian M, Prasad KV, Prabhakar BS. MADD, a splice variant of IG20, is indispensable for MAPK activation and protection against apoptosis upon tumor necrosis factor-alpha treatment. J Biol Chem. 2009 May 15;284(20):13533–41.
- 265. Efimova E, Martinez O, Lokshin A, Arima T, Prabhakar BS. IG20, a MADD splice variant, increases cell susceptibility to gamma-irradiation and induces soluble mediators that suppress tumor cell growth. Cancer Res. 2003 Dec 15;63(24):8768–76.
- 266. Efimova EV, Al-Zoubi AM, Martinez O, Kaithamana S, Lu S, Arima T, et al. IG20, in contrast to DENN-SV, (MADD splice variants) suppresses tumor cell survival, and enhances their susceptibility to apoptosis and cancer drugs. Oncogene. 2004 Feb 5;23(5):1076–87.
- 267. Kaur K, Sharma AK, Singal PK. Significance of changes in TNF-alpha and IL-10 levels in the progression of heart failure subsequent to myocardial infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006 Jul;291(1):H106–13.

- 268. Rivera M, Taléns-Visconti R, Sirera R, Bertomeu V, Salvador A, Cortés R, et al. Soluble TNFalpha and interleukin-6 receptors in the urine of heart failure patients. Their clinical value and relationship with plasma levels. Eur J Heart Fail. 2004 Dec;6(7):877–82.
- 269. Bozkurt B, Kribbs SB, Clubb FJ, Michael LH, Didenko VV, Hornsby PJ, et al. Pathophysiologically relevant concentrations of tumor necrosis factor-alpha promote progressive left ventricular dysfunction and remodeling in rats. Circulation. 1998 Apr 14;97(14):1382–91.
- 270. Kroetsch JT, Bolz S-S. The TNF-α/sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling axis drives myogenic responsiveness in heart failure. J Vasc Res. 2013;50(3):177–85.
- 271. Moe GW, Marin-Garcia J, Konig A, Goldenthal M, Lu X, Feng Q. In vivo TNF-alpha inhibition ameliorates cardiac mitochondrial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and apoptosis in experimental heart failure. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2004 Oct;287(4):H1813–20.
- 272. Moe GW, Naik G, Konig A, Lu X, Feng Q. Early and persistent activation of myocardial apoptosis, bax and caspases: insights into mechanisms of progression of heart failure. Pathophysiol Off J Int Soc Pathophysiol ISP. 2002 Jun;8(3):183–92.
- 273. Wencker D, Chandra M, Nguyen K, Miao W, Garantziotis S, Factor SM, et al. A mechanistic role for cardiac myocyte apoptosis in heart failure. J Clin Invest. 2003 May;111(10):1497–504.
- 274. Consoli C, Gatta L, Iellamo F, Molinari F, Rosano GMC, Marlier LNJL. Severity of left ventricular dysfunction in heart failure patients affects the degree of serum-induced cardiomyocyte apoptosis. Importance of inflammatory response and metabolism. Int J Cardiol. 2013 Sep 10;167(6):2859–66.
- 275. Gopal DM, Kalogeropoulos AP, Georgiopoulou VV, Smith AL, Bauer DC, Newman AB, et al. Cigarette smoking exposure and heart failure risk in older adults: the Health, Aging, and Body Composition Study. Am Heart J. 2012 Aug;164(2):236–42.
- 276. Payne JR, Eleftheriou KI, James LE, Hawe E, Mann J, Stronge A, et al. Left ventricular growth response to exercise and cigarette smoking: data from LARGE Heart. Heart Br Card Soc. 2006 Dec;92(12):1784–8.
- 277. Grogan M, Smith HC, Gersh BJ, Wood DL. Left ventricular dysfunction due to atrial fibrillation in patients initially believed to have idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol. 1992 Jun 15;69(19):1570–3.